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I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Sidney Potts, the appellant below, asks the Court tore-

view the decision of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section I. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Sidney Potts seeks review of the Court of Appeals unpublished 

Opinion entered on July 6, 2016, and the Order Denying Reconsideration 

entered on August 5, 2016. A copy of the Opinion is attached. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

ISSUE 1: Must appellate courts apply a de novo standard to any dis­
cretionary decision alleged to violate a constitutional right? 
ISSUE 2: Did the trial court violate Mr. Potts's double jeopardy rights 
by declaring a mistrial and discharging the first jury over Mr. Potts' 
objection? 
ISSUE 3: Did the Court of Appeals misapply the "same evidence" test 
to Mr. Potts's convictions for leading organized crime and the underly­
ing predicate drug offenses? 
ISSUE 4: Did the government violate Mr. Potts's constitutional right 
to confer privately with counsel by intercepting, recording, and repeat­
edly eavesdropping on his attorney-client phone calls? 
ISSUE 5: Did the Court of Appeals apply the wrong legal standard 
when it found that Mr. Potts waived his right to confer privately with 
his attorneys? 
ISSUE 6: Did the state present insufficient evidence to convict Mr. 
Potts of leading organized crime? 
ISSUE 7: Did the Court of Appeals apply the wrong legal standard 
when it upheld the trial court's instructions, which did not make mani­
festly clear that Mr. Potts couldn't be convicted of leading organized 
crime as an accomplice? 
ISSUE 8: Did the prosecutor commit reversible misconduct by telling 
jurors (over defense objection) that their verdict could rest on specula­
tion? 



ISSUE 9: Is the "major violation" aggravating factor applicable only 
to violations of the uniform controlled substances act, Chapter 69.50 
RCW? 
ISSUE 10: Were Mr. Potts's convictions based in part on wire record­
ings obtained in violation of the Privacy Act? 
ISSUE 11: Did the trial court violate Mr. Potts's right to a speedy trial 
by holding him in custody for nine months without an "actual ar­
raignment"? 
ISSUE 12: Did the trial court err by failing to order suppression of all 
evidence unlawfully seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment and 
Wash. Const. art. I, §7? 
ISSUE 13: Should the Supreme Court accept review of additional is­
sues raised by Mr. Potts in his Statement of Additional Grounds? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 1 

A. Statement of Facts 

Joseph Helsle/ sold and used methamphetamine. Cowlitz County 

police targeted him, purchasing from him three times, all in school zones. 

RP 1983, 2075,2251-2252, 2274. Upon arrest, Helsley wanted to work 

with law enforcement so that he would not face charges. RP 1983, 2074. 

He offered to complete buys from Sidney Potts. RP 1984, 2254. Detective 

Rocky Epperson and Helsley agreed to a contract. RP 2077. 

The deal included several requirements, including that Helsley 

could not buy or sell methamphetamine, except the purchases he complet-

ed for the police. RP 1985. Helsley also agreed to not use drugs, to tell the 

truth, and to submit to urinalysis tests and searches. RP 1985, 1987. In ex-

1 Additional facts related to specific issues arc within their respective sections in Argument. 

2 This name is spelled many different ways in the trial court record; this brief uses the 
spelling from the Third Amended lnfonnation. CP 876-879. 

2 



change for three buys from Mr. Potts, Helsley would not be charged for 

any of his methamphetamine sales. RP 1985, 2253. Helsley used metham-

phetamine the entire time he worked with police, but they never gave him 

a urinalysis test. 3 RP 1987-1989, 2275. 

Epperson and Helsley tried unsuccessfully to set up a buy for July 

17, 20 I 2. RP 1990. On that day, Epperson listened to Helsley's attempts to 

arrange a buy by telephone, and the calls were recorded. RP I990-I99I; 

CP 668-67I. The next day, more calls were made and recorded, and a deal 

took place. RP I992-20 II. Epperson wired Helsley to record the transac-

tion itself, but the system malfunctioned. RP 20 I2. 

Helsley and Epperson set up another buy on July 24, 2012. RP 

2030-2037. A third buy was arranged and took place on July 31,2012. RP 

2080. For both of these buys, the calls and transaction were recorded. RP 

2030-2037, 2044-2048, 2054-2058. 

After this buy, Helsley met Angelita Llanes and purchased meth-

amphetamine from her. RP 2086. He did not do this as part of his work for 

police, and he kept this side deal from police. Helsley then sold the drugs 

he bought from Llanes. He failed to share this with police either. RP 2086-

2092, 2166. Llanes told Helsley that Mr. Potts was getting out of the busi-

3 As detailed below, he kept buying and selling methamphetamine as well. RP 2086-2092, 
2166. 
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ness and that Helsley should deal with her from now on. RP 2164-2166. 

Police arrested Mr. Potts on August I 0, 2012. RP 2081. Later that 

day, a buy took place between Helsley and Llanes. RP 2081-2085. Helsley 

set up the buy, and it was recorded. RP 2061-2067. 

As part of their investigation after the buys occurred, the police 

sought several search warrants. One of the requested warrants was related 

to a bank account held in Mr. Potts's name at Red Canoe bank. CP 58-69. 

The officer used a "special inquiry" procedure to obtain the information. 

The presiding judge was Judge Bashor, the county's designated special 

inquiry judge. RP 586. The warrant was authorized, and the accounts were 

seized, along with all of their accompanying records. CP 65-69. 

Epperson also sought warrants to search three buildings associated 

with Mr. Potts, all in Longview. CP 22-27. The issuing court signed one 

warrant. The judge found probable cause only for the search of the Oregon 

Way location. CP 30, 36, 46; RP 190. The warrant directed police to 

search the Oregon Way property. It did not direct police to search the oth­

er properties. CP 30, 36, 46; RP 190. 

B. Prior Proceedings 

The state charged Mr. Potts on August 15, 2012 with leading orga­

nized crime, two counts of delivery in a school zone, two additional counts 

of delivery, and possession with intent. All carried the aggravating factor 

4 



allegation that they were major violations ofthe Uniform Controlled Sub-

stances Act. CP 1-4.4 

On August 28, 2012, the court held a hearing, which the clerk Ia-

beled "Arraignment." Judge Bashor, who had signed the special inquiry 

warrant, presided. RP 7-8. 

While Mr. Potts was in jail, the state notified him that his calls to 

his attorney had been recorded by the jail and reviewed by police. 5 RP 56-

62. At defense request, the court appointed a special prosecutor to investi-

gate the issue. RP 63-67; CP 79-82. Mr. Potts objected and moved to dis-

miss which was denied. CP 105-113, 433. 

The defense moved to suppress the fruits of the searches of the 

three buildings.6 CP 5-50. Mr. Potts's attorney argued that the affidavit in 

support of the search warrant request did not link the allegations to the lo-

4 A charge of Money Laundering was also filed as well, but later dismissed on the motion of 
the state. CP 1-4. 

5 The retained defense attorney withdrew on October 11, 2012. Mr. Potts agreed to the 
withdrawal, but noted that he did not wish to waive his right to a speedy trial. RP 41. The 
court appointed another attorney, who quickly withdrew due to a contlict. RP 44-45, 50. 

6 Mr. Potts also filed a motion to suppress bank records, arguing that the special inquiry 
procedures were not followed and that the search lacked probable cause. RP 484-495. The 
state responded that they would not otTer any evidence from the bank records. RP 221-222, 
491. The trial judge ruled that the items seized as part of the Red Canoe bank account must 
be returned, and that they should also be suppressed. RP 496-498. 

Mr. Potts tiled multiple motions for return of property seized by police during their searches 
of the three locations as well as regarding the bank accounts. RP 462-482; CP 438-444, 558-
565, 636-649, 1558-1564, Motion tor Return of Property, Supp CP. The prosecutor otTercd 
to stipulate that the occupant of the house, Ms. Horner, did not receive a copy ofthc warrant 
trom the otliccrs during the search. RP 423-425. 
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cations to be searched. RP 79, 109-1 10; CP 5-20. 

The court found that the search of the Louisiana Street location 

lacked probable cause and suppressed the fruits ofthat search. RP 114. 

The court upheld the searches of the other two locations. RP 111-114; CP 

126-127. The prosecutor moved for reconsideration/ which the court 

granted. CP 128-133. The state later agreed that they would not offer any 

evidence found during the search of the Louisiana property. RP 423-424. 

Later still, the state further assented to not offer any evidence from the AI-

abama Street location. RP 726. 

The court considered a defense motion to dismiss under CrR 8.3, 

relating to the officers listening in to Mr. Potts's attorney calls. R CP 105-

125. The state claimed that the content of the calls did not lead to any evi-

dence they would offer at trial. RP 169, 171-172. In his oral ruling, Judge 

Warning stated: 

Police officers realized they were listening to conversations be­
tween Mr. Potts and his then attorney or with other attorneys. And, 
for reasons that are utterly beyond my kin, the submarine klaxons 
didn't start going off, the flashing red lights didn't happen. They 
continued to listen to them ... .The information came to the atten­
tion of the Prosecutor's Office and again for reasons that are be­
yond my understanding, the submarine klaxons didn't start going 
off for about a week or thereabouts. 

7 The dctensc moved for reconsideration on the other two locations, which the court denied. 
RP 140-142; CP 93-95,361-363. 

R Additional facts relating to this issue arc contained in the Argument section. 
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I don't reach the whole Corey issue because as -- yeah, I've got to 
say foolish as the conduct was in not just, you know, throwing up 
the hands and saying, "Wait a minute. We've got a problem," the 
first requisite requirement of any of these issues is that there is a 
fundamental right of the Defendant that's been violated. 
RP 174-176. 

The court declined to dismiss the case or sanction the state or police in 

any way. RP 175-177. Mr. Potts sought reconsideration. CP 370-379, 390-

395. The court denied the motion, but noted in its written order: 

[V]arious police officers listened to calls he made from the jail. 
When they discovered that several of these calls were between Mr. 
Potts and his attorney, they continued to listen to the calls. Several 
of the calls to his attorney were listened to by multiple officers on 
more than one occasion ... The decision of multiple, experienced, 
well trained and educated officers to continue to listen to telephone 
calls between a defendant and his counsel once they were aware of 
the parties to the call is utterly inexplicable. 
CP 434. 

The defense moved to suppress wire recordings made by police as 

part of their controlled buys. RP 499; CP 70-76. Mr. Potts argued that the 

requirements of the Privacy Act had not been met, rendering the materials 

inadmissible. RP 499-517; CP 70-76. The state acknowledged that they 

were not able to find any authorization for the recording from August 10, 

2012. The state agreed not to offer that recording at trial. RP 518, 726. The 

court otherwise denied the defense motion. RP 522-525. 

At trial, the defense also lodged objections to the recordings as 

lacking foundation. RP 2003-2004,2019-2021, Mr. Potts argued that the 
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recordings were not made pursuant to the Privacy Act and were therefore 

inadmissible. The court overruled the objections and the jury heard the 

recordings. RP 2022-2030. 

At some point, Helsley told Epperson that he had been dishonest. 

Helsley admitted that he met Llanes before the last deal. RP 2073-2074. 

Epperson had previously filed a report that stated that Helsley first met 

Llanes during the final buy. When Epperson found out this information 

was not true, he did not tell the prosecutor; nor did he file a new report. RP 

2074. 

Detective Epperson testified that he supervised informant Helsley, 

who would get no charges for all three of his school zone drug deliveries if 

he sold three times to Mr. Potts. RP 842-845. Epperson testified that Hels­

ley claimed Mr.Potts gave him Llanes's phone number, and that Mr. Potts 

said he was retiring and to buy from Llanes. RP 942-945, 953. Epperson 

did not say when this occurred, and did not specify when Helsley first met 

Llanes. RP 943. 

On the seventh day of trial, the state notified the defense that Hels­

ley would testify differently than he had said in all of his pretrial inter­

views. RP 1036, 1098. Helsley now planned to say that the week before 

the final buy, he and Mr. Potts went for a ride together. RP 1036. He 

would also assert, for the first time, that during this ride Mr. Potts intro-
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duced him to Llanes. RP 1036-1037. In all of his prior statements, Helsley 

claimed he hadn't met Llanes until buying from her on August lOth. RP 

1098. The defense reinterviewed Helsley, who acknowledged the change 

in his version of the facts. RP 1098-1101. 

Mr. Potts made a motion to dismiss. RP 1097. His attorney re­

minded the court that all parties had been told by Helsley that August I 0 

was the first time me met Llanes, and that information formed the basis for 

defense trial preparation. RP 1098-1101, 1115-1116. 

The court recessed, and took up the issue again several days later. 

RP 1122. By that time, the defense had reinterviewed Llanes. At this in­

terview, Llanes said for the first time that she and Helsley had completed a 

drug deal, without Mr. Potts's or police involvement, before the August 10 

buy. She said that she received $3050 from Helsley and provided him with 

four ounces of methamphetamine. RP 1129. This transaction violated 

Helsley's agreement with police. RP 1130. 

Mr. Potts again requested dismissal. RP 1125-1138,1171-1176. He 

pointed out that Epperson, the lead detective, had known for some time 

that Helsley and Llanes had met before August lOth, but had not notified 

any parties until long after trial was under way. RP 1099-1101, 1109-

1110, 1127; CP 928-937. In fact, Epperson had filed a report earlier doc­

umenting Helsley's statements, and never filed a corrected report. RP 

9 



1127-1128. This earlier report indicated that Helsley told him he had not 

even heard Llanes's name until August 9th, and did not meet her until Au­

gust lOth. RP 1127. 

The prosecutor acknowledged that Epperson knew Helsley's 

statements and his own report were untrue, that he did not inform anyone, 

and that he should have. RP 1149, 1154-1155. 

The trial judge found that the discovery rules had been violated. 

RP 1120-1121. The judge denied the defense motion to dismiss. RP 1188, 

1191-1192. Neither party requested a mistrial-in fact, defense counsel 

voiced his opposition-but the court declared a mistrial, based on the vio­

lation ofCrR 4.7. RP 1135, 1148, 1163, 1196. Mr. Potts objected, but the 

court overruled the objection and discharged the jury. RP 1196 

Prior to Mr. Potts's second trial, the defense moved to dismiss for a 

violation of double jeopardy. RP 1208, 1243-1268; CP 938-952, 966-

1010. Mr. Potts pointed out that the court had not found a manifest neces­

sity for a mistrial, had not determined that a mistrial was necessary in the 

interest of justice, did not explore alternatives and did not consider Mr. 

Potts's rights. RP 1244-1254. Defense counsel argued that Mr. Potts 

would have preferred to continue with the trial once the motion to dismiss 

was denied. RP 1249-1254, 1263-1268. At no time did the defense agree 

to a mistrial. 
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The trial judge denied the defense motion. The court indicated a 

finding of manifest necessity was implied in his oral ruling, and that he 

considered other alternatives. RP 1269-1276. 

Retrial started on November 19,2013. 

Llanes testified that she came from out of state with four pounds of 

methamphetamine. RP 2208-2209. She said she worked for "Nikki" and 

"Alfredo," who gave her Mr. Potts's phone number. RP 2208, 2211, 2217, 

2225-2226. She indicated that Mr. Potts introduced her to people, includ­

ing Helsley, and said he was getting out of the business. RP 2213, 2217, 

2227. She also said that Nikki and Alfredo sent Christian Velasquez to 

take over for her so that she could return to her home out of state. RP 

2221. Llanes introduced Velasquez around. RP 2221. She gave no indica­

tion that Mr. Potts had met or spoken with Velasquez. RP 2206- 2230. 

Helsley testified, confirming that Mr. Potts had been trying to get 

out of the business and had said others would be taking over "the show". 

RP 2262-2263. Helsley also acknowledged that he used methamphetamine 

during his work with police, in violation of his contract. RP 2275. Helsley 

admitted he'd purchased from Llanes and sold to others, outside of his 

work with police, and that he had lied about it. RP 2265-2268, 2271, 2276, 

2282-2284, 2288. 

During the state's closing argument, the prosecutor argued that the 
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jury need not find that Mr. Potts was "the overall leader, the top guy" in 

order to convict him of leading organized crime. RP 2585-2597, 2591. De-

fcnse counsel urged the jury to question the state's case and find that Mr. 

Potts had no involvement after the July 31 deal. RP 2600-2624. Counsel 

pointed out the lack of evidence linking Mr. Potts to Velasquez or the Au-

gust 10, 2012 deal, after Mr. Potts was in custody. He called it speculative 

and unproven. RP 2624. 

In his rebuttal, the prosecutor said: "There's another word for 

speculation, and the word is circumstantial." RP 2627. The defense ob-

jected, but the court did not rule. RP 2627. Instead, the court told jurors to 

"refer to the jury instructions as to any definitions of the law."9 RP 2627. 

During deliberations, the jury sent out a question: "Per count 1 [IOJ 

element 1 c does the word 'direct' require one on one interaction or can it 

be through an intermediary?" CP 1418. Mr. Potts urged the court to an-

swer the question in the negative, since an accomplice cannot lead orga-

nized crime. RP 2652-2653. The court instead directed the jury to reread 

their instructions and continue deliberating. RP 2655; CP 1418. 

The jury convicted Mr. Potts as charged, including answering af-

q Mr. Potts moved tor arrest ofjudgmcnt, in part based on the state's closing argument. RP 
2669,2679,2681-2682. The court denied the motion. RP 2687. 

1° Count l was leading organized crime. 
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firmatively to all (remaining) special verdicts. 11 RP 2657-2664. At sen-

tencing, the defense argued that counts 2 through 6 should merge with 

count 1. RP 2698. The defense also urged the court to find that all counts 

were the same course of conduct. RP 2699. The trial judge disagreed and 

gave Mr. Potts a total of 413 months. RP 2706-2708, 2711. 

Mr. Potts timely appealed. CP 154 7, 1565. The Court of Appeals 

affirmed his convictions in an Unpublished Opinion. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

A. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that discretion­
ary trial comi decisions are always reviewed de novo when they 
violate an accused person's constitutional rights. The Court of Ap­
peals opinion conflicts with this court's decisions in Jones and 
Iniguez. In addition, this case presents a significant constitutional 
issue that is of substantial public interest and should be determined 
by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(l), (3), and (4). 

Appellate courts review constitutional issues de novo. State v. Sa-

mafia, ---Wn.2d---, _, 375 P.3d 1082 (2016). When a trial court makes a 

discretionary decision alleged to violate a constitutional right, review is de 

novo. State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 719,230 PJd 576 (2010) (Jones I); 

State v. Iniguez, 167 Wn.2d 273, 281, 217 P .3d 768 (2009). 

11 Specifically, Mr. Potts was convicted oflcading organized crime, delivery in a school 
zone, and two deliveries. These all carried a special finding of a major violation of the 
Uniform Controlled Substance~ Act. He wa~ al~o convicted pos~c~sion with intent and 
another deliver. RP 2657-2661. The state withdrew the aggravating factor on count 6. RP 
2406. The court dismissed the aggravator on count 5. RP 2405. The court also dismissed the 
school zone enhancement as to count 3. RP 2413. 
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Thus, for example, the Jones I court reviewed de novo a discre-

tionary decision excluding evidence under the rape shield statute because 

the defendant argued a violation of his constitutional right to present a de­

fense. Jones I, 168 Wn.2d at 719. 12 Similarly, the Iniguez court reviewed 

de novo the trial judge's discretionary decisions denying a severance mo-

tion and granting a continuance, because the defendant argued a violation 

of his constitutional right to a speedy trial. Iniguez, 167 Wn.2d at 280-281. 

That court specifically pointed out that review would have been for abuse 

of discretion had not the defendant argued a constitutional violation. Id. 13 

In this case, the Court of Appeals erroneously applied an abuse-of-

discretion standard to two of Mr. Potts's constitutional arguments. Op., pp. 

20, 21, 23. First, Mr. Potts argued to the Court of Appeals that the trial 

judge's discretionary decision declaring a mistrial violated his double 

jeopardy rights. Double jeopardy violations, like all constitutional issues, 

are reviewed de novo. State v. Villanueva-Gonzalez, 180 Wn.2d 975, 979-

80, 329 P.3d 78 (2014). 

Second, Mr. Potts argued to the Court of Appeals that the govern-

ment violated his right to counsel and to due process by repeatedly and 

12 Generally, the exclusion of evidence under that statute is reviewed for an abuse of 
discretion. Stale v. Posey, 161 Wn.2d 638, 648, 167 P.3d 560 (2007). 

13 The Supreme Court has not applied this rule consistently. For example, one month prior to 
its decision in .Jones I, the court apparently applied an abuse-of-discretion standard to 
questions of admissibility under the rape shield law, even though-as in .Jones I- the 
defendant alleged a violation ofhis right to present a defense. Stale v. Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d 
350,362-63,229 P.3d 669 (2010). This case presents an opportunity to clarify that review is 
de novo whenever a litigant alleges that a discretionary decision violates a constitutional 
right. 
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deliberately eavesdropping on numerous private attorney-client telephone 

calls. Op., p. 26, 28. Courts review de novo violations of the right to coun-

sel and the right to due process. State v. Jones, 183 Wn.2d 327, 338, 352 

P.3d 776 (2015) (Jones II) (right to counsel); State v. Beaver, 184 Wn.2d 

321,331,358 P.3d 385 (2015) (due process). 

On each issue, the Court of Appeals made a passing reference to 

the de novo standard for constitutional errors. Op., p. 19, 26. However, the 

court explicitly declined to apply the de novo standard to the due pro­

cess/denial of counsel issue, 14 and repeatedly emphasized the court's dis-

cretion regarding the double jeopardy issue. Op., pp. 20, 21, 23, 26 n. 11. 

The Court of Appeals erred by applying an abuse-of-discretion 

standard to Mr. Potts's constitutional claims. The Supreme Court should 

accept review and apply a de novo standard to the trial court's discretion-

ary decisions-declaring a mistrial and denying the motion to dismiss­

because Mr. Potts alleges that each decision violated one or more constitu-

tional rights. In keeping with Jones I and Iniguez, the court should not al­

low the Court of Appeals to apply an abuse-of-discretion standard to the 

violation of constitutional rights. 

This case presents a significant constitutional issue that is of sub-

stantial public interest. RAP 13 .4(b )(3) and ( 4 ). In addition, the Court of 

Appeals opinion conflicts with this court's decisions in Jones I and 

14 This punished Mr. Potts for raising the issue in the trial court. Under the Court of Appeals' 
reasoning, he would have had a more favorable standard of review if he'd raised the issue for 
the first time on appeal under RAP 2.5(a)(3). Op., p. 26 n. 11. 
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Iniguez. RAP 13.4(b)(l). The Supreme Court should accept review to clar-

ify that appellate courts review de novo a trial judge's discretionary deci-

sion, if that discretionary decision is alleged to violate a constitutional 

right. Jones I, 168 Wn.2d at 719; Iniguez, 167 Wn.2d at 281. 

B. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that the trial 
court violated Mr. Potts's double jeopardy right to a verdict from 
the jury he selected to try his case. The lower court's decision 
conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision in Robinson. RAP 
13.4(b)(2). In addition, this significant question of constitutional 
law is of substantial public interest and should be determined by 
the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4 (b)(3) and (4). 

The double jeopardy right 15 protects "the interest of an accused in 

retaining a chosenjury." Crist v. Bretz, 437 U.S. 28, 35-36, 98 S.Ct. 2156, 

57 L.Ed.2d 24 (1978). That interest "embraces the defendant's 'valued 

right to have his trial completed by a particular tribunal."' Arizona v. 

Washington, 434 U.S. 497, 503, 98 S.Ct. 824, 54 L.Ed.2d 717 (1978) 

(quoting Wade v. Hunter, 336 U.S. 684, 69 S.Ct. 834, 93 LEd. 974 

( 1949)). In this case, the court infringed Mr. Potts's right to have his trial 

completed by the first jury. 

Absent the accused person's consent, a judge cannot exercise dis­

cretion to declare a mistrial unless extraordinary and striking circumstanc-

es exist. State v. Robinson, 146 Wn.App. 471,479, 191 P.3d 906 (2008) 

(citing State v. Jones, 97 Wn.2d 159, 164, 641 P.2d 708 (1982) (Jones 

Ill)). A mistrial ordered without the defendant's consent is "tantamount to 

15 U.S. Const. Amends. V, XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, §9. 
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an acquittal," unless justified by manifest necessity. State v. Juarez, 115 

Wn.App. 881, 889,64 P.3d 83 (2003). 

Mr. Potts objected to the court's decision to declare a mistrial. RP 

1135, 1148, 1163, 1197. This means that the discharge functions as an ac-

quittal unless prompted by manifest necessity and the existence of ex-

traordinary and striking circumstances. !d.; Robinson, 146 Wn.App. at 

479. 

The Court of Appeals has outlined three factors for assessing a 

mistrial ordered over the defendant's objection. 16 Robinson, 146 Wn.App. 

at 479-480. All three factors establish a violation of Mr. Potts's double 

jeopardy rights. !d. Although the Court of Appeals purported to apply the 

Robinson factors to Mr. Potts's case, it did so using an abuse-of-discretion 

standard. Op., pp. 20, 21, 23. This distorted the court's analysis. Its deci-

sion conflicts with Robinson. 

Under the first Robinson factor, the trial court must not act precipi-

tately. !d. Instead, the judge must give both sides a full opportunity to ex-

plain their positions. !d. Here, even though the court's decision came after 

several days, the judge acted precipitately under Robinson. The only 

motion facing the court was Mr. Potts's motion for dismissal. 17 RP 1097, 

1125. After ruling out dismissal as a remedy, the trial judge did not give 

Mr. Potts's attorney a full opportunity to explain whether he preferred a 

16 The Supreme Court has never addressed the Rohinson test. 

17 The prosecutor had mentioned mistrial as a possible remedy, but did not make a motion. 
RP 1158-1162, 1179, 1198. Accordingly, no motion for a mistrial was before the court. 
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mistrial or continuing with the trial. RP 1184-1196. Indeed, the court nev­

er even asked Mr. Potts about the option of resuming trial following a re­

cess, which was one course of action suggested by the prosecutor. RP 

1184-1196. 

Mr. Potts had a choice to make, once the dismissal was taken off 

the table. Two important rights conflicted-his double jeopardy right to 

have the trial concluded in a single proceeding, and his "right to be repre­

sented by counsel who has had sufficient opportunity to adequately pre­

pare a material part of his defense." State v. Salgado-Mendoza, 194 

Wn.App. 234, _, 373 P.3d 357 (2016) (citations and internal quotation 

marks omitted). 

The trial judge did not ask Mr. Potts or his attorney if they wished 

to go forward with the trial. Instead, the court presumed to make the 

choice for the defense, in effect privileging the right to effective counsel 

over Mr. Potts's double jeopardy rights. 

But the decision was not the court's to make. As the U.S. Supreme 

Court has said in a related context, "[t]he important consideration, for pur­

poses of the Double Jeopardy Clause, is that the defendant retain primary 

control over the course to be followed." U.S. v. Dinitz, 424 U.S. 600, 609, 

96 S. Ct. 1075,47 L. Ed. 2d 267 (1976). The trial judge here did not do 

this; the court did not even ask Mr. Potts for his position after ruling out 

dismissal. Because of this, the trial court's actions were precipitate within 

the meaning of Robinson. 

The Court of Appeals focused on the passage of time between the 
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point when the problem was discovered and the point where the judge 

dismissed the jury. Op., pp. 21-22. In doing so, the Court of Appeals 

overlooked several important points. It failed to recognize that no motion 

for a mistrial was before the trial court at the time it ruled. 1 8 The Court of 

Appeals also overlooked the tria1judge's failure to ask Mr. Potts about 

resuming trial following a recess. Finally, the Court of Appeals did not 

address the trial judge's failure to allow Mr. Potts to express his 

preference after ruling on the motion to dismiss. 

The court should not have declared a mistrial when the only 

motion before it was a motion to dismiss. It should have asked Mr. Potts if 

he preferred to resume the trial or to start over. And it should have asked 

defense counsel to explain his position after the motion to dismiss was 

denied. By failing to take these basic steps, it acted precipitately under 

Robinson, even though its decision came after several days. Robinson, 146 

Wn.App. at 479-480. The first factor outlined by the Robinson court sug­

gests the court violated Mr. Potts's double jeopardy rights by declaring a 

mistrial over his objection. !d. 

The second Robinson factor requires the trial court to "'accord[ ] 

careful consideration to the defendant's interest in having the trial 

concluded in a single proceeding."' !d. (quoting State v. Melton, 97 

Wn.App. 327, 332, 983 P.2d 699 ( 1999) (footnotes and internal quotation 

marks omitted by Robinson). This factor is particularly important: a trial 

IX The prosecutor had mentioned mistrial as a possible remedy, but did not make a motion. 
RP 1158-1162, 1179, 1198. 
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judge "must always temper the decision" to declare a mistrial "by consid­

ering the importance to the defendant of being able, once and for all, to 

conclude his confrontation with society through the verdict of a tribunal he 

might believe to be favorably disposed to his fate." United States v. Jorn, 

400 U.S. 470,486,91 S. Ct. 547,27 L. Ed. 2d 543 (1971). 

Here, the court did not even mention Mr. Potts's "interest in 

having the trial concluded in a single proceeding," much less give it 

"careful consideration." Robinson, 146 Wn.App. at 479-80 (internal 

quotation marks and citation omitted); see RP 1097-1208. The court's 

failure means its decision should not be given the usual deference .. See 

State v. Strine, 176 Wn.2d 742, 753, 293 P.3d 1177 (2013). 

Without any citation to the record, the Court of Appeals erroneous-

ly contends that court "specifically asked about Potts's double jeopardy 

rights." Op., p. 22. This is contrary to the record. 19 The record does not 

show any concern for Mr. Potts's right to have the trial concluded in a sin-

gle proceeding. Robinson, 146 Wn.App. at 479-80. 

The third Robinson factor requires the trial court to consider alter-

natives to mistrial. Robinson, 146 Wn.App. at 4 79-80. The trial judge here 

considered only three available alternatives, overlooking the most obvious 

alternative. Specifically, the court ruled out dismissal, suppression, and a 

19 At a later hearing, the court indicated that it had considered "double jeopardy" before 
declaring a mistrial. RP 1277-1278. But this is not the same as considering Mr. Potts's right 
to have the trial concluded in a single proceeding. Instead, given the context, it is likely an 
expression of concern that the entire prosecution might be dismissed. RP 1277-1278. 
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continuance long enough to allow jurors' memories to fade. 20 RP 1194-

1195. But after denying the motion to dismiss, the court did not ask 

defense counsel how quickly he could be prepared to resume the trial. Had 

the trial resumed following a shorter recess, jurors' memories would not 

have posed a problem. RP 1195. The court did not consider this option. 

For all these reasons, the court's decision declaring a mistrial and 

discharging the jury violated Mr. Potts's valued right to have a decision 

from the jury he selected to try his case. Jorn, 400 U.S. at 484. His 

convictions must be reversed and the case dismissed with prejudice. !d.; 

Robinson, 146 Wn.App. at 484. The Supreme Court should accept review, 

reverse Mr. Potts's convictions, and dismiss the charges with prejudice. 

This case presents a significant constitutional question that is of 

substantial public interest and should be decided by the Supreme Court. 

RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). In addition, the Court of Appeals decision 

conflicts with Robinson. RAP 13.4(b)(2). 

C. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that an accused 
person may not be convicted of both leading organized crime and 
any predicate crimes that are based on the same evidence. The 
Court of Appeals misapplied the "same evidence" test, and its de­
cision conflicts with this court's decisions in Orange and Hughes. 
Furthermore, this case raises significant questions of constitutional 
law that are of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4 (b)( 1 ), (3), and 
(4). 

20 The court expressed concern that a continuance would result in the evidence becoming 
"stale" in the minds of jurors, "and they may forget information." RP 1195. 
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Mr. Potts was convicted of leading organized crime, based on his 

participation in a number of drug offenses. CP 1531. He was also convict­

ed of the underlying drug offenses. CP 15 31. This violated his right to be 

free from double jeopardy. 

Whether two offenses are the same is "ultimately 'a question of 

statutory interpretation and legislative intent."' Villanueva-Gonzalez, 180 

Wn.2d at 980 (quoting State v. Adel, 136 Wn.2d 629, 634, 965 P.2d 1072 

(1998)); State v. Hughes, 166 Wn.2d 675, 681,212 P.3d 558 (2009). 

The statutes at issue here do not expressly permit conviction of 

both leading organized crime and any predicate drug offenses. RCW 

9A.82.060; RCW 69.50.401; see also State v. Harris, 167 Wn.App. 340, 

353, 272 P.3d 299 review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1006, 285 P.3d 885 (2012). 

Because of this, the issue turns on application of the same evidence test. 

Hughes, 166 Wn.2d at 681. 

Under the same evidence test, multiple convictions violate double 

jeopardy if the evidence necessary to convict on one offense is sufficient 

to convict on the other. In re Orange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 816, 100 P.3d 291 

(2004), as amended on denial a./reconsideration (Jan. 20, 2005). The test 

does not rest on a comparison of the legal elements of each offense­

convictions for two crimes can violate double jeopardy even if the two of­

fenses do not have the same legal elements. Hughes, 166 Wn.2d at 684; 

Orange, 152 Wn.2d at 820. 

Instead, the inquiry focuses on the evidence the state produced to 

prove each offense. Orange, 152 Wn.2d at 818-820. Ifthe evidence neces-
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sary to convict the accused person on one offense also proves guilt on the 

other, the double jeopardy clause prohibits convictions for both. Orange, 

152 Wn.2d at 816. 

Here, Mr. Potts's conviction for leading organized crime was 

based on the same evidence as his convictions for the underlying drug 

charges. This is so because the evidence used to convict Mr. Potts of lead-

ing organized crime sufficed to convict him of at least three of the under-

lying drug offenses charged in counts two through six. Therefore, the con-

viction for leading organized crime prohibited conviction for the other of-

fenses on double jeopardy grounds. ld. 

The conviction on count one rested on the theory that Mr. Potts led 

others in the commission of at least three specific drug offenses. CP 13 96-

1397; RP 2593-2594, 2642-2644. Although the legal elements of leading 

organized crime required the state to prove only that he acted "with the 

intent to engage" in a pattern of three deliveries, 21 the state expressly 

asked jurors to convict based on the completed deliveries charged in 

counts two through five and the possession with intent charged in count 

six.22 RP 2593-2594, 2642-2644. 

The evidence used to convict Mr. Potts of leading organized crime 

was sufficient to convict him of the three underlying drug offenses. Put 

21 See Instructions Nos. 9 and 10. CP 1396-1397. 

22 Although the prosecutor asked the jury to convict on the basis of the possession with intent 
charged in count six (RP 2593-2594, 2642-2644A), the court's instructions defined criminal 
profiteering to include only"[ d]clivcry of a controlled substance committed for financial 
gain ... " CP 1396. 
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another way, none of the underlying drug offenses required proof of a fact 

that was not also part of the evidence used to convict for the charge of 

leading organized crime. It thus cannot be said that "each of-

fense ... requires proof of a fact the other does not." Hughes, 166 Wn.2d at 

682 (emphasis added). 23 

As in other cases, the Court of Appeals misapplied the same evi-

dence test here. Op., pp. 25-26 (citing Harris, supra). In both Harris and 

this case, the Court of Appeals found that "the elements for leading orga-

nized crime are distinguishable from those of the predicate offenses." Op., 

p. 25 (citing Harris). But this is not a proper formulation of the same evi-

dence test. 

In essence, the Court of Appeals used a truncated version of the 

test, looking at only one side of the equation. As the Court of Appeals cor-

rectly noted, the predicate offenses "do not have [the] additional elements" 

required to prove leading organized crime. Op., p. 25; see also Harris, 167 

Wn.App. at 354. However, the court did not go on to examine whether the 

predicate offenses had additional elements to those required to prove lead­

ing organized crime. Had it done so, it would have noted that the predicate 

offenses do not have additional elements not contained in leading orga-

nized crime. 24 

23 Instead, only the leading organized crime required proof of facts unnecessary to the 
underlying drug offenses. 

24 The Court of Appeals also noted that each predicate oficnsc "has a ditierent date." Op., p. 
25. 
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The Court of Appeals' approach conflicts with Orange, Hughes, 

and a long line of cases applying the same evidence test. If the Orange 

court had applied the Court of Appeals' flawed version of the test to the 

attempted first-degree murder and assault charges at issue there, it would 

have reached the wrong result. This is so because (in the words of the 

Court of Appeals) attempted first degree murder "has the additional ele­

ments of' premeditation, intent to cause death, and an attempt to cause 

death, 25 while assault "[does] not have these additional elements." Op., p. 

25. According to the Court of Appeals, this would be sufficient to avoid a 

double jeopardy violation; however, the Supreme Court reached the oppo­

site conclusion and found that the two offenses were the same. Orange, 

152 Wn.2d at 820. 

The Orange court looked at both sides of the equation-whether 

"each [offense] requires proof of a fact not required by the other." Orange, 

152 Wn.2d at 817. In this case, by contrast, the Court of Appeals looked at 

only one side of the equation. Op., p. 25 

The evidence used to convict Mr. Potts of leading organized crime 

included proof that Mr. Potts committed three of the deliveries (or two of 

the deliveries and the possession with intent charge). The same evidence 

was used to prove that he committed the three deliveries (or two deliveries 

and the possession with intent). The same evidence test prohibits convic­

tion of both the leading organized crime charge and three ofthe drug of-

25 See Orange, 152 Wn.2d at 814-815. 
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fenses. Orange, 152 Wn.2d at 818-820. Mr. Potts's convictions for three 

of the drug offenses must be reversed, because each is the same offense as 

the leading organized crime conviction. Hughes, 166 Wn.2d at 681. The 

charges must be dismissed with prejudice. Jd. 

The Supreme Court should accept review, reverse the Court of 

Appeals, and order dismissal of three of the predicate drug offenses used 

to convict Mr. Potts of leading organized crime. !d. The Court of Appeals 

decision conflicts with Orange and Hughes. RAP 13 .4(b )(I). In addition, 

this case raises significant questions of constitutional law that are of sub-

stantial public interest. RAP 13.4 (b)(3) and (4). 

D. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that the gov­
ernment violated Mr. Potts's right to counsel and to due process by 
eavesdropping on numerous private attorney-client telephone calls. 
The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this court's decision 
in Fuentes. In addition, this case presents a significant question of 
constitutional law that is of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4 
(b)(l), (3), and (4). 

An accused person has a constitutional right to confer privately 

with defense counsel. U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, § 

22; State v. Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d 808,818,318 P.3d 257 (2014). When the 

state eavesdrops on attorney-client communication, prejudice is presumed. 

Jd., at 819. In "those rare circumstances where there is no possibility of 

prejudice," the state bears the burden of showing "beyond a reasonable 

doubt that the defendant was not prejudiced." !d., at 810-820. This is so 

even when no information is communicated to the prosecutor. Jd. 
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In this case, the government eavesdropped on Mr. Potts's private 

conversations with three different attorneys on numerous occasions. As 

the trial court found: 

[V]arious police officers listened to calls he made from the jail. 
When they discovered that several of these calls were between Mr. 
Potts and his attorney, they continued to listen to the calls. Several 
of the calls to his attorney were listened to by multiple officers on 
more than one occasion ... The decision of multiple, experienced, 
well trained and educated officers to continue to listen to telephone 
calls between a defendant and his counsel once they were aware of 
the parties to the call is utterly inexplicable. 
CP 434. 

The prosecution failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the unlaw­

ful eavesdropping had no prejudicial effect. !d. 

1. Even when considered in isolation, Detective Epperson's 
misconduct requires reversal. 

Taken by itself, the lead detective's eavesdropping requires rever-

sal. Detective Epperson improperly and intentionally listened to numerous 

telephone calls between Mr. Potts and his attorney. 26 CP 299-324. Epper-

son kept a chart in which he summarized entire phone conversations be-

tween Mr. Potts and his lawyer's office. CP 304-306, 325, 326, 328. He 

admitted that one intercepted call related to the subject of a follow-up in-

vestigation, and he could not rule out that he listened to it during the in­

vestigation.27 CP 307-308,321,328. 

26lnstcad of hanging up when he realized the calls were between attorney and client, 
Epperson intentionally continued listening. CP 306-307, 309-310. 

27 Furthermore, it is possible that Epperson's intentional and repeated misconduct affected 
him subconsciously, in ways that he could not have articulated. The calls he listened to might 

(Continued) 
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Detective Epperson was uniquely situated to take advantage of any 

revelations. Even when viewed on its own, his misconduct by itself creates 

at least some possibility of prejudice, and the state cannot show otherwise. 

Detective Epperson's misconduct-by itself-requires reversal. Fuentes, 

179 Wn.2d at 819-20. 

2. The state failed to provide a complete record of the police 
eavesdropping and its consequences. 

The state did not submit the key document used by the special 

prosecutor as the basis for his investigation. During his interviews, the 

special prosecutor referred to "Exhibit 1 ,"a summary which outlined the 

number of attorney calls accessed, the dates and times each call was 

played or downloaded, and the password used to access each call.28 CP 

264-272,274-277,314-315,318. This document was not attached to the 

special prosecutor's report, and does not appear elsewhere in the record.29 

Because the state failed to file this document, it is impossible to 

determine what other information it contains. Although the special prose-

cutor undoubtedly focused on certain highlights, he may not have con­

veyed the depth and breadth of the problem. The state's failure to submit 

have helped him make a connection that had previously eluded him. They might have 
inspired additional investigation. They might have shaded what he told the prosecutor, or 
even his testimony at trial. All of this could have occurred without his conscious awareness. 

2s Review of the special prosecutor's interview questions makes clear that Exhibit l is not the 
same as "Appendix 8," attached to the special prosecutor's report. A comparison of the two 
documents is set forth at length in Appellant's Reply Brict~ and is incorporated herein. 

29 Some information from the document can be gleaned from the special prosecutor's 
interview questions. CP 265, 268, 270-272. 

28 



this critical information shows the "evidence" considered by the court was 

incomplete. The state failed to prove lack of prejudice beyond a reasona-

ble doubt. Fuentes, 179 W n.2d at 818. 

In addition, the state was wholly unable to prove who listened to 

Mr. Potts's calls using a password issued to Department of Corrections 

personnel. 3° CP 163, 164. Nor did the state prove what information that 

person learned from the calls, or how they used it. CP 163, 164. Because 

DOC personnel had office space in the Street Crimes Unit, there is a pos-

sibility that officers who investigated Mr. Potts and testified at his trial had 

access to the DOC password and used it to deliberately eavesdrop on Mr. 

Potts's calls to his attorneys. CP 250, 268-269. 

The state also failed to prove that calls downloaded to police de­

partment computers were ever deleted. 31 CP 266-270, 277. Calls may have 

remained available through the Securus phone system interface. 32 There is 

also some indication that the system did not function properly: police were 

apparently able to access Mr. Potts's calls to attorney Sam Wardle's 

blocked line. 33 CP 392, 395, 473. 

The prosecution did not attempt to establish the full range of topics 

30 It is also possible that someone accessed the computer system and listened to calls while 
the officers were in a meeting. CP 271. 

31 Some recorded calls may also have been transferred to other storage media. CP 311. 

32 At the time he was interviewed, Epperson had only listened to calls through September 1st. 
CP 304, 314. He and his colleagues may have had another month and a half of recorded calls 
available on department computers or through the interface. 

33 The court assumed that Mr. Potts used Mr. Wardle's regular business line, rather than a 
blocked line. CP 434. Nothing in the record supports this assumption. 
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Mr. Potts and his attorneys discussed. Some officers overheard arguments 

relating to pretrial strategy. CP 261, 263. By the time they were inter­

viewed, some officers couldn't recall details of the calls they'd listened to. 

CP 294, 348-349. Many calls were recorded and accessed by law en-

forcement; however, the information gained by the special prosecutor ac-

counted for only a few of these calls. CP 159-164. None ofthe officers 

revealed what they heard when Mr. Potts called his new defense attorney 

(Sam Wardle), or when he called his civil attorney (Michael Long).34 CP 

392-395. 

The state failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that no preju-

dice could have resulted from the eavesdropping. The prosecution failed to 

meet its burden under Fuentes. 35 

3. The timing of the eavesdropping enhanced the likelihood of 
prejudice. 

In Fuentes, the police eavesdropped on attorney-client conversa-

tions after trial. Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d at 817. Here, by contrast, the police 

eavesdropped on attorney-client calls starting less than a week after Mr. 

Potts's arrest. CP 255. The prosecutor didn't issue her memo aimed at 

34 Long represented Potts Family Motors, which police believed was a front for drug dealing. 
CP 25. Accordingly, Mr. Potts's conversations with Long were relevant to his criminal case. 

35 In addition, at least some infonnation was revealed to the assigned prosecutor Phelan. CP 
79-80, !59. The state never established what other infonnation had been disclosed to the 
prosecutor without attribution. After hearing about the problem, the prosecuting attorney's 
otlicc took no action between October JO'h and October 16'h. CP 79, 82, !59. 
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stopping the practice until two full months later. 36 CP 82. The eavesdrop-

ping occurred before the court held hearings on defense motions to sup­

press evidence and wire recordings. The eavesdropping also preceded both 

trials, post-trial motions, and sentencing. The timing of the incidents en-

hances the likelihood that Mr. Potts was prejudiced. Police listened to calls 

made during the first two months of the representation, a time when Mr. 

Potts and his attorney undoubtedly had extensive discussions about the 

facts and the defense strategy. 37 

The available record, although incomplete, strongly suggests a 

likelihood of prejudice. The state therefore failed to prove beyond a rea­

sonable doubt that Mr. Potts suffered no prejudice whatsoever. Fuentes, 

179 Wn.2d at 818. 

4. The court heard no testimony under oath, considered only 
the report of a special prosecutor who demonstrated bias, 
and failed to make findings beyond a reasonable doubt, as 
required by Fuentes. 

The state did not present any testimony or other evidence under 

oath from those with first-hand knowledge ofthe eavesdropping inci­

dents. 38 The "primary function" of the oath is "to provide 'additional secu-

36 By then, the officers had already downloaded calls to police department computers. CP 
156. It is unclear whether or not previously recorded calls also remained accessible through 
the Sccurus phone system interface. Furthermore, it appears that police were able to access 
calls made to a blocked attorney line used by Mr. Potts's second attorney. CP 392, 395, 473. 

37 Indeed, the system recorded Mr. Potts's calls to attorneys Sam Wardle and Michael Long 
even after October 16'11 • There is no guarantee that the system stopped recording and that law 
enforcement stopped listening at any point while the case was pending. 

3x The only sworn statements tiled were authored by two prosecuting attorneys, who relayed 
what they had heard from others. CP 79, 155-164. 
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rity for credibility' by impressing upon witnesses their duty to tell the 

truth, and to furnish a basis for a perjury charge." In re MB., 101 

Wn.App. 425,471,3 P.3d 780 (2000). 

There were at least some discrepancies in the accounts provided by 

those who gave statements. Absent evidence given under oath, the state 

wholly failed to meet its burden of proving lack of prejudice beyond a rea­

sonable doubt. Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d at 818. 

In addition, the special prosecutor did not perform in an independ-

ent and neutral manner. The county prosecutor proposed a single candi-

date for the role of special prosecutor; Mr. Potts had no input on selection. 

CP 79-83. The court appointed Jeffrey Sullivan, a former federal prosecu­

tor who had also worked as a prosecutor in Yakima County.39 CP 80; RP 

63-65. Both Sullivan and his assistant gave an appearance of bias in favor 

oflaw enforcement. For example, Sullivan told Sgt. Hartley that 

[T]he important issue for us is there an argument that can be 
waived because it says at the beginning of the tape ... You're rec­
orded and monitored ... So we're arguing that he made a knowl­
edgeable waiver of the attorney-client privilege. 
CP 279-280 (emphasis added). 

Despite clear evidence to the contrary, the special prosecutor's re-

port concluded that officers "inadvertently" listened to and downloaded 

calls between Mr. Potts and his attomey.4° CP 156. The report character-

JQ Sullivan was assisted by a detective from neighboring Clark County. CP !56, 247. 

40 The team also took pains to make clear that listening to inmate calls is a normal part of 
investigation, as though preemptively responding to anticipated general criticism of the 
practice. CP 254, 289-290, 302-303, 333, 346-347. 
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ized the misconduct as part of routine follow-up investigations. CP 156, 

164. The introductory and concluding sections of the report failed to men-

tion ( 1) that Epperson (and others) continued listening to the calls even 

after it became clear the conversations were between attorney and client, 

(2) that Epperson wrote up summaries of several calls between Mr. Potts 

and his attorney, or (3) that certain calls were downloaded or played mul-

tiple times. CP 156, 164. 

The report made no mention of calls Mr. Potts made to two other 

attorneys, Wardle and Long. It did not point out that police retained copies 

of at least some of the calls on their computers. There is no indication the 

special prosecutor confirmed that attorney calls made after October l61h 

were exempt from recording. CP 134-352. The special prosecutor did not 

produce evidence proving lack of prejudice beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d at 818. 

Finally, the trial court did not have the benefit of Fuentes, and 

failed to make findings beyond a reasonable doubt. RP 174-176; CP 434. 

Because of this, the court's holdings do not permit a reviewing court to 

affirm Mr. Potts's convictions. The convictions must be reversed and the 

case dismissed with prejudice. 41 Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d at 818. 

The Supreme Court should accept review and reverse Mr. Potts's 

convictions because the government violated due process and his right to 

41 In the alternative, the case must be remanded for a new evidentiary hearing, following 
which the trial court must find facts beyond a reasonable doubt. Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d at 818. 
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confer privately with his attorney. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts 

with Fuentes. In addition, this case presents a significant question of con-

stitutionallaw that is of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4 (b )(1 ), (3), 

and (4). 

E. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that Mr. Potts 
did not waive his right to confer privately with counsel. The Court 
of Appeals decision conflicts with this court's opinions in James 
and Fuentes, and with the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in 
Zerbst. In addition, this case presents a significant question of con­
stitutionallaw that is of substantial public interest. RAP 13 .4(b )( 1 ), 
(3), and (4). 

Courts indulge every reasonable presumption against waiver of 

fundamental rights. Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458,464, 58 S.Ct. 1019, 

82 L.Ed. 1461 (1938). The state bears the "heavy burden" of proving a 

knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver. In re James, 96 Wn.2d 84 7, 

851, 640 P .2d 18 ( 1982); see also State v. Humphries, 181 Wn.2d 708, 

717,336 P.3d 1121 (2014). 

The right to confer privately with counsel is "a foundational right." 

Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d at 820. The state's "heavy burden" of proving waiver 

of this "foundational right" requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt, in 

order to overcome the presumption against waiver required by the U.S. 

Supreme Court in Zerbst.42 Here, the state did not prove beyond a reason-

able doubt that Mr. Potts knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived 

42 This is the same quality of proof required when the state seeks to show a violation of the 
right is harmless. Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d at 812, 819-20. 
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his right to private communication with counsel. 

Nothing in the record shows that Mr. Potts understood which 

phone number he was supposed to use to call his attorneys. When he 

called attorney Jim Morgan, he used the number given him by the attor-

ney. CP 421, 468. This number is the listed number published in online 

directories. CP 157, 295. The special jail line Mr. Potts was apparently 

supposed to use was not in Jim Morgan's name; instead, it was in his son 

Dan Morgan's name. CP 468, 473.43 

No evidence proved what Mr. Potts understood about the jail's 

phone system. Although reference was made to a handbook, the record 

doesn't contain a copy of the handbook. CP 158.44 Furthermore, jail in­

mates used the same telephone for both attorney calls and other calls.45 CP 

158, 245-246. 

The Court of Appeals found that Mr. Potts waived his rights be-

cause he heard the recorded warning at the start of each call and had to 

press a button to complete the call. Op., p. 28. But he might well have be-

lieved that attorney calls were recorded but not accessed by police. Or he 

might have believed that the computerized phone system automatically 

43 The court found that Mr. Potts used his attorneys' regular phone line "for unknown 
reasons." CP 434. This finding, and the state's failure to provide an explanation, suggests 
that he did not knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently waive his right to confer privately. 

44 Even if the handbook explained the difference between an attorney's regular phone 
number and the special number to be used by inmates, the state didn't prove that Mr. Potts 
read and understood any relevant sections of the handbook. 

45 The state failed to prove that the Securus system worked properly. Defense counsel alerted 
the court that calls to other attorneys may have been accessed. CP 390-395. 
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stopped recording during attorney-client calls, even if the automated warn­

ing continued to play. The state certainly didn't prove otherwise.46 , 47 

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the U.S. Supreme 

Court's admonition in Zerbst to indulge every reasonable presumption 

against waiver of this "foundational right." Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d at 820; 

Zerbst, 304 U.S. at 464. It also conflicts with the "heavy burden" of 

proving waiver, imposed by the Supreme Court in James and implied by 

the court's holding in Fuentes. 

When correctly applied, these cases preclude a finding of waiver. It 

is reasonable to believe that Mr. Potts didn't understand the phone system, 

and that this led him to disregard the automated warning. This is especial-

ly true because all calls were made from the same phone, and no signage 

clarified the difference between attorney calls and other calls.48 No reason 

was offered to suggest that Mr. Potts would not have called on a recorded 

line if he knew that he was supposed to use a different line to ensure his 

conversations were confidential. 

The Supreme Court should accept review and overturn the Court of 

Appeals. The state failed to carry its "heavy burden" of proving a knowing, 

46 The court found that "Mr. Potts made multiple calls to counsel and, to no one's sutprisc 
except apparently that o(Mr. Polls, the calls were recorded." CP 434 (emphasis added). If 
Mr. Potts was surprised that the calls were recorded, he cannot have made a knowing, 
intelligent and voluntary waiver. Humphries, l X l Wn.2d at 717. 

47 Even if he learned the correct number to usc for one attorney, this docs not prove he knew 
the correct number to usc when calling his other attorneys. CP 256, 392-395. 

4s A posted sign notified inmates that "calls arc subject to monitoring and recording," but the 
sign did not mention the exception for attorney/client calls, and did not explain the special 
number required to make an unrecorded call to an attorney. CP l5X, 245. 
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intelligent, and voluntary waiver of Mr. Potts's "foundational right" to con­

fer privately with counsel. James, 96 Wn.2d at 851; Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d at 

820. The Court of Appeals' contrary decision here conflicts with James, 

Fuentes, and Zerbst. Furthermore, this case presents a significant constitu-

tional issue that is of substantial public interest. RAP l3.4(b )(1 ), (3), and ( 4). 

F. The Supreme Court should accept review, vacate the conviction for 
leading organized crime, and dismiss the charge for insufficient ev­
idence. This case presents a significant constitutional issue that is 
of substantial public interest. RAP 13 .4(b )(3) and ( 4 ). 

Due process requires the state to prove every element of an offense 

beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; In re Winship, 397 

U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. I 068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). To convict Mr. Potts 

of leading organized crime, the prosecution was required to prove, inter 

alia, that he intentionally organized, managed, directed, supervised, or fi-

nanced "three or more persons, to wit: Joe Helsley, Angelita Llanes, and 

Christian Velasquez," acting "with the intent to engage in a pattern of 

criminal profiteering activity." CP 1397; RCW 9A.82.060. 

In this case, Mr. Potts did not lead three people in a pattern of prof-

iteering activity, because he had no knowledge of Velasquez's involve­

ment. Accordingly, the evidence was insufficient to convict him of leading 

organized crime. 

"Nikki" and "Alfredo" sent Llanes to Cowlitz County. They in­

structed her to take over from Mr. Potts. RP 2208-2211, 2217, 2225-2226. 

Mr. Potts told both Helsley and Llanes he was retiring from the drug busi-
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ness. RP 2227, 2262-2263. He rented a house for Llanes, apparently at the 

direction ofNikki and Alfredo. RP 2218, 2221. He introduced Helsley to 

Llanes. RP 2214-2215,2225. Once he'd made the introduction, Mr. Potts 

had no further involvement with either Helsley or Llanes. 

Helsley and Llanes remained in contact. They met twice after 

they'd been introduced. RP 2086-2092, 2164-2166. Mr. Potts had no in­

volvement in arranging these meetings, and was not present for either of 

them. RP 2086-2092, 2228-2229. Although he passed on Nikki and Alfre­

do's instruction that they should work together, he was not specifically 

aware of each impending transaction. RP 2164-2166. Llanes had been in­

structed by Nikki and Alfredo to stay in Cowlitz county until her replace­

ment arrived. RP 2228. Her replacement, Velasquez, arrived in time to be 

present for her August 1 01h deal with Helsley. RP 2221, 2228. 

The state presented no evidence indicating that Mr. Potts had ever 

met or had any contact with Velasquez. Velasquez had been sent by Nikki 

and Alfredo; he received his instructions from them, not from Mr. Potts. 

RP 2213, 2217, 2221, 2227. Furthermore, although Velasquez was present 

for the August 1 01
h transaction, there is no indication that he was an ac­

complice to that transaction, because the state proved no more than his 

knowledge and presence. RP 2400, 2437-2439. 

Even if Llanes worked with Velasquez, an indirect interaction 

would not be sufficient to sustain a conviction for leading organized 

crime. The statute does not allow for accomplice liability. RCW 

9A.82.060; State v. Hayes, 164 Wn.App. 459,470, 262 P.3d 538 (2011). 
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The state was required to prove that Mr. Potts personally organized, man-

aged, directed, supervised, or financed all three subordinates, including 

Velasquez. The prosecution offered no proofthat Mr. Potts had any per­

sonal involvement with Velasquez.49 Hayes, 164 Wn.App. at 470; RCW 

9A.82.060. 

The Court of Appeals erroneously concluded that the evidence was 

sufficient. This conclusion was apparently based on vague statements Mr. 

Potts made about the future, and Llanes's use of the plural pronoun "us." 

Op., p. 34. This evidence was insufficient. 

Even when taken in a light most favorable to the prosecution, Mr. 

Potts's statement that "some other people were going to take over" does 

not prove that he knew that a second person had already joined Llanes 

from out-of-state and was helping her with drug sales. Op., p. 34 (citing 

RP 2262-2263). The same is true of his recorded statement that he had to 

get money for the people coming from California-even when combined 

with Llanes's reference to "us" and to "the person who was going to come 

and stay, and work." Op., p. 34 (citing RP 2218). This evidence shows that 

Mr. Potts expected someone other than Llanes to come in the future. It 

does not show that he was "[i]ntentionally organizing, managing, direct-

ing, supervising, or financing any three or more persons." RCW 

9A.82.060(l)(a). 

49 This issue was of concern to the jury, which asked "Docs the word 'direct' require one on 
one interaction or can it be through an intermediary?" CP 14l!l. The defense proposed 
instructions intended to address this issue; however, the court rejected them. CP 14l!l; RP 
2652-2653. 
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Llanes arrived in Washington by herself. RP 2208, 2225-2226. Mr. 

Potts did not meet with anyone else from her organization: in fact, no evi-

dence shows that Mr. Potts even knew Velasquez had arrived by the time 

of the final transaction. No rational trier of fact could find that Mr. Potts 

organized, managed, directed, supervised, or financed Velasquez in the 

delivery of controlled substances for profit. Even if the evidence proved 

that he was guilty of leading Helsley and Llanes, the state failed to prove 

that Mr. Potts also knew about and had authority over Velasquez. CP 

1396-1397. 

The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that the state 

presented insufficient evidence to convict Mr. Potts of leading organized 

crime. The conviction in count one must be reversed and the charge dis-

missed with prejudice. State v. DeVries, 149 Wn.2d 842, 853-54, 72 P.3d 

748 (2003). This case presents a significant constitutional issue that is of 

substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). 

G. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that the court's 
instructions relieved the state of its burden to prove the elements of 
leading organized crime. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts 
with this court's decision in Kyllo. In addition, this case presents a 
significant constitutional issue that is of substantial public interest. 
RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4). 

Jury instructions must make the law "manifestly apparent" to the 

average juror. State v. Smith, 174 Wn.App. 359, 369, 298 P.3d 785, 791 

(20 13) (Smith I) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting State v. Kyllo, 

166 Wn.2d 856, 864, 215 P.3d 177 (2009)). Instructions that relieve the 
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state of its burden to prove every element beyond a reasonable doubt ere-

ate reversible error. U.S. Canst. Amend. XIV; State v. Kindell, 181 

Wn.App. 844, 850, 326 P.3d 876 (2014). 

To obtain a conviction for leading organized crime, the state had to 

prove that Mr. Potts intentionally organized, managed, directed, super-

vised, or financed "three or more persons" acting "with the intent to en-

gage in a pattern of criminal profiteering activity." CP 1397; RCW 

9A.82.060. A person may not be convicted of leading organized crime as 

an accomplice. Hayes, 164 Wn.App. at 470. 

Instead, the state must show that the defendant personally orga­

nized, managed, directed, supervised, or financed his or her three subordi­

nates. Id. Here, evidence suggested that Mr. Potts lead two people, who 

joined a third person-either on their own initiative, or at the direction of 

Nikki and Alfredo. This evidence should have been insufficient. Hayes, 

164 Wn.App. at 470; RCW 9A.82.060. However, the jury was not clearly 

instructed that they could not convict if Llanes and Helsley joined Ve­

lasquez on their own or because they were told to by Nikki and Alfredo 

without Mr. Potts's knowledge. 

The court's instructions did not make this standard "manifestly ap­

parent." Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d at 864. 50 Instead, the instructions left jurors 

50 Mr. Potts proposed a number of instructions intended to make this manifestly clear. CP 
1367, 1370, 1374, 1375. He took exception when the court refused his proposals. CP 1397, 
1405; RP 2545-2546. The court's approach did not solve the problems anticipated by Mr. 
Potts, as can be seen from the jury's question. CP 14HL Jurors asked the court to explain if 
the word "direct" required "one on one interaction," or if it could be "through an 

(Continued) 
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with the impression that Mr. Potts could be convicted of leading organized 

crime as an accomplice. 

The problem was not resolved by language that conviction re­

quired proof "that the defendant was a leader of a criminal profiteering 

organization, not just a member." CP 1397. The instruction did not tell 

jurors how to decide the case if Mr. Potts was both "the leader of a crimi­

nal profiteering organization" that included Llanes and Helsley, while also 

being 'just a member" of a larger organization which included Velasquez 

but was operated by Nikki and Alfredo from another state. 

Nor did the court's accomplice instruction resolve the issue. CP 

1405. Although the instruction specifically advanced the prosecutor's the­

ory (that Mr. Potts was an accomplice to the August lOth drug crimes), it 

did not prohibit the jury from using the definition when considering the 

leading organized crime charge. CP 1405. Instead, it placed no limits on 

the definition. CP 1405. 

The court's instructions relieved the state of its burden to prove the 

essential elements of leading organized crime. 51 A reasonable juror could 

convict Mr. Potts if they found that he led only two people-Llanes and 

intcnncdiary." CP 1418. The judge again refused Mr. Potts's request to tell jurors "that the 
direction cannot be done through an intcnncdiary." RP 2652. 

51 The state must prove hannlcssncss beyond a reasonable doubt in order to overcome the 
presumption that constitutional error is prcj udicial. Stale v. Walt, 160 Wn.2d 626, 635, 160 
P.3d 640 (2007). Constitutional error is hannlcss only if it is trivial, fonnal, or merely 
academic, if it is not prejudicial to the accused person's substantial rights, and if it in no way 
affected the final outcome of the case. City ofBellevue v. Lorang, 140 Wn.2d 19, 32, 992 
P.2d 496 (2000). The error here is presumed prejudicial, and the state cannot establish 
hannlcss error under the stringent test for constitutional error. Wall, 160 Wn.2d at 635. 
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Helsley-while Nikki or Alfredo independently led Velasquez (or while 

Llanes and Velasquez joined together on their own initiative.) 

Despite the ambiguity in the instructions, the Court of Appeals af-

firmed. The court concluded that the instructions were "accurate" and "not 

misleading." Op., p. 39. But this is not the same as saying the instructions 

were "manifestly apparent" to the average juror. 52 Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d at 

864. 

The Court of Appeals applied the wrong legal standard. The Su-

preme Court should accept review, reverse Mr. Potts's conviction for lead-

ing organized crime, and remand the charge for a new trial with proper 

instructions. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Kyllo. In addi-

tion, this case presents a significant constitutional issue that is of substan-

tial public interest. RAP 13 .4(b )(1 ), (3 ), and ( 4). 

H. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that the prose­
cutor committed reversible misconduct by telling jurors that their 
verdict could rest on speculation. This case presents a significant 
constitutional issue that is of substantial public interest. RAP 
13.4(b)(l ), (3), and (4). 

A prosecutor commits misconduct by making improper statements 

that prejudice the accused. In re Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 704, 286 P.3d 

673 (20 12). Prosecutorial misconduct can deprive the accused of a fair tri-

al, in violation of due process. Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 703-04; U.S. 

52 The Court of Appeals also erroneously burdened Mr. Potts with the obligation to show 
prejudice. Op., p. 39. Because the instructions were not manifestly clear, prejudice is 
presumed. State v. Wall, 160 Wn.2d 626,635, 160 P.3d 640 (2007). 
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Canst. Amends. VI, XIV, Wash. Canst. art. I, §22. A prosecutor's improp­

er statements prejudice the accused if they create a substantial likelihood 

that the verdict was affected. Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 704. The inquiry 

must look to the misconduct and its impact, not the evidence that was 

properly admitted. Id. at 711. 

The state's argument "must be confined to the law as set forth in 

the instructions given by the court." State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 

760,675 P.2d 1213 (1984). A prosecutor's misstatement regarding the law 

is "a serious irregularity having the grave potential to mislead the jury." 

Id., at 763. This is especially true when the misstatement mischaracterizes 

the presumption of innocence, the burden of proof, and the reasonable 

doubt standard. See, e.g., State v. Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423, 434-438, 326 

P.3d 125 (2014); Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 713. 

Here, after defense counsel pointed out that conviction on count 

one required jurors to speculate, the prosecutor argued "[t]here's another 

word for speculation, and the word is circumstantial." RP 2624, 2627. 

This was misconduct for three reasons. 

First, the prosecutor's argument was not "confined to the law as set 

forth in the instructions." Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 760. Second, it was con­

trary to law: even in civil cases "a verdict may not be founded on mere 

theory or speculation." Helman v. Sacred Heart Hasp., 62 Wn.2d 136, 

148, 381 P.2d 605 (1963). Third, the argument undermined the presump­

tion of innocence, the burden of proof, and the reasonable doubt standard. 

Allowing a conviction to rest on mere speculation relieves the state of its 
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burden to prove each element beyond a reasonable doubt. An accused per-

son is not presumed innocent if a conviction can rest on speculation. 

The court compounded the problem here by refusing to sustain de­

fense counsel's objection to the misconduct. 53 RP 2627; State v. Gonzales, 

111 Wn.App. 276, 283-284, 45 P.3d 205 (2002). This had the effect of 

"giving additional credence to the argument." Jd. In addition, the prosecu-

tor told jurors "don't take my word for it; there is a jury instruction." RP 

2627. This implied that the instruction supported his argument; it did not 

contradict this position, even though (in a vacuum) it is an accurate state-

ment ofthe law. CP 1391. 

Under these circumstances, there is a substantial likelihood that the 

misconduct affected the verdict on counts one, five, and six. Glasmann, 

175 Wn.2d at 704. The state presented no evidence linking Mr. Potts to 

Velasquez. The prosecutor's misconduct encouraged jurors to improperly 

speculate that some connection existed. Similarly, by equating circumstah-

tial evidence with speculation, the state improperly urged jurors to specu­

late that Mr. Potts had some link to the August 1 01h incidents, despite the 

absence of any evidence establishing such a link. 

The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that the prose-

cutor committed misconduct by equating circumstantial evidence with 

speculation. RP 2627. This violated Mr. Potts's due process right to a fair 

53 Instead of telling jurors to disregard the prosecutor's misstatement, the court merely 
reminded jurors to "refer to the jury instructions as to any definitions of the law." RP 2627. 
This comment was insufficient, because the instruction defining circumstantial evidence 
could be read by jurors to allow reasonable speculation. CP 1391. 
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trial. Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 703-04. 

The error was prejudicial, and the court's failure to sustain the de-

fense objection, or to instruct jurors to disregard the improper comments 

compounded it. Gonzales, 111 Wn.App. at 283-284. There is a substantial 

likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury's verdicts on counts one, 

five, and six. Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 704. The convictions on those 

counts must be reversed and the charges remanded for a new trial. !d. 

This case presents a significant constitutional issue that is of sub-

stantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(l), (3), and (4). 

I. The Supreme Court should accept review and vacate Mr. Potts's 
exceptional sentence because, by its plain terms, the "major viola­
tion" aggravating factor does not apply to leading organized crime. 
This case presents an issue of statutory construction that is of sub­
stantial public interest. RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ). 

Statutory construction is an issue of law, reviewed de novo. Ru-

valcaha v. Kwang Ho Baek, 175 Wn.2d 1, 6, 282 P.3d 1083 (2012). In in-

terpreting a statute, the court must "discern and implement the legisla-

ture's intent." State v. Williams, 171 Wn.2d 474,477,251 P.3d 877 

(2011). The court's inquiry "always begins with the plain language ofthe 

statute." State v. Christensen, 153 Wn.2d 186, 194, 102 P.3d 789 (2004). 

The court may not add language to a clearly worded statute, even if 

it believes the legislature intended more. In re Detention ofMartin, 163 

Wn.2d 501, 509, 182 P.3d 951 (2008). A court may not rewrite a statute 

even if the legislature intended something else but failed to express it ade-

quately. Martin, 163 Wn.2d at 509. The judiciary may only correct incon-
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sistencies that render a statute meaningless. Martin, 163 Wn.2d at 512-513 

(citations omitted). 

The legal justification for an exceptional sentence is reviewed de 

novo. State v. Stubbs, 170 Wn.2d 117, 123-24, 240 P.3d 143 (2010). RCW 

9.94A.535 sets forth an exclusive list of aggravating factors that can sup­

port a sentence above the standard range. A sentence may be enhanced if 

"the current offense was a major violation ofthe Uniform Controlled Sub-

stances Act, chapter 69.50 RCW (VUCSA) ... " RCW 9.94A.535(e) (em­

phasis added). 

Leading organized crime is not a violation of the Uniform Con­

trolled Substances Act. The offense is criminalized outside of RCW 69.50. 

RCW 9A.82.060. Despite this, the jury was allowed to return a verdict 

(over objection) finding that Mr. Potts's conviction in count one was a rna-

jor violation ofthe Uniform Controlled Substances Act. CP 1422; RP 

2546. The aggravating factor must be stricken, the exceptional sentence 

vacated, and the case remanded for a new sentencing hearing. Stubbs, 170 

Wn.2d 131. 

The Court of Appeals ignored the statute's plain language, instead 

concluding that the statute "clearly applies to leading organized crime." 

Op., p. 49. This was error. The Supreme Court should accept review and 

vacate Mr. Potts's exceptional sentence. This case presents an issue of 

substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

J. The Supreme Court should accept review and reverse Mr. Potts's 
convictions because the evidence used to convict him included il-
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legal recordings made in violation ofthe Privacy Act. This case 
presents an issue that is of substantial public interest. RAP 
13.4(b)(4). 

Questions of statutory interpretation are reviewed de novo. Ru-

valcaba, 175 Wn.2d at 6. Washington's Privacy Act must be strictly con­

strued in favor of the right to privacy. State v. Williams, 94 Wn.2d 531, 

548, 617 P.2d 1012 (1980) (Williams II); see also Christensen, !53 Wn.2d 

at 20 I. A conviction based in part on a violation of the Privacy Act must 

be reversed unless, "within reasonable probability, the erroneous admis-

sion of the evidence did not materially affect the outcome of the trial." 

Christensen, !53 Wn.2d 186 at 200. 

The Privacy Act "puts a high value on the privacy of communica-

tions." Christensen, 153 Wn.2d 186 at 201. An accused person has stand-

ing to object to any violation of the Privacy Act, so even if the accused did 

not participate in the illegally recorded conversation. Williams II, 94 

Wn.2d at 544-46. 

If violated, the act requires suppression, even including "any evi­

dence obtained, including simultaneous visual observation and assertive 

gestures." RCW 9.73.050; State v. Fjermestad, 114 Wn.2d 828,836, 791 

P .2d 897 ( 1990). Where police make a "genuine effort" to comply with the 

act, courts will suppress the illegal recordings but not other information 

obtained through the violation. 54 State v. Jimenez, 128 Wn.2d 720, 724-

54 The Court of Appeals has created an additional exception, allowing admission of the 
recording itself if the violation involves a post-transaction reporting requirement and if police 
have substantially complied with the requirement. S!ale v. Knighl, 79 Wn.App. 670, 685, 904 
p .2d 1159 (1995). 

(Continued) 
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725,911 P.2d 1337 (1996). Otherwise, the illegal recordings violate RCW 

9.73.030, and thus require suppression of"any information" obtained. 

RCW 9.73.050. 

The Privacy Act allows police to intercept, transmit, or record a 

communication based on the consent of one party, if certain conditions are 

met. RCW 9.73.230. State v. Smith, 85 Wn.App. 381, 388, 932 P.2d 717 

(1997) (Smith II). A senior officer can authorize a wire based on one par-

ty's consent if probable cause exists to believe a conversation or commu-

nication will involve the delivery or sale of a controlled substance. RCW 

9.73.230(1). The authorizing officer must contemporaneously prepare and 

sign a report outlining probable cause, and indicating, among other things, 

(b) The names of the authorizing and consenting parties ... 
(d) The identity of the particular person or persons, if known, who 
may have committed or may commit the offense; [and] 
(e) The details of the particular offense or offenses that may have 
been or may be committed and the expected date, location, and ap­
proximate time of the conversation or communication ... 

RCW 9.73.230(2). The agency must file a monthly report with the admin-

istrator for the courts "indicating the number of authorizations granted, the 

date and time of each authorization, interceptions made, arrests resulting 

from an interception, and subsequent invalidations." RCW 9.73.230(6). 

In this case, Mr. Potts sought suppression of"any and all" evi­

dence derived from Captain Huhta's intercept authorizations. He argued 

that the authorizations "have not met the requirements of the [sic] RCW 
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9.73.230."55 CP 70-76, 380-389. 

1. When he recorded telephone calls in addition to face-to-face 
conversations, Epperson exceeded the scope ofthe authori­
zations granted by Captain Huhta. 

Mr. Potts sought suppression arguing that the interceptions, trans-

missions, and recordings exceeded the scope of each authorization. CP 70, 

72, 380, 384, 569, 744; RP 499-517. The trial court should have granted 

his motions. 

The authorizations signed by Captain Huhta described only in­

person conversations between Helsley and Mr. Potts. In each, Huhta out­

lined a "case plan" which involved Helsley "wearing a body wire and/or 

digital recording device when he/she meets with Potts." CP 669, 673, 678, 

683 (emphasis added). 56 Helsley would then "attempt to purchase meth-

amphetamine from Potts," making "every effort to conduct the transaction 

in Cowlitz County." CP 669, 673, 678, 683. 57 

Nothing in any of the authorizations specifically permitted the po-

lice to record any telephone conversations; instead, the authorizations con-

55 Because Mr. Potts sought suppression based on a violation ofRCW 9.73.230, the state 
bore the burden of establishing compliance. Mr. Potts's motions arc sufficient to preserve for 
appellate review any issue relating to a violation ofRCW 9.73.230, even though he also 
made specific arguments regarding violation of various provisions of the statute. C'(Smith II, 
85 Wn.App. at 386. However, if the issues arc not preserved, they should still be reviewed 
on their merits for the first time on appeal, as argued elsewhere in this brief. 

56 The authorizations used identical language in outlining the "case plan." 

57 The case plan described in the authorization omitted details from the "operation plan" set 
forth in Detective Epperson's "Media Reports." The "operation plan" clearly contemplated 
that Helsley "would make a phone call to Potts and set up the meeting," and that "[t]his 
phone call would be recorded." CP 580. 
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templated that Helsley would "meet[] with" Mr. Potts. CP 669, 673, 678, 

683. The only devices mentioned were the body wire and a digital record-

ing device; no reference was made to equipment that could record a tele-

phone conversation. CP 669, 673, 678, 683. Despite this, the police rec­

orded multiple telephone conversations on each day. RP 1992-2012, 2030-

2037, 2044-2048, 2054-2058. These recordings exceeded the scope of the 

authorizations. CP 669, 673, 678, 683. 

The Court of Appeals failed to properly address this error. 58 The 

court erroneously treated Mr. Potts's argument as an objection to the num-

ber of conversations recorded. Op., p. 42. But Mr. Potts does not argue 

that police exceeded the number of conversations authorized: he argues 

that the authorization covered only in-person conversations, not telephonic 

conversations. Because the police exceeded the scope of the authorization, 

they failed to strictly comply with RCW 9.73.230. The trial court should 

have suppressed the recordings and any related information. 59 Fjermestad, 

114 Wn.2d at 836. 

2. The trial court should have suppressed the recordings and 
"any information" obtained during the August 1 otn transac­
tion. 

Mr. Potts moved for suppression of "any and all" evidence ob-

tained as a result of a violation of the Privacy Act, including violations 

5s The trial court also failed to properly address the issue when it denied Mr. Potts's motion. 
RP 522-523. 

59 In the alternative, if the officers' behavior can be seen to reflect a genuine effort to comply, 
then the court should have suppressed the recordings. Jimenez, 12g Wn.2d 720, 724-725. 
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occurring on August 10, 2012.6° CP 70, 72. The prosecutor announced that 

he was unable to find any documents showing compliance for the August 

lOth transactions. RP 518. 

In light of Mr. Potts's motion, and in the absence of any evidence 

showing "genuine efforts" regarding the August 1 01h transactions, the trial 

court should have suppressed all related evidence, not merely the record-

ings themselves. RCW 9.73.050; Fjermestad, 114 Wn.2d at 836. Instead, 

the court excluded only "whatever was recorded." RP 525. The court de­

nied Mr. Potts's repeated requests to exclude the additional information 

obtained, as required under RCW 9. 73.050. RP 524-526. 

Because the trial court excluded only the recordings, Mr. Potts's 

convictions on counts one, five, and six must be reversed. Fjermestad, 114 

Wn.2d at 836. The August lOth transaction was the basis for count five, 

and led to the discovery of the methamphetamine in count six. CP 877-

878; RP 2064-2067. It was also central to the charge ofleading organized 

crime. The August lOth transaction was the only incident involving Chris­

tian Velasquez, the third person Mr. Potts allegedly organized, managed, 

directed, supervised, or financed. Under the state's theory, the August lOth 

deal was also part ofthe "pattern of criminal profiteering activity" requir-

ing conviction of leading organized crime. CP 876-877; RP 2061-2072. 

Police violated the Privacy Act, and the state failed to show a 

"genuine effort" to comply. Jimenez, 128 Wn.2d at 724-725. Accordingly, 

60 Although Mr. Potts was not a participant in the August I 0 transactions, he has standing to 
assert any violation that occurred. Williams, 94 Wn.2d at 544-46. 
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Mr. Potts's convictions on counts one, five, and six must be reversed. Any 

information related to the August l01
h transaction must be suppressed, and 

the case remanded for a new trial. Fjermestad, 114 Wn.2d at 836. 

3. The authorizations did not adequately describe the anticipat­
ed location of each communication or conversation. 

The Privacy Act requires the authorization to outline "the expected 

date, location, and approximate time of the conversation or communica-

tion." RCW 9. 73.230(2)(e). When police have specific information on 

these matters, a more general description will not suffice. Smith I, 85 

Wn.App. at 386-390. 

The Smith court reviewed a simliarly general description. There, 

the deal was to occur at a specific apartment, but the application only said 

"within an unknown area yet to be determined by the suspects or detec-

tives; believed at this time to take place within the greater [S]eattle, [K]ing 

[C]ounty area." Smith II, 85 Wn.App. at 388. The court concluded that the 

authorization "fail[ ed] to fulfill the statutory requirement to provide in-

formation as to the expected location of the communication to be record­

ed," because the police neglected to mention the apartment. 61 !d. 

Similarly, in this case, the July authorizations described the loca­

tion as "Longview," and indicated that Helsley would "make every effort 

61 The court contrasted this with another authorization, in which police did not learn of the 
planned meeting place until an hour after the authorization issued. Under these 
circumstances, the Smith II court found sufficient the authorization's boilerplate language 
identifying the location as somewhere in King County. Smith II. X5 Wn.App. at 3X9-390. 
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to conduct the transaction in Cowlitz County." CP 668, 669, 673, 674, 

678, 679, 683, 684. The authorizations made no mention of the Dairy 

Queen, or of any of the addresses associated with Mr. Potts. CP 668-669, 

673-674,678-679,683-684. 

On each occasion, police planned to have Helsley suggest a meet-

ing at the Dairy Queen. 62 RP 1990, 1993, 1994-1997, 2012, 2030; CP 580-

582, 586, 604. Detective Epperson described the Dairy Queen as "theta­

geted [sic] meeting location" for the July 181h operation. CP 580. Sgt. 

Hartley noted that the "investigative plan" on both July 18th and July 24th 

"called for the CI to meet with Potts at the Longview Dairy Queen restau­

rant." CP 586, 604. When Helsley spoke with Mr. Potts on the phone on 

July 3 Pt, he told him that he "was by the Dairy Queen." CP 600, 613; RP 

2011. 

Under these circumstances, each authorization should have indi-

cated the plan to record conversations or communications at the Dairy 

Queen.63 As in Smith II, police failed to strictly comply with the require-

ments ofRCW 9.73.230. Smith II, 85 Wn.App. at 388. By listing the loca-

tion as "Longview" or "Cowlitz County," Detective Epperson and Captain 

Huhta did not provide specific information available at the time of the au-

thorization. !d. 

62 Police also knew of several addresses they associated with Mr. Potts, all of which were 
surveilled, but not mentioned in the authorization. RP 2038, 2054, 2058-2059, 2178-2181, 
2261, 2299; CP 585,618,619. 

63 The authorizations should also have listed the other locations associated with Mr. Potts, 
given the possibility that some conversations or communications would take place at his 
house or his business addresses. 
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Because police failed to strictly comply with the Privacy Act, the 

court should have suppressed "any information" relating to the recorded 

operations. C\4 RCW 9.73.050; Fjermestad, 114 Wn.2d at 836. Mr. Potts's 

convictions on counts one through five must be reversed, the information 

suppressed, and the case remanded for a new trial. !d. 

4. Epperson failed to comply with RCW 9. 73.230(6) because 
his disposition reports did not indicate the time and location 
of each interception, transmission, or recording. 

Following an authorized interception, transmission, or recording, 

the investigating agency must "submit a report including the original au­

thorization ... to a judge of a court having jurisdiction which report shall 

identify ... the date, location, and approximate time of the conversation." 

RCW 9. 73.23 0( 6). The judge must then review the report "[ w ]ithin two 

judicial days of receipt," and must determine whether the act's require-

ments have been met. RCW 9.73.230(7). 

In this case, Detective Epperson submitted brief preprinted reports 

following each of the July transactions (including the recorded telephone 

conversations from July 171h). These pro forma reports did not indicate the 

location or the approximate time of each conversation. CP 670, 675, 680, 

685. This failure to strictly comply with the requirements of RCW 

9.73.230(6) requires suppression of the recordings. Jimenez, 128 Wn.2d at 

724-725. 

64 In the alternative, if the officers' behavior reflects a genuine effort to comply, then the 
court should have suppressed the recordings. Jimenez, 128 Wn.2d 720, 724-725. 
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The Court of Appeals reached the opposite result, relying on 

Moore and Knight. Op., pp. 43-45 (citing State v. Knight, 79 Wn.App. 

670, 904 P.2d 1159 (1995), and State v. Moore, 70 Wn.App. 667, 855 P.2d 

306 ( 1993)). But Moore and Knight were incorrectly decided, and this 

court should not follow those decisions. First, the statute requires strict 

compliance because of the legislature's interest in protecting individual 

privacy rights. Christensen, 153 Wn.2d at 201. Second, the statute protects 

against abuse of the self-authorization procedure by requiring judicial 

oversight. RCW 9. 73.230(7). Third, judicial oversight is frustrated when­

ever police submit reports as vague and incomplete as the ones created by 

Detective Epperson in this case. 

Detective Epperson's "reports" do not include any information on 

what actually happened. They omit completely any reference to the loca­

tion or the approximate time where each conversation or communication 

took place. CP 580-584, 592,596, 599-602, 610,612-615,624-627. The 

reports do not allow a judge to determine how the authorization was exe­

cuted, and thus cannot provide the basis for the judicial oversight required 

by RCW 9.73.230(7). 

The post-transaction reports submitted by Epperson were wholly 

inadequate. Because the police failed to strictly comply with the Privacy 

Act, the evidence should have been excluded. Mr. Potts's convictions 

must be reversed and the charges remanded for a new trial. Jimenez, 128 

Wn.2d at 724-725. 
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5. The recordings made under RCW 9.73.230 should not have 
been admitted to prove count one, because the statute cannot 
be applied to leading organized crime. 

Evidence obtained through the procedures outlined in RCW 

9.73.230 may only be admitted if"the evidence is used in prosecuting an 

offense listed in subsection (l)(b)." RCW 9.73.230(8). Leading organized 

crime is not one of the offenses listed in RCW 9.73.230(l)(b). 

Because of this, the evidence should not have been admitted to 

prove count one. The court should either have excluded the evidence or 

instructed the jury that it was not to be considered in connection with the 

leading organized crime charge. RCW 9.73.230(8); Jimenez, 128 Wn.2d at 

724-725. 

6. If Mr. Potts's motions did not preserve all of his Privacy Act 
arguments, the court should consider Privacy Act violations 
raised for the first time on review. 

The Privacy Act declares that illegally obtained information "shall 

be inadmissible in any civil or criminal case ... " RCW 9. 73.050.65 This 

categorical bar on the use of illegally obtained evidence reflects the legis-

lature's strong desire to protect the privacy of Washington residents, in-

eluding those engaged in criminal activity. Williams II, 94 Wn.2d at 548; 

Christensen, 153 Wn.2d at 201. Indeed, evidence obtained in violation of 

the Privacy Act may not be used even for the purpose of impeachment. 

State v. F~ford, 128 Wn.2d 476,488, 910 P.2d 447 (1996). 

65 See also RCW 9.73.230(8) ("evidence obtained ... shall be admissible only if. .. the court 
fmds that the requirements" of the statute have been met). 
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The robust expression of this sentiment suggests the legislature in-

tended to allow parties to raise Privacy Act violations on review, even ab-

sent objection in the trial court. See RCW 9.73.050. Furthermore, the 

Court of Appeals has discretion to accept review of any issue argued for 

the first time on appeal, including issues that do not implicate a constitu-

tional right. RAP 2.5(a); see State v. Russell, 171 Wn.2d 118, 122, 249 

P.3d 604 (2011). 

Here, Mr. Potts sought the exclusion of any and all evidence ob-

tained in violation ofRCW 9.73.230. CP 70, 72. This put the prosecution 

on notice that it was required to demonstrate compliance with the Privacy 

Act, and should be sufficient to preserve for review all arguments relating 

to that statute. The categorical bar on evidence obtained in violation of the 

Privacy Act, the implied legislative intent to allow review of issues raised 

for the first time on appeal, and the appellate court's inherent authority to 

accept review of any issue, all suggest that the court should address the 

merits of all of Mr. Potts's Privacy Act claims. This includes the argu-

ments he made to the trial judge as well as any arguments presented for 

the first time on review. 

7. If any of the Privacy Act issues are not preserved for appeal, 
Mr. Potts was denied the effective assistance of counsel. 

Ineffective assistance of counsel is an issue of constitutional mag-

nitude that can be raised for the first time on appeal. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d at 

862; RAP 2.5(a)(3). Reversal is required ifcounse1's deficient perfor-
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mance prejudices the accused. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d at 862 (citing Strickland 

v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 

(1984)). 

Counsel's performance is deficient if it (1) falls below an objective 

standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all ofthe circum-

stances and (2) cannot be justified as a tactical decision. U.S. Const. 

Amend. VI; Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d at 862. The accused is prejudiced by coun-

sel's deficient performance if there is a reasonable probability that it af-

fected the outcome ofthe proceedings. !d. 

A defense attorney's failure to challenge the admission of evidence 

constitutes ineffective assistance if ( 1) there is an absence of legitimate 

strategic or tactical reasons for the failure to object; (2) an objection to the 

evidence would likely have been sustained; and (3) the result of the trial 

would have been different had the evidence been excluded. State v. Saun-

ders, 91 Wn.App. 575, 578, 958 P.2d 364 (1998); see also State v. Hen-

drickson, 138 Wn.App. 827, 833, 158 PJd 1257 (2007). 

In this case, defense counsel filed a motion to suppress recordings 

made in violation ofRCW 9.73. 66 CP 380-389. However, counsel did not 

identify all ofthe potential Privacy Act issues. CP 380-389. If Mr. Potts's 

arguments are not preserved, then counsel's performance was deficient. 

The fact that counsel sought suppression of the evidence shows that he 

6li This motion and accompanying memorandum supplemented Mr. Potts's numerous prose 
pleadings on the subject. CP 70, 72, 569, 744. Mr. Potts represented himself at the time of 
the hearing on the motions to suppress. RP 499. 
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was pursuing a strategy of excluding the evidence. Accordingly, counsel's 

failure to argue the correct grounds for suppression cannot be explained as 

a legitimate strategic or tactical choice. Saunders, 91 Wn.App. at 578. 

A successful motion on any of the grounds outlined above would 

have resulted in suppression of the wire recordings, and possibly of any 

contemporaneous observations. Fjermestad, 114 Wn.2d at 836. The wire 

recordings and Helsley's observations were essential to the state's case. 

They provided the basis for the drug crimes charged in counts two through 

six. Absent proof of those transactions, the state would also have been un-

able to obtain a conviction on count one. 

Accordingly, counsel's failure prejudiced Mr. Potts. His convic-

tions must be reversed for ineffective assistance of counsel. Saunders, 91 

Wn.App. at 578; Fjermestad, 114 Wn.2d at 836. 

8. The Supreme Court should accept review. 

The evidence used to convict Mr. Potts included illegal recordings 

made in violation of the Privacy Act. The Supreme Court should accept 

review, reverse Mr. Potts's convictions, suppress the evidence, andre-

mand the case for a new trial. This case presents issues that are of substan-

tial public interest. RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ). 

K. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that the trial 
court violated Mr. Potts's right to a speedy trial by keeping him in 
custody for nine months without an "actual arraignment." This 
case presents an issue that is of substantial public interest. RAP 
13 .4(b )( 4 ). 
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The application of a court rule to a specific set of facts is a ques-

tion oflaw reviewed de novo. State v. Chavez-Romero, 170 Wn.App. 568, 

577, 285 P.3d 195 (2012) review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1023, 299 P.3d 1171 

(20 13). Denial of a motion to dismiss for speedy trial purposes is reviewed 

for abuse of discretion. !d. A court necessarily abuses its discretion when 

it fails to apply the correct legal standard. Hidalgo v. Barker, 176 

Wn.App. 527, 309 P.3d 687 (2013). 

Although not explicit, the "right to an arraignment and plea ... is 

within [the] spirit" of the constitution. State v. Hamshaw, 61 Wash. 390, 

392, 112 P. 379 (1910). If a court is to "acquir[e] jurisdiction in the man-

ner sanctioned by the Constitution and the statutes," it must arraign an ac-

cused person and take her or his plea. Jd. More than 150 years ago, Wash-

ington's Territorial Court reversed a conviction and ordered a prisoner re-

leased because the lower court "erred in permitting the cause to be tried 

before the plea of not guilty had been entered." Palmer v. United States, l 

Wash. Terr. 5, 5-6 (1854).67 

Under federal law, "an arraignment is a sine qua non to the trial it-

self-the preliminary stage where the accused is informed of the indict­

ment and pleads to it, thereby formulating the issue to be tried." Hamilton 

v. State ofAla., 368 U.S. 52, 55 n. 4, 82 S.Ct. 157, 7 L.Ed.2d 114 (1961). 

Prior to 1914, both the common law and the constitution required ar-

raignment as a prerequisite to a valid conviction: 

67 Although decided on statutory grounds, the Palmer case illustrates the historic importance 
attached to arraignment. 
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[D]ue process oflaw requires that the accused plead, or be ordered 
to plead, or, in a proper case, that a plea of not guilty be filed for 
him, before his trial can rightfully proceed; and the record of his 
conviction should show distinctly, and not by inference merely ... 

Crain v. United States, 162 U.S. 625, 645, 16 S.Ct. 952,40 L.Ed. 1097 

( 1896), overruled by Garland v. State of Washington, 232 U.S. 642, 34 

S.Ct. 456, 58 L.Ed. 772 (1914). 

CrR 4.1 requires arraignment of a jailed accused within 14 days of 

the filing ofthe Information. CrR 4.1(a). When a party objects, the court 

must "establish and announce the proper date of arraignment." CrR 4.1 (b). 

The date announced by the court "shall constitute the arraignment date for 

purposes of CrR 3.3," the speedy trial rule. 

Under CrR 3.3(c)(l), the initial commencement date "shall be the 

date of arraignment as determined under CrR 4.1." But the initial trial date 

must be set with reference to the "actual arraignment" date, not a construe-

tive arraignment date established under CrR 4.1: "[t]he court shall, within 

15 days of the defendant's actual arraignment ... or at the omnibus hear-

ing, set a date for trial which is within the time limits prescribed by this 

rule." CrR 3.3(d)(1) (emphasis added). The prescribed time limit for an 

accused person held in jail is 60 days. CrR 3.3(b)(l). 

A prosecuting attorney may seek information relating to "crime or 

corruption" by means of a special inquiry under RCW 10.27.170. The 

judge who serves as a special inquiry judge "shall be disqualified from 

acting as a magistrate or judge in any subsequent court proceeding arising 

from such inquiry ... " RCW 10.27.180. 
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Here, the judge who presided over the Special Inquiry proceedings 

also presided over Mr. Potts's arraignment. RP 1-8; CP 801. oH This was 

contrary to RCW 10.27.180. Accordingly, the court that arraigned Mr. 

Potts did not have jurisdiction to do so.69 RCW 10.27.180. The orders en-

tered by the court-including scheduling orders-were void. See, e.g., 

Buecking v. Buecking, 179 Wn.2d 438, 446, 316 P.3d 999 (2013) cert. de­

nied, 135 S.Ct. 181 (2014). 

Mr. Potts was never properly arraigned on the original Infor­

mation. Instead, Mr. Potts's "actual arraignment"70 occurred on May 23, 

2013, after the state filed an amended Information. CP 778; RP 600-602. 

This was more than nine months after the original Information was filed. 

Mr. Potts, who had already moved for dismissal on speedy trial grounds, 

objected to the untimely arraignment. CP 768; RP 586-588, 592-594, 602. 

Following the untimely arraignment, he renewed his motion to dismiss. 

CP 787, 816, 850. 

Within 15 days of the "actual arraignment" in May of2013, the 

court was required to set an initial trial date "within the time limits pre-

oH The prosecutor claimed that the special inquiry procedure was not used, but did not dispute 
that documents used the phrases "special inquiry" and "special inquiry judge," were assigned 
special inquiry cause numbers, and were signed by the special inquiry judge. See RP 371, 
391,484-488, 586-587, 592-593, 637-640. The court declined to rule whether or not the 
special inquiry subpoena resulted from usc of the special inquiry procedure. RP 650. 

69 The error did not come to light until the state provided Mr. Potts records from the special 
inquiry proceedings, after numerous requests (and the prosecutor's repeated claim that the 
special inquiry procedure had not been used). CP 459,636, 650, 660,709,754,787,816, 
850; RP 391,436-437,490,589, 644. 

7° CrR 3.3. 
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scribed by [CrR 3.3]." CrR 3.3(d)(l). This required the trial to set anini-

tial trial date within 60 days of the constructive arraignment date estab­

lished pursuant to CrR 4.1 ). 71 CrR 3.3(b). In other words, the trial court 

was required to set an initial trial date several months in the past.72 

Because the initial time for trial had already expired when Mr. 

Potts had his "actual arraignment" under CrR 3.3(d)(l), his right to a 

speedy trial was infringed. The Supreme Court should accept review, re-

verse Mr. Potts's convictions, and dismiss the charges with prejudice un-

der CrR 3.3(h). This case presents an issue of substantial public interest 

that should be decided by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

L. The Supreme Court should accept review and suppress all evi­
dence unlawfully seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment and 
Wash. Const. Art. I § 7. 73 This case presents significant constitu­
tional issues of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). 

1. Search warrants must be based on probable cause and must 
describe the items to be seized with particularity. 

Under both state and federal constitutional provisions, search war-

rants must be based on probable cause, and are reviewed de novo. State v. 

71 When Mr. Potts sought dismissal for violation of speedy trial, the court remarked that his 
constructive arraignment date would have been the date he was actually arraigned, on 
August 28, 2012. RP 652. 

72 The court could also have set an initial trial date at the omnibus hearing. CrR 3 .3( d)( I). 
The court did not do so. RP 20-26. 

73 The state did not introduce any of the evidence seized from Mr. Potts's property. CP 
423,726-727. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court in part, suppressing evidence 
seized from places other than Potts Family Motors. Op., p. 47-48, 51. Appellant raises the 
remaining issues here to address the possibility that the state will offer some or all of the 
evidence upon retrial. 
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Lyons, 174 Wn.2d 354,359,275 P.3d 314 (2012); State v. Neth, 165 

Wn.2d 177, 182, 196 P.3d 658 (2008). 74 

An affidavit in support of a search warrant "must state the underly­

ing facts and circumstances on which it is based in order to facilitate a de-

tached and independent evaluation of the evidence by the issuing magis-

trate." State v. Thein, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999). Conclu-

sory statements of an affiant's belief do not support a finding of probable 

cause. ld., at 365. 

Generalizations about what criminals generally do cannot provide 

the individualized suspicion required to justify a search warrant. Thein, 

138 Wn.2d at 147-148. Probable cause requires a nexus between criminal 

activity, the item to be seized, and the place to be searched. Id., at 140. 

A search warrant must also describe the items to be seized with 

sufficient particularity to limit the executing officers' discretion and in-

form the person whose property is being searched what items may be 

seized. State v. Riley, 121 Wn.2d 22,27-29,846 P.2d 1365 (1993); State v. 

Perrone, 119 Wn.2d 538, 545, 834 P.2d 611 ( 1992). The requirement also 

limits law enforcement officials from engaging in a"' general, exploratory 

rummaging in a person's belongings ... "' Id., at 545 (citations omitted). 

The particularity and probable cause requirements are inextricably 

interwoven. Perrone, 119 Wn.2d at 545. A warrant may be overbroad ei-

74 The state constitution provides stronger protection to individual privacy rights than docs 
the Fourth Amendment. U.S. Canst. Amend. IV; Wash Canst.. art. I. §7; State v. Meneese, 
174 Wn.2d 937, 946, 282 P.3d 83 (2012). 
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ther because it authorizes seizure of items for which probable cause does 

not exist, or because it fails to describe items to be seized with sufficient 

particularity. State v. Maddox, 116 Wn.App. 796, 805, 67 P.3d 1135 

(2003). 

2. The warrant was not based on probable cause because the 
affidavit did not establish a nexus between the property 
searched and any evidence of criminal activity. 

Evidence must be suppressed when a search warrant affidavit fails 

to establish a nexus between evidence of alleged criminal activity and the 

place to be searched. Thein, 138 Wn.2d at 140; State v. McReynolds, 104 

Wn.App. 560,570-71, 17 P.3d 608 (2000), as amended on denial ofre-

consideration (Jan. 30, 2001 ). Generalizations will not suffice to establish 

a nexus. Thein, 138 Wn.2d at 147-48. 7
j 

The affidavit in this case established only that Mr. Potts went to 

Potts Family Motors following one delivery. CP 22-27. Nothing in the af­

fidavit established that he held drugs or any other evidence there. CP 22-

27. Neither the informant nor the officers had been inside Potts Family 

Motors. CP 22-27. The affiant's belief that Mr. Potts used Potts Family 

Motors as "a place to keep methamphetamine and proceeds" was based on 

speculation. 76 CP 24, 25. 

75 Thus, for example, "[a]n otriccr's belief that persons who cultivate marijuana often keep 
records and materials in safe houses is not, in our judgment, a sutricicnt basis for the 
issuance of a warrant to search a residence of a person connected to the grow opL'!"ation." 
State v. Olson, 73 Wn.App. 348,357,869 P.2d 110 (1994). 

76 The otriccrs' limited inquiry into Potts Family Motors was wholly insutricicnt to suggest 
that the business was "tlnanccd with proceeds from the sale of methamphetamine," or that it 

(Continued) 
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The Court of Appeals declined to address Mr. Potts's nexus argu­

ment regarding Potts Family Motors. Op., p. 48 n. 26. According to the 

Court of Appeals, any error was harmless. Op., pp. 47, 48. This was error. 

The evidence can be offered at any retrial. Furthermore, the state must re-

turn illegally seized evidence; the Court of Appeals decision allows the 

government to retain Mr. Potts's property. 77 

The Supreme Court should accept review, and hold that the affida-

vit does not establish a nexus between evidence of criminal activity and 

the locations searched. Thein, 138 Wn.2d at 147-48. This case presents a 

significant constitutional issue that is of substantial public interest. RAP 

13.4(b)(3) and (4). 

3. The warrant was not based on probable cause because the 
affidavit did not establish the informant's reliability. 

Washington uses the two-pronged Aguilar-Spinelli7R standard to 

evaluate information from an informant. State v. 0/livier, 178 Wn.2d 813, 

850, 312 P.3d 1 (2013) cert. denied, 135 S. Ct. 72 (2014). The affidavit 

must show an informant's knowledge and reliability so the magistrate can 

was "used to facilitate the sale and distribution of methamphetamine." CP 25. The officers 
sought information about the business's revenue from the Employment Security Department, 
rather than the Department of Revenue. CP 24. They did not investigate alternative sources 
of income such as business loans. CP 24. Furthermore, although "[m]any of the cars" 
remained unsold over a three-month period, this docs not indicate the business was a mere 
front for illegal activity. CP 24. The ofticcrs did not make any attempt to compare the 
estimated sales to those of other comparable businesses. CP 24. 

77 Mr. Potts moved the trial court for return of his property. See, e.g., CP 558. 

?X Aguilar v. Texas, 378 U.S. 108, 84 S.Ct. 1509, 12 L.Ed.2d 723 (1964), ahrogated hy 
lllinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 103 S. Ct. 2317, 76 L. Ed. 2d 527 (1983) and Spinelli v. 
United States. 393 U.S. 410, 89 S.Ct. 584, 21 L.Ed.2d 637 (1969). 
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"determine whether the informant has trut~/idly related the facts." State v. 

Mejia, 111 Wn.2d 892, 896, 766 P.2d 454 (1989) (emphasis in original). 

Where the informant's identity is not revealed, courts require 

"heightened demonstrations of reliability." State v. Rodriguez, 53 

Wn.App. 571, 575-576, 769 P.2d 309 ( 1989); see also Ollivier, 178 Wn.2d 

at 850. Where an informant is acting out of self-interest, there is a risk that 

she or he has a motive to falsify. State v. Aase, 121 Wn.App. 558, 568, 89 

P.3d 721 (2004); State v. Cole, 128 Wn.2d 262, 287-88, 906 P.2d 925 

(1995). 

Here, Helsley was not named in the affidavit; accordingly, the affi­

ant was required to demonstrate heightened reliability. CP 22-27. Helsley 

was also motivated by self-interest, since he was hoping for lenient treat­

ment on his own felony charges. CP 23. This could have prompted him to 

be truthful (so that he would actually receive lenient treatment), or it could 

have prompted him to fabricate transactions, so that he could get credit for 

the number of buys he was required to undertake. Although the affiant 

claimed that Helsley had provided other "information into the local distri­

bution of controlled substances, which has been corroborated by other 

sources," the affidavit does not set forth any particular facts to support this 

claim. CP 23; cf State v. Woodall, 100 Wn.2d 74, 76, 666 P.2d 364 

(1983). 

Police could have established Helsley's reliability by conducting 

controlled buys. However, the affidavit does not show that police opera­

tions qualified as "controlled." CP 22-27. The affidavit does not claim that 
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officers monitored the informant's telephone calls or his interactions with 

Mr. Potts. CP 23-26. Although Helsley was searched before and after each 

alleged transaction, the affidavit doesn't indicate that officers kept him 

under surveillance to make sure that he didn't obtain the methampheta­

mine from another source before or after meeting with Mr. Potts. CP 23-

26. This failure precludes a finding of reliability. 

The Court of Appeals erroneously declined to address Mr. Potts's 

reliability argument regarding the search of Potts Family Motors. Op., p. 

47, 48 n. 26. The Supreme Court should accept review, and hold that the 

affidavit failed to demonstrate the heightened reliability required for un-

named informants. This case presents a significant constitutional issue that 

is of substantial public interest. RAP 13 .4(b )(3) and ( 4 ). 

4. The warrant was not based on probable cause because the 
affidavit contained stale information. 

Stale information cannot establish probable cause. Lyons, 174 

Wn.2d at 359-363. In Lyons, a confidential source had provided a tip 

"[ w ]ithin the last 48 hours" regarding an indoor marijuana grow. This did 

not establish probable cause, because the affidavit did not state when the 

source had observed the growing marijuana. !d. 

Here, the affiant indicated that three allegedly controlled buys had 

occurred within the last 30 days. CP 23. This does not establish sufficient 

recency to allow the search of the three different properties. Lyons, 174 

Wn.2d. at 363. 
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Nor can the informant's unverified claim that he'd transacted with 

Mr. Potts twice a week for 18 months establish probable cause to search 

the three properties. CP 23. According to the informant, Mr. Potts always 

conducted business in a car. CP 23. None of the asserted twice-weekly in­

teractions occurred at Potts Family Motors for the entire 18-month period. 

CP 23. 

The Court of Appeals declined to address Mr. Potts's staleness ar­

gument regarding Potts Family Motors. Op., p. 47, 48 n. 26. The Supreme 

Court should accept review, and hold that the affidavit included stale in­

formation, and was insufficient to establish probable cause. Lyons, 174 

Wn.2d at 359-363. This case presents a significant constitutional issue that 

is of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). 

5. The warrant was unconstitutionally overbroad because it au­
thorized police to search for and seize items protected by the 
First Amendment that were not described with sufficient 
particularity and for which the affidavit did not provide 
probable cause. 

Three factors determine whether a warrant is unconstitutionally 

overbroad. State v. Higgins, 136 Wn.App. 87,91-92, 147 P.3d 649 (2006). 

First, probable cause must exist to seize all items of a particular type de-

scribed in the warrant. !d. Second, the warrant must set out objective 

standards by which officers can differentiate items subject to seizure from 

those which are not. !d. Finally, the warrant must describe the items as 

particularly as possible in light of the information available to the gov­

ernment at the time. !d. A search warrant does not meet the particularity 
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requirement if it allows the officer unbridled discretion. State v. Reep, 161 

Wn.2d 808, 815, 167 P.3d 1156 (2007). 

A warrant authorizing seizure of materials protected by the first 

amendment requires close scrutiny to ensure compliance with the particu-

larity and probable cause requirements. Zurcher v. Stanford Daily, 436 

U.S. 54 7, 564, 98 S .Ct. 1970, 56 L.Ed.2d 525 ( 1978); Stanford v. Texas, 

379 U.S. 476, 485, 85 S.Ct. 506, 13 L.Ed.2d 431 (1965); Perrone 119 

Wn.2d at 547. 

Here the warrant authorized a search for and seize the following: 
Personal and/or business books, letters, papers, notes, pictures, 
photographs, video and/or audio cassette tapes, computers, palm 
pilots, cell phones, pagers or documents relating names, addresses, 
telephone numbers, and/or other contact/identification information 
relating to the possession, processing or distribution of controlled 
substances; 

... books, records, receipts, notes, letters, ledgers, and other papers 
relating to the possession, processing, distribution of controlled 
substances, and/or leading organized crime. 

CP 30. 

These items are protected by the first amendment. Accordingly, the 

heightened standards outlined above apply. Stanford, 379 U.S. at 485; 

Perrone, 119 Wn.2d at 547. 

The warrant was overbroad with regard to these materials. First, 

the majority of these broad categories were not actually evidence of a 

crime. Neither the Fourth Amendment nor Wash. Canst. art. I, §7 allow 

police to search for or seize items that are not themselves contraband or 

evidence of a crime, no matter how helpful they might be to the govern-
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ment. See, e.g. United States v. McMurtrey, 705 F.3d 502 (71
h Cir. 2013). 

Second, the affidavit provides no specific information suggesting 

that any materials like those listed would actually be found at Potts Family 

Motors. CP 22-27. 

Third, the warrant did not include any language limiting the offic­

ers in their search through books, letters, papers, etc. Under these circum­

stances, officers were permitted to rummage through any paperwork or 

digital media they found regardless of whether it had anything to do with 

the crimes under investigation. The absence of any limiting language ren­

ders the warrant invalid for failure to comply with the particularity re­

quirement. Riley, 121 Wn.2d at 27. 

The Court of Appeals found that the warrant was not overbroad as 

to its authorization to seize "personal books or papers; books or records," 

and "ledgers." Op., p. 48. This ignores the other materials identified in the 

warrant, including "pictures, photographs, video and/or audio cassette 

tapes, computers, palm pilots, cell phones, [and] pagers." CP 30. 

Furthermore, the court's decision appears to rest on an interpreta­

tion of the warrant that is at odds with "the ordinary rules of grammar, 

such as the last antecedent rule." Sane Transit v. Sound Transit, 151 

Wn.2d 60, 97, 85 P.3d 346 (2004). The Court of Appeals apparently ap­

plied both of the "relating to the possession ... etc.," phrases to the entire 

list of items to be seized. CP 30; Op., p. 48. 

But the absence of a comma preceding each modifying phrase es­

tablishes that each phrase applies only to the last item in each list: "other 
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contact/identification information" and "other papers." CP 30; see Gray v. 

Suttell & Associates, 181 Wn.2d 329, 339, 334 P.3d 14 (2014) (outlining 

the "last antecedent" rule); see also Barnhart v. Thomas, 540 U.S. 20, 26, 

124 S. Ct. 376, 157 L. Ed. 2d 333 (2003) (same). The court's application 

of each modifying phrase to the entire list "is precisely the sort of tele­

scopic interpretation that the last-antecedent rule disfavors: words leaping 

across stretches of text, defying the laws of both gravity and grammar." 

Flowers v. Carville, 310 F.3d 1118, 1124 (9th Cir. 2002). The "relating 

to" phrases cannot be read to modify the entire list. !d. 

The Supreme Court should accept review, and hold that the war-

rant was unconstitutionally overbroad. Perrone, 119 Wn.2d at 547. This 

case presents a significant constitutional issue that is of substantial public 

interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). 

M. The Supreme Court should accept review of arguments raised by 
Mr. Potts in his Statement of Additional Grounds. 

Mr. Potts asks the Supreme Court to accept review of issues raised 

in his Statement of Additional Grounds. 

Issuing magistrate's failure to find probable cause. The court 

should accept review and order suppression of all evidence seized pursu-

ant to the search warrant. The issuing magistrate "inappropriately 'Rubber 

Stamp[ed]' the warrant." SAG, p. 5. The improperly seized items must be 

returned to Mr. Potts. SAG, p. 1-5 (citing CP 57 and Aguilar 378 U.S. at 

111. 
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Red Canoe account. The court should accept review and order re­

turn of Mr. Potts's Red Canoe Account. The trial court's conclusion that 

the seizure was unlawful required return of the property. SAG, pp. 6-8 

(citing State v. Innocenti, 170 Wash. 286, 16 P.2d 439 (1932) and Deeter 

v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 376, 721 P.2d 519 (1986)). 

Privacy Act. The court should accept review and reverse Mr. 

Potts's convictions. The court erroneously admitted evidence obtained in 

violation ofthe Privacy Act, given the state's concession that it could not 

provide the court an authorization for the August 10, 2012 intercept. SAG, 

pp. 9-10. Furthermore, the court should hold that RCW 9. 73.230 allows 

one interception per authorization. SAG, pp. 10-15. The court should over­

rule Forest, relied on by the Court of Appeals in this case, because the 

Forest court failed to properly asses the legislature's intent in enacting 

RCW 9.73.230. SAG, pp. 10-15 (citing State v. Forest, 85 Wn.App. 62, 

930 P.2d 941 (1997)); Op., pp. 40,42 n. 21. In addition, suppression is 

required under Forest. SAG, pp. 15-17. 

Violations of rights to due process, effective assistance of coun­

sel, and access to the courts. The court should accept review of Mr. 

Potts's case, reverse his convictions, and dismiss for violations of his fed­

eral and state constitutional rights to due process (Fourteenth Amend­

ment), to the effective assistance of counsel (Sixth and Fourteenth 

Amendments), and to access the courts (Fourteenth Amendment). SAG, 

pp. 21-27 (citing CJC 2.6, CJC 2.15, RPC, and CrR4.5). 
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Ex parte contact. The court should accept review and hold that 

improper ex parte communication between prosecutor and judge violated 

Mr. Potts's state and federal constitutional rights to due process (Four­

teenth Amendment) and to the effective assistance of counsel (Sixth and 

Fourteenth Amendments). SAG, pp. 28-33 (citing State v. Watson, 155 

Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) and State v. Davis (Davis I), 175 Wn.2d 

287, 290 P.3d 43 (2012)). 

Leading organized crime - due process violations. The court 

should accept review, reverse Mr. Potts's conviction for leading organized 

crime, and dismiss the charge with prejudice. The conviction, the court's 

instructions, and the judge's response to a jury question violated Mr. 

Potts's state and federal constitutional right to due process (Fourteenth 

Amendment). SAG, pp. 37-44 (citing Hayes, supra.) 

School bus route stop enhancement. The court should accept re­

view and vacate the school bus route stop enhancement. Imposition of the 

enhancement violated Mr. Potts's state and federal constitutional right to 

due process (Fourteenth Amendment). SAG, pp. 48-50 (citing RCW 

69.50.435(f)(3), State v. Nunez-Martinez, 90 Wn.App. 250,951 P.2d 823 

(1998), and State v. Davis, 93 Wn.App. 648, 970 P.2d 336 (1999) (Davis 

II)). 

VI. CONCLUSION 

The Supreme Court should accept review, reverse Mr. Potts's con­

victions, order return of his property, and dismiss the case with prejudice. 
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In the alternative, the case must be remanded for a new trial. If the con vic-

tions are not reversed, Mr. Potts's exceptional sentence must be vacated 

and the case remanded for resentencing within the standard range. 

Respectfully submitted September 2, 2016. 
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UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

MELNICK, J.- Sidney Potts appeals his convictions for five counts of violating the uniform 

controlled substances act (UCSA)1 and one count of leading organized crime. We conclude that 

the trial court did not violate Potts's double jeopardy rights by declaring a mistrial or by including 

his multiple convictions on the judgment and sentence, and did not err by denying Potts's CrR 8.3 

motion. We also conclude that the trial court did not violate Potts's time for trial rights, that there 

was sufficient evidence to convict Potts of leading organized crime, that the prosecutor did not 

commit misconduct, and that the trial court did not commit reversible error in its instruction of the 

jury on leading organized crime. We conclude that admission of evidence did not violate the 

Washington privacy act,2 and Potts was not denied effective assistance of counsel. Finally, we 

conclude the trial court did not commit reversible error in its denial of Potts's motion to suppress 

or imposition of an exceptional sentence, and Potts's statements of additional grounds (SAG) does 

not establish grounds for reversal. We affirm Potts's conviction and sentence. 

1 Ch. 69.50 RCW. 

2 Ch. 9.73 RCW. 
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FACTS 

I. OVERVIEW OFF ACTS 

Beginning on July 18, 2012, City of Longview Street Crimes Unit made a number of 

controlled drug buys from Potts. An individual named J.H. agreed to participate in these buys 

after the police arrested J.H. and offered him a deal. J.H. signed a contract to become an informant 

and told the police he could buy from one person, Potts. J.H.'s primary police contact, Detective 

Rocky Epperson, told J.H. his charges would be dropped ifhe assisted in the investigation against 

Potts. 

According to Epperson, the informant contract generally required that the person be 

truthful, not use drugs, set up deals when the police ask, and allow police to search his person, 

house, vehicle, and phone. During Potts's trial, J .H. admitted to using and selling drugs while he 

worked as an informant. Epperson testified that informants do not always comply with the 

contract, and that J.H.'s violations did not surprise him. He also testified that J.H. did not appear 

under the influence during the times he worked with the Street Crimes Unit. 

On July 17, J.H. contacted Potts by phone, with Epperson present. Potts told J.H. he was 

busy and he would call J.H. back. J.H. called Epperson later that night and told him that he and 

Potts were going to meet the next day. On July 18, after a series ofphone calls, J.H. told Potts he 

was at the Dairy Queen restaurant, and Potts said he would be driving a '"66 Oldsmobile" and 

would arrive in a few minutes. 1 OA Report of Proceedings (RP) at 2011. Detective Kevin Sawyer 

followed Potts from Potts's home address to the Dairy Queen. 

The police searched J .H.'s person and vehicle before he met with Potts and found no money 

or contraband. They gave J.H. $1,800 and observed him enter Potts's car shortly after Potts 

arrived. After the two drove a short distance, they went back to the Dairy Queen. J.H. got into his 

2 
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own car and drove to meet the police. The police followed J.H., searched him again, and found 

two ounces of methamphetamine and no money. The police successfully recorded the phone calls 

between J .H. and Potts before the meeting, but the recording device sent with J .H. to record the 

transaction failed. Captain Robert Huhta authorized the recordings. 

On July 24, J.H. arranged another meeting with Potts at the Dairy Queen. Potts told J.H. 

he would drive a blue 1970 Chevelle. The meeting was almost identical to the first. The police 

recorded the phone calls and the transaction between J.H. and Potts. Captain Huhta authorized the 

recordings. 

On July 31, J.H. again contacted Potts. Potts told J.H. to drive to one of Potts's car 

dealerships, the one on Alabama Street. Potts also had a dealership called Potts Family Motors on 

Oregon Way. Police searched J.H., found no drugs or money, and gave him $1,800 for the 

transaction. J.H. met Potts who got into J.H.'s car. 

The police recorded the transaction with Captain Huhta's authorization. Potts told J.H. he 

only had one ounce of methamphetamine and then said, "They're on their way. Then it's going to 

be two or three days if you stay in touch." lOA RP at 2056. Potts instructed J.H. to answer his 

phone when he called because "it will be time to go (inaudible) two or three days, okay?" 1 OA RP 

at 2058. He told J.H., "He was getting out of it, that he was getting out of the business, that he 

was-some other people were going to take over, do his business for him or whatever." lOC RP 

at 2262-63. Potts told J.H. to divide the methamphetamine into quarter ounces, and to charge $150 

for each quarter ounce. Potts told J .H., "Give me a call first (inaudible) so don't be afraid to move 

the shit, okay, as long as you make a hundred bucks an ounce." 1 OA RP at 2057. 

3 
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Potts also inquired about whether other drug dealers were still working, and told J .H. to 

"step up" and to not be afraid to "move shit, as long as you make a hundred bucks an ounce." 1 OA 

RP at 2057. Potts said that he had to get the people money to rent a house when they arrived. J.H. 

drove to the alley behind Potts Family Motors and Potts got out of the car. The police met with 

J .H. and he turned over an ounce of methamphetamine. 

Sometime in late July or early August, Angelita Llanes came to Washington. According 

to her, two people, named Nikki and Alfredo, sent her to Washington from California with four 

pounds of methamphetamine. She understood that Potts was retiring. Llanes was supposed to stay 

in Washington "[u]ntil they were able to send the next person, who was actually going to stay." 

lOB RP at 2217. She was to be paid $1,000 per pound. When she got money, she sent it to Nikki 

and Alfredo "through the bank." 10 BRP at 2217. When she first arrived, she testified, "A friend 

of[Potts]'s loaned us a room," and then Potts rented a house with his friend. lOB RP at 2218. The 

house was for her to stay in "and for the person who was going to come and stay, and work." 1 OB 

RP at 2218. According to Llanes, that person was Christian Velasquez. 

Per instructions, upon her arrival, Potts met Llanes at her hotel. He took her to one of his 

car dealerships, took out two pounds of methamphetamine, instructed her to return to the hotel, cut 

the methamphetamine into ounces, and Potts would call her. Potts then took her around, introduced 

her to buyers, and told her how much to charge for the methamphetamine. Potts also told Llanes 

"who [she] [could] trust and who [she] [could]n't." lOB RP at 2215. J.H. was one ofthe people 

to whom Potts introduced Llanes. 

4 
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When Potts introduced Llanes to J.H., Potts gave J.H. four ounces of methamphetamine. 

J.H. then met with Llanes days later to pay for the methamphetamine; however, he was $150 short. 

Llanes testified that she informed Potts about the shortage and J.H. 's plan to pay. J.H. did not tell 

the police about this first meeting with Llanes at the time. 

On August 10, J .H., with the police's knowledge, arranged to meet Llanes at a Burger King 

restaurant to purchase methamphetamine. Initially, the police believed J.H. had not previously 

met with Llanes. J.H. had informed the police, and Epperson's incident report reflected, that Potts 

gave J.H. Llanes's name and number on August 9, 2012. However, at trial, J.H. confirmed that he 

actually met Llanes when she and Potts came to his house a week before, as described above. 

Llanes, accompanied by Velasquez, went to the Burger King parking lot. Llanes testified 

that Velasquez had been in Washington for two or three days. J.H. got into the backseat of their 

car and gave Llanes money. J.H. asked if the money was going to Potts, and Llanes said yes. She 

delivered J.H. four ounces of methamphetamine. J.H. then left the scene and drove to meet with 

the police. Using a marked car, police officers pulled Llanes and Velasquez over a short distance 

from the Burger King and placed them under arrest. Sawyer obtained a search warrant and 

searched the car. He found a makeup kit containing 247 grams of methamphetamine and a 

considerable amount of money. He also found a pay/owe sheet, or ledger book. 

On the same day, before J.H. met with Llanes, the police arrested Potts. The police applied 

for a search warrant for three properties: Potts Family Motors, Potts's second dealership, and 

Potts's home. Epperson's affidavit in support of the search warrant included all three of Potts's 

addresses, and the search warrant incorporated the affidavit. However, the actual warrant only 

listed Potts Family Motors in the finding of probable cause. 

5 
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On August 15, the State charged Potts with one count ofleading organized crime (count 

I), three counts of violation of the UCSA with delivery within 1,000 feet of a school bus route stop 

(count II, III, V), one count of violating the UCSA with possession within 1,000 feet of a school 

bus route stop (count VI), one count of violating the UCSA with delivery (count IV), and one count 

of money laundering (count VII). The State filed aggravating factors,3 alleging that the current 

offense was a major violation of the UCSA for criminal profiteering. The State ultimately dropped 

the money laundering count. The trial court dismissed the enhancement on count V, and the State 

dismissed the enhancement on count VI. 

II. POTTS'S ARRAIGNMENT 

Potts's arraignment occurred on August 28, before Judge Gary Bashor. Potts pleaded not 

guilty, and the court set trial for October 22. Prior to Potts's arraignment, the State had sought a 

subpoena for documents from the special inquiry judge, who at the time was Judge Bashor. On 

May 23, 2013, Potts filed a motion arguing thatby presiding over his special inquiry proceeding, 

Judge Bashor was disqualified from presiding over his arraignment.4 Potts argued that as a result 

he was never arraigned.5 Judge Warning heard Potts's motion and denied it. He found that Judge 

Bashor was not prevented from holding an arraignment and even if he was, there was no error. 

3 RCW 9.94A.535(3)(e). We note that this statue was amended since Potts's case; however, the 
amendments do not affect this case. 

4 Potts consistently filed his own motions along with his attorney's motions. One judge initially 
was lenient and then disallowed this practice. Another judge allowed it freely. Additionally, Potts 
was represented by several different attorneys throughout the proceedings and was at times pro se. 
As a result, in places it is unclear what motion or decision Potts intends to appeal. 

5 The applicable statute is RCW 10.27.180. 

6 
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Ill. JAIL CALL RECORDINGS 

On October 17, the State filed a motion to appoint a special prosecutor. The basis for the 

motion was that the prosecutor on Potts's case, David Phelan, became aware that members of the 

Street Crimes Unit, namely Sergeant Ray Hartley and Detective Sawyer, had listened to a portion 

of Potts's jail calls. The officers heard conversations between Potts and his attorney at the time, 

Jim Morgan.6 The State also later learned, and added to the request for a special prosecutor, that 

Detective Charlie Meadows had "observed several calls made by ... Potts to an attorney" and that 

he "[did] not recall the date and times, and that he had not discussed this with any other officer at 

the Longview Police Department." Clerk's Papers (CP) at 84. Attorney Jeffrey Sullivan became 

the special prosecutor to investigate the matter. Prior to Sullivan's appointment, the county 

prosecutor issued a memorandum on October 16 instructing all officers to not access inmate-

attorney calls. 

Sullivan and his team obtained telephone records from the jail and learned how the inmate 

phone system worked. They also interviewed officers and employees. The jail recorded all calls 

placed by inmates, except those made to their attorneys. Recording attorney calls was avoided by 

attorneys providing their phone numbers to the jail's staff, who entered the phone numbers into a 

software program. When an inmate made a call, a series of directions on how to place a call played 

and before the call was placed, the inmate heard, "This call is subject to recording and monitoring. 

To continue press 1. To discontinue press 2." CP at 157. The investigation also revealed that 

6 Morgan was Potts's first attorney in this case. He withdrew on October 9, 2012, the day before 
it would have first come to Phelan's attention that Potts was calling on a non-attorney line. For 
the next several weeks, Potts had a string of attorneys who were assigned by the trial court and 
then announced a conflict of interest. Attorneys were assigned and removed on October 11, 16, 
and 18. Ultimately, the court appointed Bruce Hanify on October 25, and Hanify represented Potts 
until March 26, 2013, at which time Potts was prose for several months. 

7 
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anyone receiving a recorded phone call from the jail would hear a warning that said, "Hello, this 

is a collect call from [inmate's name] an inmate at [correction facility]. This call is subject to 

recording and monitoring. To accept this collect call press 1. To refuse this call press 2." CP at 

157. Morgan's phone number was not entered into the computer program as an attorney line until 

after the issue came to the attention of a director from the jail on October 16. Captain Moses then 

added the number as an attorney line. 

The phone system showed what agency listened to a call, but did not specify the individual 

who accessed it. It also indicated the date and time a call was monitored, but not how much of the 

call was monitored. Phelan told the investigators that on or about October 10, a member of the 

Street Crimes Unit told Phelan that he may have heard a phone call between Potts and his attorney. 

The conversation was about Potts not being able to pay Morgan. The investigators then identified 

five officers and one sergeant who admitted to listening to or overhearing calls between Potts and 

Morgan. 

One sergeant, Hartley, told the investigators that he and members of the team had listened 

to many ofPotts'sjail calls since his arrest. He said he had overheard several phone calls between 

Potts and Morgan and as soon as he realized it was Morgan, he hung up. 

Meadows told investigators that he had heard three of Potts's calls to his attorney while 

investigating a different inmate. He stated that he hung up when he realized the calls were to 

Potts's attorney, and remembered that on two occasions Potts was leaving a message asking his 

attorney to call him back. He also recalled that in the other call, Morgan was telling Potts, "[S]top 

calling on this line because it is a recorded line." CP at 161. 

Epperson told investigators that he had listened to all of Potts's calls since Potts's arrest, 

and he kept a spreadsheet of the calls. He documented four calls between Potts and his attorney. 

8 
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During three ofthe calls, Potts left a message for his attorney. In the fourth, Potts talked to one of 

Morgan's partners about motions that had been filed in the case and "several RCW's that Mr. Potts 

wanted to review." CP at 161. Epperson provided that no new or expanded investigation occurred 

based on the information from the calls. 

Sawyer told the investigators he did not intentionally listen to any calls between Potts and 

Potts's attorney but may have inadvertently heard some. He provided that the Street Crimes Unit 

all work in a small office space and some of the other detectives listened to some of the calls. He 

specifically remembered Hartley saying he thought a call was to Potts's attorney and that Hartley 

immediately stopped listening. Sawyer thought the call was about Potts's failure to pay his 

attorney. He also stated that no new investigation started because of what was heard. 

Detective Seth Libbey told investigators he overheard calls that other detectives listened to 

in the office. He stated that he did not intentionally play or download them himself. 

The call log also showed that the Department of Corrections (DOC) accessed some of the 

calls. The two DOC officers involved with the Street Crimes Unit did not participate in the Potts 

investigation at all. The DOC sent out a memorandum asking anyone who had heard something 

to contact the special prosecutor. No one responded. 

The only other person interviewed was Longview Police Officer Scott McDaniel who told 

investigators that he listened to calls by inmates who were arrested or lived in his patrol area. He 

was not involved in the Potts investigation but he did recall listening to one phone call between 

Potts and his attorney. He heard Potts talk about "filing a document" but nothing else. CP at 164. 

McDaniel recalled the attorney telling Potts the line was recorded and advising Potts not to discuss 

case details. The investigation found that these actions did not uncover new investigative leads. 

9 
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On December 11, Potts filed a motion to dismiss under CrR 8.3. He argued that it was 

impossible to know the taint propounded on his case because there was no way to know exactly 

who heard the calls or what was said during the calls. On January 8, 2013, the trial court denied 

the motion, and found that Potts knew he was being recorded. The trial judge stated he did not 

reach the issue of prejudice because Potts was told the calls were being recorded. Potts filed 

several additional motions to reconsider that the trial court denied. 

In an order denying a motion to reconsider, the trial court found that Potts was warned at 

the start of each call that the call would be recorded and Potts continued to speak. It further found 

that there was no evidence the information from the calls prejudiced Potts. The court concluded 

that Potts waived the attorney-client privilege as it related to the phone calls. 

IV. MOTION ON THE SEARCH WARRANT 

Potts filed a motion to suppress evidence from the three locations police searched pursuant 

to a search warrant. The trial court denied the motion, except as to Potts's home address.7 The 

court issued findings of fact and conclusions of law from the suppression hearing. It concluded 

that the issuing judge understood the search warrant authorized a search of all three properties. 

The court concluded that probable cause did not exist to search Potts's home. However, after the 

State filed a motion to reconsider, the court concluded probable cause existed for the police to 

search Potts's home. It then denied Potts's subsequent motion to reconsider. Even though the 

court upheld the search of all three properties, the State did not introduce evidence that was seized 

from the two properties not listed on the search warrant. 

7 Potts filed another motion for return of the property seized and argued that the judge did not make 
a finding of probable cause for searching his home; the trial court denied the motion. The court 
reiterated that it already ruled the warrant was valid but also stated that there were additional issues 
with standing and the parallel forfeiture proceeding. 

10 
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V. MOTIONS To SUPPRESS RECORDINGS OF PHONE CALLS AND DELIVERIES 

On October 16, 2012, Potts filed a pro se motion to suppress evidence from the intercepts 

on Ju1y 17, 18, 24, 31, and August 10. He argued that the intercept authorizations did not comply 

with RCW 9.73.230. Potts then filed another motion to suppress the intercepts on January 22, 

2013. He asserted that the statutory requirements for the intercepts were not satisfied. Potts argued 

that each authorization only allowed one interception, and that the recordings did not include a 

time and location. He also argued that the authorization on August 10, 2012, did not cover the 

events when Potts himself was not present. He stated that the government did not make a good 

faith attempt to comply with RCW 9.73.230. On May 6, 2013, Potts filed another motion to 

suppress any evidence obtained in violation ofRCW 9.73.030, .230, & .050, which he referred to 

as supplemental. He argued that the authorizations were invalid, that they did not authorize 

multiple recordings, and that the government failed to provide proper documentation after the fact. 

On May 14, the trial court denied the motion as to the July authorizations but granted Potts's 

motion excluding the recordings from August 10. 

Potts also objected to admission of the intercept recordings during trial. He argued that the 

statute required the recordings to indicate the date and time at the beginning of the recordings. 

Potts objected after the trial court admitted and played the recordings that did not include the date 

and time. The trial court did not find that excluding the date and time was a bar to admission. 

VI. THE MISTRIAL 

Potts's first trial began on August 27,2013. On Friday morning, the sixth day of trial, J.H. 

was set to testify. At about 9:30A.M., the defense attorney informed the court that new information 

had just come to light. Before court began, Epperson had informed the prosecutor that J .H. had 

not been telling the truth about when he met Llanes. The prosecutor immediately informed the 

11 
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defense attorney. The defense attorney stated that apparently for the first time, J.H. told Epperson 

that Potts introduced him to Llanes about a week before August 10. The defense attorney requested 

time to reinterview J.H., and the trial court sent the jury home until the afternoon. 

Court reconvened in the afternoon and defense counsel announced he had a motion to 

dismiss but he did not object to presenting the motion after taking testimony from the witnesses 

who were present. The trial continued and after several witnesses' testimony, the judge sent the 

jury home for the day. He notified the jury to return at 9:00A.M. on Tuesday. 

Defense counsel then presented the motion to dismiss. He told the court that up until that 

morning, everyone but Epperson believed that Llanes and J.H. had not met before August 10. 

Defense counsel had previously interviewed J.H. who said he had not met Llanes before August 

10. However, during the morning break, J.H. admitted that Potts and Llanes had come to his home 

a week before August 1 0. At that time, Potts introduced J .H. to Llanes. J .H. also said he thought 

he had told Epperson about meeting Llanes previously. Defense counsel then interviewed 

Epperson and Epperson confirmed J.H. had told him about meeting Llanes previously. 

The prior conversation between J .H. and Epperson occurred because Epperson realized 

there was a discrepancy in stories after Llanes's interview with the prosecutor and the Street 

Crimes Unit on February 22, 2013. Epperson then asked J.H. if he had met Llanes before August 

10. Epperson received an affirmative answer. Epperson did not ask any further questions and did 

not tell anyone about this conversation. Epperson told the prosecutor about the information the 

morning of the sixth day of trial because J.H. spoke to him about it again that day. 

The trial court heard from both parties. Potts argued that the new evidence constituted a 

violation of CrR 4.7, and moved to dismiss under CrR 8.3. The State responded that dismissal 

was an extraordinary remedy and not appropriate for this case. The State also clarified that 

12 



45724-5-II I 46300-8-II 

Epperson was not present in J .H.'s original interview with the defense when J .H. failed to disclose 

he met Llanes before August 10, and therefore, Epperson did not know ofthe discrepancy. Potts 

continued to argue that the information affected his trial strategy and he did not know how to deal 

with the information without further research. The defense attorney stated that this information 

affected his cross-examination of Llanes and Velasquez, along with his closing argument. 

The trial court considered the State's recommendation to suppress the evidence, but found 

it would prejudice Potts. The trial court found a violation of CrR 4.7 but did not immediately 

provide a remedy for the violation. The court remarked the parties would have over three days to 

research and work on the issue. It also stated that dismissal of all counts was "too much given the 

fact that we're talking about ... multiple counts," and it also found that counts II, III, and IV were 

unaffected. 6B RP at 1122. 

Court reconvened Tuesday morning, September 1 0, and Potts again moved for dismissal 

but expanded the motion to include misconduct by the State under CrR 8.3(b ). Potts also 

personally wrote a motion for dismissal and provided it to the court. 

Over the three and a half day break, defense counsel had interviewed Llanes. She disclosed 

that she and Potts met with J.H. a week before August 10. At that time, she provided J.H. with 

four ounces of methamphetamine. A few days later, J.H. called her, they met, and he paid her for 

the methamphetamine but was short $150. Defense counsel stated that prior to this disclosure, 

J .H. had stated no other drug transactions occurred. 

According to defense counsel, after learning this information, Epperson told J.H. he needed 

to tell the truth, that Llanes had been interviewed, and that "there's going to be a problem if your 

story and [Llanes's] don't match up." 7 RP at 1142. Defense counsel reinterviewed J.H. J.H. 

confirmed that he received four ounces of methamphetamine from Potts and Llanes the week 

13 
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before August 1 0, and that he paid Llanes later in the week. Defense counsel emphasized that 

prior to these disclosures, Epperson had testified in front of the jury that J.H. received Llanes's 

contact information when Potts called him the night of August 9 and told him when the drug deal 

would happen. 

Potts argued that because J.H. acted as a government agent and the conduct amounted to 

outrageous government misconduct, the only appropriate remedy was dismissal, not a mistrial. 

The trial court then asked the defense to address mistrial versus dismissal. It said, "[I]sn't part of 

your argument that ... you've been working under this theory since Day 1 and you've been 

preparing for the trial and the theory has changed? So doesn't a mistrial afford you the opportunity 

to move forward based on the new information and prepare for that?" 7 RP at 1147-48. Potts 

responded that mistrial did not address the issue of misconduct. He reargued that the appropriate 

remedy was dismissal. 

The State argued that Epperson may have made a mistake but he did not intentionally act 

untruthfully because he did not know J.H. lied. The State also contended that J.H. was not a state 

agent. The State asserted that the defense had not shown how the disclosure fundamentally 

changed its theory of the case and that the court should follow the hierarchy of remedies: first 

continuance, then suppression, mistrial, and finally dismissal. The court asked the State to address 

mistrial versus dismissal. The State responded that it was "a little leery of a mistrial versus 

dismissal, I think the preference would be a mistrial but ... I think that a mistrial does not preserve 

Mr. Potts'[s] ability to make a double jeopardy challenge on a subsequent trial." 7 RP at 1162. 

The State stated it needed more time to research the double jeopardy issue. The defense 

represented that double jeopardy arguments are not preserved unless the State provoked the 

mistrial. 

14 
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At midmorning, the judge took a break to research the issues and consider the parties' 

arguments. When the judge returned in the early afternoon, he heard more argument from the 

parties. 

Defense counsel represented that he had listened to hours of tapes for the case "with an eye 

toward the Defense theory." 7 RP at 1172. Defense counsel stated, "I painstakingly went through 

these things and had planned, if the testimony from this witness is this, I'm going to play on this 

particular tape from 20 minutes and 35 seconds to 20 minutes and 55 seconds." 7 RP at 1172. He 

told the court if he had this new information, his opening statement would have been different, and 

he would have cross-examined Epperson differently. He finally said, "It's simply not possible for 

me to provide effective assistance of Counsel, and it's all due to government misconduct." 7 RP 

at 1176. He stated, "The jury is now tainted by information that we know is not true" and that he 

cannot redo all the work that has been done. 7 RP at 1175. He concluded, "[T]he trial simply 

cannot proceed and dismissal is the appropriate remedy." 7 RP at 1181. 

The State opined that if it did not move for the appropriate remedy it would be held against 

them. The State told the court it would be as accommodating as possible and not oppose a variety 

o.f remedies up to and including a mistrial, without specifying what it felt was appropriate. The 

State finally offered, "I would ask the Court ... to fashion a remedy that allows [the defense 

attorney] an [sic] opportunity to review whatever is necessary and present an effective--effective 

case." 7 RP at 1179-80. 

The trial court addressed both the defense counsel's motion and Potts's pro se motion. The 

court noted that defense counsel argued the jury taint required no remedy other than dismissal. It 

provided a long oral ruling on the motions. The court reasoned that while a violation occurred, it 

did not shock the conscience. The court found that dismissal was an inappropriate remedy because 
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Potts's right to a fair trial was still intact. It also considered the issue of ineffective assistance of 

counsel, stating that it "looms fairly large." 7 RP at 1195. It acknowledged that mistrial did not 

really punish the government for bad acts but discounted a continuance as a viable option because 

it risked information becoming "stale" for jurors. 7 RP at 1195. Ultimately, the trial court declared 

a mistrial. 

Potts objected to the mistrial. The prosecutor asked to put a couple things on the record, 

and stated, "[I]t's the State's position, we had a duty or obligation to provide the Court with 

alternatives, but we did not specifically ask for a mistrial." 7 RP at 1198. The court responded, "I 

wrote down, the State needs to provide alternative remedies. I put continuance and mistrial." 7 

RP at 1198. The State only responded, "Okay." 7 RP at 1198. The trial court informed the jury 

that it had declared a mistrial and they were no longer needed. 

On September 17, Potts personally presented a motion to dismiss the charges based on 

double jeopardy, which defense counsel joined. Defense counsel later also filed a motion to 

dismiss on double jeopardy grounds. On November 15, Potts himself argued his motion saying 

that the mistrial was not in the interest of justice or a manifest necessity, and that the court did not 

consider his constitutional protections or question the grounds for his objection. Defense counsel 

then presented argument that the court did not balance or weigh other alternatives to a mistrial, 

and that it should have explored a continuance. 

The trial judge stated that although his thought process was "unuttered," he did consider 

alternatives. 7 RP at 1270. He reiterated and specified his reasoning for not granting suppression 

of the evidence or a continuance. The judge stated that he reasoned he would take away the 

defense's opportunity to cross-examine and impeach witnesses with a suppression motion and 

would force the defense attorney to provide ineffective representation with a continuance. The 
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judge stated, "I agree that jeopardy did attach, I agree that the Defense did not ask for a mistrial, 

and I agree that the Defense did object timely." 7 RP at 1273. The trial judge stated, 

So ... in my reasoning, I think even though I didn't ... use the magic words of 
'manifest necessity,' my sense at the time was that, based on the situation that was 
presented, the revelations that came to be, the right to a fair trial, the right to cross­
examine, the right to be adequately prepared, I-I felt it was in the best interest 
of-of all parties to-to-to declare the mistrial. 

7 RP at 1276. 

The trial court denied the motion for dismissal based on the mistrial. The State asked the 

court to specifically put on the record its thoughts about Potts's double jeopardy rights. The judge 

referenced the part of the transcript in which the defense stated double jeopardy would bar a retrial 

unless the actions were prompted by the State. It also stated, "Obviously, it was in my mind at the 

time. I had discussed double jeopardy. It was something I-I considered at the time." 7 RP at 

1277-78. 

VI. THE TRIAL 

A new trial began on November 19, 2013. Both Epperson and J.H. testified. On cross-

examination, the defense impeached each of them about when J.H. met Llanes. The defense also 

impeached J.H. about his drug use. The testimony at trial is summarized in the overview above. 

Several times during trial, Potts objected to the admission of the intercept recordings. He 

argued that because the date and time were not on several of the recordings, they violated chapter 

9.73 RCW. The trial court overruled Potts's objections, and the State played the recordings, except 

those from August 10. 

After the State rested, the parties discussed the charges and the jury instructions. On the 

leading organized crime count (count I), ~otts moved to dismiss the aggravator. He argued that 

the major violation of the UCSA aggravator did not apply to the crime because leading organized 
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crime is not a part of the specific list of offenses in the statute. The trial court denied the motion 

and found that the statutory language8 permitted the aggravator. 

The parties also disagreed on the "to convict" jury instruction for leading organized crime, 

specifically on how to make clear to the jury that Potts's had to be a leader. Potts's alternative 

proposed instruction included extra language in the elements section and an additional element. 

The trial court ultimately gave an instruction that did not use accomplice language but said, "[T]he 

State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was the leader of a criminal 

profiteering organization, not just a member." CP at 1397. 

In closing argument, Potts emphasized the difference between what the State proved 

beyond a reasonable doubt and what might have happened. In concluding, Potts returned to the 

idea of speculation saying, "[T]hink of the difference between speculation, what you think might 

have happened, probably happened, could have happened, and what you have evidence of." liB 

RP at 2624. He argued that the only information about Velasquez was that he came from California 

and "[a]nything else ... is pure speculation." liB RP at 2624. 

During the State's rebuttal closing argument, the prosecutor said, "There's another word 

for speculation, and the word is circumstantial." liB RP at 2627. Potts objected on the grounds 

that the State misstated the law, and the court responded, "So this is argument. The jury is 

instructed to refer to the jury instructions as to any definitions of the law." liB RP at 2627. The 

State then continued its argument, first saying, "And don't take my word for it; there is a jury 

instruction." liB RP at 2627. It then read the definition of circumstantial evidence to the jury. 

Potts raised this issue again post-trial as part of a motion to arrest judgment that the trial court 

denied. 

8 RCW 9.94A.535(3)(e)(i); ch. 69.50 RCW. 
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The jury found Potts guilty on all charges and all aggravators. The trial court entered its 

judgment and sentence on December 19. The trial court sentenced Potts to 413 months of 

confinement. At sentencing, Potts argued that violation of the UCSA counts should merge with 

his leading organized crime count, and that the counts were the same course of conduct. The trial 

court concluded that the counts did not merge and were not the same course of conduct. 

Potts appeals. He also filed a notice of appeal following denial of his motion for return of 

property. 

ANALYSIS 

I. DOUBLE JEOPARDY 

Potts argues the trial court violated his double jeopardy rights both by granting a mistrial 

and because several of his convictions were the same criminal conduct. We disagree. 

A. Standard of Review 

A double jeopardy claim is a question of law we review de novo. State v. Hughes, 166 

Wn.2d 675, 681, 212 P.3d 558 (2009). "A double jeopardy claim may be raised for the first time 

on appeal." State v. Jackman, 156 Wn.2d 736, 746, 132 P.3d 136 (2006); RAP 2.5(a). State and 

federal constitutional protections against double jeopardy prohibit multiple punishments for the 

same offense. State v. Kier, 164 Wn.2d 798, 803, 194 P.3d 212 (2008); U.S. CONST. amend. V; 

WASH. CONST. art. 1 § 9. 

B. The Mistrial 
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Potts argues that by declaring a mistrial and discharging the jury, the trial court violated 

his double jeopardy rights. Specifically, Potts argues the trial court denied his right to a verdict by 

a particular tribunal.9 Potts makes essentially the same assertion in his SAG. We disagree. 

The federal and state protections against double jeopardy exist not solely to prevent a 

second prosecution for the same offense, but also to protect "the 'valued right (of the defendant) 

to have his trial completed by a particular tribunal."' State v. Jones, 97 Wn.2d 159, 162, 641 P.2d 

708 (1982) (quoting Arizona v. Washington, 434 U.S. 497, 503, 98 S. Ct. 824, 54 L. Ed. 2d 717 

(1978)). Jeopardy attaches after the jury is selected and sworn. Jones, 97 Wn.2d at 162. However, 

the declaration of a mistrial does not always prevent retrial. Jones, 97 Wn.2d at 162. 

In the case of a mistrial, we first determine whether jeopardy attached in the first instance. 

State v. Juarez, 115 Wn. App. 881, 887, 64 P.3d 83 (2003). Next, we ask whether the defendant 

freely consented to a mistrial. Juarez, 115 Wn. App. at 888. Retrial is barred unless either the 

defense freely consented to a mistrial, or some "manifest necessity" required discharge of the jury 

over the defendant's objection. Rich, 63 Wn. App. at 747. 

We give "'great deference"' to the trial court's decision to declare a mistrial, State v. Strine, 

176 Wn.2d 742, 753,293 P.3d 1177 (2013) (quoting Jones, 97 Wn.2d at 163), but the trial court's 

broad discretion is "not unbridled." State v. Browning, 38 Wn. App. 772, 775, 689 P.2d 1108 

(1984 ). A mistrial frees the defendant from further prosecution, unless it is prompted by "'manifest 

necessity."' Browning, 38 Wn. App. at 775 (quoting Oregon v. Kennedy, 456 U.S. 667, 672, 102 

S. Ct. 2083, 72 L. Ed. 2d 416 (1982)). "Manifest necessity" means that "'extraordinary and 

9 Potts seems to argue this is a right separate and independent from the double jeopardy protections. 
However, they are interconnected with the shared goal of not prolonging "the ordeal of the accused 
by adding to the financial and emotional burden he must shoulder while his guilt or innocence is 
determined. Moreover, exposure to a second tribunal may even increase the chances of an innocent 
defendant[] being convicted." State v. Jones, 97 Wn.2d 159, 162, 641 P.2d 708 (1982) 
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striking'" circumstances must be present that "'clearly indicate ... that the ends of substantial 

justice cannot be obtained without discontinuing the trial."' Jones, 97 Wn.2d at 163 (quoting State 

v. Bishop, 6 Wn. App. 146, 150, 491 P.2d 1359 (1971)). 

We review a trial court's exercise of its discretion to grant or deny a mistrial for abuse of 

discretion. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 765, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). Three principles generally 

guide us in determining whether a trial court abused its discretion in granting a mistrial for 

"'manifest necessity. They include (1) whether the court 'act[ed] precipitately ... [or] gave both 

defense counsel and the prosecutor full opportunity to explain their positions'; (2) whether it 

'accorded careful consideration to [the defendant's] interest in having the trial concluded in a 

single proceeding'; and, (3) whether it considered alternatives to declaring a mistrial. State v. 

Melton, 97 Wn. App. 327, 332, 983 P.2d 699 (1999) (footnotes omitted) (quoting Arizona, 434 

U.S. at 515-16). 

The parties agree that jeopardy attached at the first trial. However, Potts did not freely 

consent to the mistrial and he contends it should have barred a retrial. The State argues that the 

trial court's declaration of a mistrial was done in the interest of justice. Therefore, we must 

determine whether the trial court abused its discretion by granting a mistrial for manifest necessity. 

First, Potts argues that he did not have a full opportunity to respond to the possibility of a 

mistrial. In so saying, Potts does not paint a complete picture of the events that transpired at trial. 

The issue that ultimately led to a mistrial, arose on the sixth day of Potts's first trial on a Friday 

morning. The trial court sent the jury away, gave defense counsel time to reinterview J.H., and 

then heard argument from both defense counsel and the State. Court reconvened after the 

interview, and defense counsel presented a motion to dismiss. The trial court sent the jury home 
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early, heard more argument from the parties, and then found a violation ofCrR 4.7, but granted a 

continuance until the following Tuesday morning so the parties could engage in more discovery. 

On Tuesday morning, the parties returned to court and defense counsel presented another 

motion to dismiss. The trial court heard argument from both parties and it asked for argument on 

the remedy of mistrial versus the remedy of dismissal. The trial court dismissed the jury at 

midmorning to return in the afternoon to "take a moment to go back and read the cases that the 

parties have provided and do some research." 7 RP at 1169. The judge reviewed the issues in 

chambers and then took more argument. During this process, the trial court asked Potts, "[I]sn't 

part of your argument that ... you've been working under this theory since Day 1 and you've been 

preparing for the trial and the theory has changed? So doesn't a mistrial afford you the opportunity 

to move forward based on the new information and prepare for that?" 7 RP at 1147-48. The 

defense counsel responded that mistrial did not address the issue of misconduct. He argued that 

the appropriate remedy was dismissal, and that the jury had been tainted by Epperson's testimony. 

The trial court did not act precipitately in making its decision. The court issued a long oral 

ruling in which it reviewed the arguments of the parties and its own reasoning. Both parties had 

several opportunities to argue their positions and both parties were made aware of all the possible 

remedies. 

Second, Potts argues that the court "did not give 'careful consideration to [the defendant's] 

interest in having the trial concluded in a single proceeding."' Br. of Appellant at 23 (quoting 

State v. Robinson, 146 Wn. App. 471, 480, 191 P.3d 906 (2008)). However, the trial court 

specifically asked about Potts's double jeopardy rights. It inquired into defense counsel's ability 

to represent his client. Defense counsel reiterated several times that the new information made it 

impossible for him to properly represent his client. In ruling, the court discussed defense counsel's 
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need to effectively provide assistance of counsel as one of its main reasons for granting a mistrial. 

The court later stated that even though it did not "use the magic words of' manifest necessity,' [its] 

sense ... was that, based on the situation that was presented, the revelations that came to be, the 

right to a fair trial, the right to cross-examine, the right to be adequately prepared," granting a 

mistrial was in the parties' best interest. 7 RP at 1276. The trial court considered Potts's interests. 

Finally, Potts argues that the court did not "consider all the available alternatives." Br. of 

Appellant at 24. He states that the trial court took away his opportunity for a memorable 

impeachment. However, the record shows that the trial court worked through various remedies 

available to it: suppression, continuance, mistrial, and dismissal. Based on the facts and the 

parties' arguments, mistrial was the most appropriate remedy. 

Furthermore, in the subsequent hearing on Potts's motion to dismiss based on alleged 

double jeopardy violations, the trial court specified its reasoning saying that it did consider 

alternatives, and reiterated its reasoning. The trial court provided that it thought suppression was 

unfair to the defense, that a continuance would not give counsel enough time to prepare or would 

make the evidence stale for the jury, and a dismissal was too severe. We conclude that the mistrial 

served the interests of justice, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion. 

C. Same Offense 

Potts also argues that he should not have been convicted of both leading organized crime 

and the predicate drug offenses because they are the same criminal conduct and violate the state 

and federal constitutional prohibitions against double jeopardy. We disagree. 

"'Where a defendant's act supports charges under two criminal statutes, a court weighing 

a double jeopardy challenge must determine whether, in light of legislative intent, the charged 

crimes constitute the same offense."' Kier, 164 Wn.2d at 803-04 (quoting State v. Freeman, 153 
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Wn.2d 765,771, 108 P.3d 753 (2005)). In determining legislative intent, we examine three factors. 

Kier, 164 Wn.2d at 804. First, we look at express or implicit legislative intent based on the criminal 

statutes involved. Kier, 164 Wn.2d at 804. Second, if the legislative intent is unclear, we may 

turn to the "same evidence" test. Kier, 164 Wn.2d at 804. Third, we may use the merger doctrine 

to help determine legislative intent where the degree of one offense is elevated by conduct 

constituting a separate offense. Kier, 164 Wn.2d at 804. We have also recognized that, "even if 

two convictions would appear to merge on an abstract level under this analysis, they may be 

punished separately if the defendant's particular conduct demonstrates an independent purpose or 

effect of each." Kier, 164 Wn.2d at 804. 

First, the leading organized crime statute and the possession and distribution statutes do 

not contain specific language authorizing separate punishments for the same conduct. RCW 

9A.82.060, 69.50.401. Therefore, we turn to the "same evidence" test. 

The "same evidence" test examines whether the "crimes are the same in law and in fact." 

Kier, 164 Wn.2d at 804. "Under the same evidence rule, if each offense contains elements not 

contained in the other offense, the offenses are different and multiple convictions can stand." 

Jackman, 156 Wn.2d at 747. The court must determine '"whether each provision requires proof 

of a fact which the other does not."' Jackman, 156 Wn.2d at 747 (quoting State v. Baldwin, 150 

Wn.2d 448,455, 78 P.3d 1005 (2003)). The legal element analysis requires more than just a facial 

comparison of the statutory offenses' requirements. Hughes, 166 Wn.2d at 684. Once the court 

determines that two crimes do not require the "same evidence," a presumption exists that they are 

not the same, which "should be overcome only by clear evidence of contrary intent." State v. 

Calle, 125 Wn.2d 769, 779-80, 888 P.2d 155 (1995). The "same evidence" test is a rule of statutory 

construction and serves as "a means of discerning legislative purpose." Calle, 125 Wn.2d at 778. 
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The test is not controlling "where there is a clear indication oflegislative intent." Calle, 125 Wn.2d 

at 778. 

In State v. Harris, we held that the elements for leading organized crime are distinguishable 

from those of the predicate offenses. 167 Wn. App. 340, 353, 272 P.3d 299 (2012). Specifically, 

leading organized crime has the additional elements of "organizing, managing, directing, 

supervising, or financing any three or more persons" and doing so for "criminal profiteering." 

RCW 9A.82.060; Harris, 167 Wn. App. at 353. In Potts's case, the predicate offenses of 

possession of methamphetamine with the intent to deliver or delivery of methamphetamine do not 

have these additional elements. RCW 69.50.401. They are also distinguishable from each other 

because each has a different date. Furthermore, in Harris, we held that the offense of leading 

organized crime causes injury or harm that is separate and distinct from the predicate crimes. 167 

Wn. App. at 352-54, 357. Because Potts's convictions do not satisfy the same evidence test, he 

cannot establish that his convictions violated his double jeopardy rights. 

Potts argues that we misapplied the same evidence test in Harris, 167 Wn. App. 340, and 

asks us to overturn the decision. He argues that there were two errors in Harris: we did not 

determine that each offense included an element not included in the other and we did not consider 

the evidence used to support each conviction. 10 However, because Harris conducted the majority 

of its analysis under the merger prong, it did not focus its analysis on the "same evidence" test 

prong. 167 Wn. App. at 354. 

10 Potts also argues the same error occurred inState v. Hayes, 164 Wn. App. 459,484-85,262 P.3d 
538 (2011). However we need not consider this argument because in Hayes, there is express 
legislative intent and Potts recognizes that situation is distinguishable from his case. He does not 
rely on Hayes to make his argument. 
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Harris did hold that the elements for leading organized crime were distinguishable from 

those ofthe predicate offenses. 167 Wn. App. at 353. Potts also ignores a crucial part of Harris 

where we noted that the "legislature intended to create '[n]ew crimes' because the legislature did 

not intend for the predicate crimes to merge with the new crime of leading organized crime." 167 

Wn. App. at 357 (quoting Final Legislative report, 48th Leg., at 197 (Wash. 1984)). Further, we 

concluded that "the legislature intended additional punishment for the societal harm of leading 

organized crime." Harris, 167 Wn. App. at 357. Additionally, although Harris did not focus on 

the "same evidence" test, it concluded that leading organized crime and its predicate offenses were 

not the same in law and fact. 167 Wn. App. at 357-58. We adhere to Harris, and conclude that 

the trial court did not violate Potts's double jeopardy rights. 

II. CrR 8.3 MOTION FOR VIOLATING RIGHT TO COUNSEL 

Potts argues that the police violated his constitutional right to confer privately with counsel 

when they listened to his jail phone calls. Because he waived the right, we disagree. 

A. Standard of Review11 

We review a trial court's decision to not dismiss an action based on a violation ofthe right 

to counsel and under CrR 8.3(b) for abuse ofthe trial court's discretion. State v. Granacld, 90 Wn. 

App. 598, 602 n.3, 959 P.2d 667 (1998). We review a claim of denial of a constitutional right de 

novo. State v. Stone, 165 Wn. App. 796, 810, 268 P.3d 226 (2012). 

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a criminal defendant 

the right to effective assistance of counsel, which includes the right to confer privately with that 

11 Potts applies a constitutional error, de novo standard of review in his appellate brief. However, 
Potts does not raise this issue for the first time on appeal because he previously raised the issue in 
a CrR 8.3 motion below. Therefore, we will review whether the trial court erred by denying his 
CrR 8.3 motion to dismiss for a violation of his right to counsel. We decline to rely on Potts's 
proposed standard of review. 
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counsel. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; State v. Peiia Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d 808, 818, 318 P.3d 257 

(2014). "Intrusion into private attorney-client communications violates a defendant's right to 

effective representation and due process." State v. Garza, 99 Wn. App. 291, 296, 994 P.2d 868 

(2000). "The right to counsel may be affirmatively waived, but such a waiver must be knowing, 

voluntary, and intelligent." State v. Afeworki, 189 Wn. App. 327, 344, 358 P.3d 1186 (2015). 

The validity of any waiver of a constitutional right and the inquiry required by the court to 

establish the waiver depend on the circumstances of the case, including the defendant's experience 

and capabilities. State v. Cham, 165 Wn. App. 438, 447, 267 P.3d 528 (2011), review granted, 

175 Wn.2d 1022, 289 P.3d 627 (2012). In addition, the inquiry differs depending on the nature of 

the constitutional right at issue. Cham, 165 Wn. App. at 447. Here, the circumstances are more 

akin to waiving the attorney-client privilege than they are to waiving the right to a lawyer in court. 

In the former circumstance, a defendant waives attorney-client privilege by voluntarily including 

a third party that is not necessary for the communication or otherwise covered by the privilege. 

State v. Wilder, 12 Wn. App. 296, 300, 529 P.2d 1109 (1974). 

B. Waiver 

Potts argues that the State failed to prove that he voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently 

waived his right to privately confer with his counsel. However, after the special investigator 

assigned to look into the jail phone calls issued a report, Potts filed a motion to dismiss under CrR 

8.3. CrR 8.3(b) permits the trial court, after notice and hearing, to dismiss any criminal prosecution 

in the furtherance of justice, because of arbitrary action or governmental misconduct "when there 

has been prejudice to the rights of the accused which materially affect the accused's right to a fair 

trial." Potts argued to the trial court that it was impossible to know the impact of the jail phone 

calls on his case because there was no way to know exactly who heard the calls or what was said 
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during the calls. The trial court denied the motion, finding that Potts knew his calls were being 

recorded. The court stated that it did not reach the issue of prejudice because Potts waived his 

right when he proceeded after being told his calls were recorded. We agree with the trial court. 12 

The evidence the trial court relied on derived primarily from the special prosecutor's report. 

This report stated that when a call was made from the jail, a recording played to both the caller 

and the receiver, warning that the call was being recorded. For Potts to place a call after the 

warning, he had to press a button acknowledging he wanted to proceed. Furthermore, two of the 

people who heard portions of Potts's calls told the special prosecutor they heard Potts's attorney 

tell Potts that he was calling on a recorded line. We conclude the evidence the trial court relied on 

demonstrated Potts knowingly and voluntarily waived his right. The trial court did not abuse its 

discretion. 13 

III. RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL 

Potts argues that the trial court violated his time for trial rights. We disagree. 

A. Standard of Review 

We review an alleged violation of the time for trial rule de novo. State v. Kenyon, 167 

Wn.2d 130, 135, 216 P.3d 1024 (2009). We review a trial court's determination on a motion to 

12 Potts makes many different arguments about prejudice. However, we do not address these 
arguments because we uphold the trial court's finding of waiver. 

13 Potts also argues that because the decision to deny his motion to reconsider preceded State v. 
Pefia Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d 808,318 P.3d 257 (2014), the trial court did not know it was required 
to find facts beyond a reasonable doubt when dealing with government eavesdropping. Potts asks 
that we remand his case for an evidentiary hearing in light of Fuentes. In Fuentes, however, the 
court held that dismissal is not required when there is no possibility of prejudice. 179 Wn.2d at 
819. Additionally, prior to Fuentes, courts assumed that a violation of attorney-client privilege 
was reversible error. 179 Wn.2d at 819. The standard before Fuentes was to reverse automatically 
and Fuentes established that the presumption of prejudice is rebuttal; therefore, the case did not 
affect the outcome for Potts. 

28 



45724-5-II I 46300-8-II 

dismiss for manifest abuse of discretion. State v. Michielli, 132 Wn.2d 229, 240, 937 P.2d 587 

(1997). For these motions, we will not disturb the trial court's decision unless the appellant makes 

a clear showing that the trial court's determination is manifestly unreasonable or exercised on 

untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons. State v. Saunders, 153 Wn. App. 209, 216,220 P.3d 

1238 (2009). We may affirm the trial court's ruling on any grounds the record supports, including 

those the trial court did not explicitly articulate. State v. Ginn, 128 Wn. App. 872, 884 n.9, 117 

P.3d 1155 (2005). If the trial court erred, we ask whether, had the error not occurred, the outcome 

ofthe trial would have been materially different. State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405,433,269 P.3d 

207 (2012). 

B. Arraignment 

Potts argues that because the same judge who presided over his special inquiry proceedings 

presided over his arraignment, the trial court did not have jurisdiction to arraign him. 14 Potts 

provides no authority that a violation ofRCW 10.27.180 requires dismissal. Arguments without 

legal support need not be considered. RAP 10.3(a)(6); State v. Lord, 117 Wn.2d 829, 853, 822 

P.3d 177 (1991). However, Potts also raises the issue in his SAG, which we will consider. 15 We 

conclude that any error with Potts's arraignment was harmless. 16 

14 Potts argues that the judge did not have "subject matter jurisdiction," which refers to the court's 
authority to hear a case. Potts's use of the term is inaccurate. Here, the judge was simply 
disqualified by statute from presiding over hearings that arise from the special inquiry. 

15 The authority Potts cites to support his argument that dismissal is required is misplaced; 
however, we review the issue pursuant to RAP 10.1 0( c). 

16 Potts also asserts in his SAG that the trial court erred by denying his "pro se Objection to the 
Out of Time Amended Information and Arraignment, and Renewal of Motion to Dismiss" and 
subsequent motions for speedy trial violation. SAG at 17-18. In these motions, he solely argued 
that the special inquiry judge should not have presided over his arraignment. We address this 
argument in the above time for trial analysis, and conclude the trial court did not err by denying 
the motion. 
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RCW 10.27.180 states, 

The judge serving as a special inquiry judge shall be disqualified from 
acting as a magistrate or judge in any subsequent court proceeding arising 
from such inquiry except alleged contempt for neglect or refusal to appear, 
testify or provide evidence at such inquiry in response to an order, summons 
or subpoena. 

Generally, a defendant must be brought to trial 60 days after his commencement date, or 

arraignment. CrR 3.3(b)(l)(i), (c)(l). The commencement date is the date from which the time 

for trial is calculated. CrR 3.3(b)(1). CrR 3.3(h) states, "A charge not brought to trial within the 

time limit determined under this rule shall be dismissed with prejudice." A defendant must be 

arraigned not later than 14 days after the filing of an information. CrR 4.1 (a)(1 ). Furthermore, "A 

party who objects to the date of arraignment on the ground that it is not within the time limits 

prescribed by this rule must state the objection to the court at the time of the arraignment." CrR 

4.l(b). "A party who fails to object as required shall lose the right to object, and the arraignment 

date shall be conclusively established as the date upon which the defendant was actually 

arraigned." CrR 4.1(b). 

Here, the State obtained an order directing the production of some of Potts's fmancial 

records before the special inquiry judge in Cowlitz County, Judge BashorP Judge Bashor then 

presided over Potts's preliminary appearance and arraignment on August 28, 2012. At that 

hearing, Potts entered a plea of not guilty and the court set the trial date for October 22. The 

arraignment occurred within 14 days of filing the information. The initial trial date set on that day 

also complied with time for trial rules because it was within 60 days of the arraignment. CrR 

3.3(b)(l). 

17 We note that subsequently in the trial court, Potts sought confirmation that the proceeding was 
not in fact a special inquiry procedure, and the State conceded the point. 
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Potts did not object at the time of his initial appearance and arraignment. On May 23, 

2013, however, Potts moved for dismissal, citing his improper arraignment. On the same day, he 

objected to the State filing an amended complaint. The trial court found that there was no err in 

Judge Bashor arraigning Potts and even if there was, it did not warrant dismissal. 

Potts argues that his "actual arraignment" took place when the State filed the amended 

information on May 23, 2013, nine months after the original information was filed. Br. of 

Appellant at 81. Potts supports this contention by arguing that May 23 was the day he entered a 

not guilty plea before a judge authorized to preside over the hearing; however, he cites no legal 

authority. Additionally, outside of this contention, Potts does not argue any actual prejudice or 

violations of his time for trial rights. There is no indication that his trial occurred outside the 

allowable time period. 

In State v. Neslund, 103 Wn.2d 79, 83, 690 P.2d 1153 (1984), our Supreme Court upheld 

a suppression motion issued by a special inquiry judge before he presided over the special inquiry 

hearing. The court stated, "Since the special inquiry judge proceeding can be used to gather 

evidence of a crime only before the defendant has been charged with that crime ... the effect of 

our holding is to disqualify the special inquiry judge from acting in charging and post-charging 

proceedings in any case which came before him on special inquiry." Neslund, 103 Wn.2d at 83 

(citation omitted). The court also held, "If proceedings arising out of the special inquiry judge 

proceeding are held after the special inquiry is concluded, but before the defendant is charged, the 

special inquiry judge will be disqualified from acting in those proceedings as well." Neslund, 103 

Wn.2d at 83. 

Similar to Neslund where there was no risk that the judge's role as special inquiry judge 

prejudiced the following proceeding, Judge Bashor improperly presiding over Potts's arraignment 
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could not have impacted the arraignment. It did not violate Potts's time for trial rights, and Potts 

does not argue it otherwise impacted his trial. At the arraignment, Potts entered a plea of not 

guilty, and the court set a trial date. No other matters were addressed. The judge's substantive 

knowledge of the case was not utilized in any way to prejudice Potts. Therefore, while it would 

be error for Judge Bashor to preside over both a special inquiry proceeding in Potts's case and his 

arraignment, any error was harmless. Additionally, the court did not base its decision to deny 

Potts's motion to dismiss on untenable grounds and therefore, did not abuse its discretion. 

IV. INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE-LEADING ORGANIZED CRIME 

Potts argues that no reasonable trier of fact could have found him guilty of leading 

organized crime. Specifically, Potts contends that the evidence was insufficient because he had 

no knowledge ofVelasquez's involvement. 18 We disagree. 

A. Standard of Review 

The State has the burden of proving every element of the crimes charged beyond a 

reasonable doubt. State v. McCullum, 98 Wn.2d 484, 489, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983). Sufficient 

evidence exists to support a conviction if when viewing the evidence in the light most favorable 

to the State, any rational trier of fact could find the essential elements of the crime beyond a 

reasonable doubt. State v. Ehrhardt, 167 Wn. App. 934, 943, 276 P.3d 332 (2012). A defendant 

claiming insufficiency of the evidence admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences 

18 Potts's makes a related assertion in his SAG but it is unclear. He asserts that the trial court erred 
by denying his motion to dismiss the charge. He also asserts that Llanes's testimony is the only 
testimony that related to his leading organized crime conviction, and that her testimony did not 
show he was the leader. He seems to be arguing either that the "to convict" jury instruction was 
improper or that there was insufficient evidence to convict him of leading organized crime. Both 
issues are addressed in this opinion. 
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that can reasonably be drawn from that evidence. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192,201, 829 P.2d 

1068 (1992). 

We defer to the jury on its assessment of credibility of witnesses and the persuasiveness of 

the evidence. State v. Bonisisio, 92 Wn. App. 783, 794, 964 P.2d 1222 (1998). Circumstantial 

evidence and direct evidence are equally reliable. State v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 

P .2d 99 (1980). Inferences drawn from circumstantial evidence "must be reasonable and cannot 

be based on speculation." State v. Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d 1, 16,309 P.3d 318 (2013). Where "'the 

inferences and underlying evidence are strong enough to permit a rational fact finder to find guilt 

beyond a reasonable doubt, a conviction may be properly based on pyramiding inferences."' State 

v. Bencivenga, 137 Wn.2d 703, 711, 974 P.2d 832 (1999) (quoting 1 Clifford S. Fishman, Jones 

on Evidence: Civil and Criminal § 5.17, at 450 (7th ed. 1992)) (internal quotations omitted). 

B. Elements of Leading Organized Crime 

Potts argues that the State presented no evidence indicating that he had met or had any 

contact with Velasquez. Additionally, he argues that the State only proved Velasquez's knowledge 

and presence on August 10, but not that he was an accomplice to the transaction. 

To convict Potts of leading organized crime, the jury had to find that he organized, 

managed, directed, financed or supervised three or more persons: J.H., Llanes, and Velasquez. 

Furthermore, Potts must have "acted with the intent to engage in a pattern of criminal profiteering 

activity" in the State of Washington. CP at 1397 (lnstr. 10). The State was required to prove 

beyond a reasonable doubt that Potts was the leader, not just a member. And, the jurors had to 

agree that "the same three acts of criminal profiteering constituting a pattern of criminal 

profiteering activity have been proved beyond a reasonable doubt." CP at 1397 (Instr. 1 0). 
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Sufficient evidence existed for a jury to find the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable 

doubt. Potts met with Llanes, introduced her to drug buying clients, told her what to charge people 

for the drug, planned ahead of time for Llanes and Velasquez to come from California to 

Washington, and established a house for Llanes and Velasquez. According to J.H., Potts told him 

that he "was getting out of it, that he was getting out of the business, that he was-some other 

people were going to take over, do his business for him." lOC RP at 2262-63. The jury heard the 

recording where Potts said to J.H. that he had to get the people coming from California money to 

rent a house when they arrived. Llanes testified that when she arrived, "A friend of [Potts's] loaned 

us a room," and then Potts rented a house with his friend. 1 OB RP at 2218 (emphasis added). The 

house was for Llanes to stay in "and for the person who was going to come and stay, and work." 

1 OB RP at 2218. Llanes testified that the person that was going to stay was Velasquez. 

Velasquez had been in town two or three days when he and Llanes met up with J .H. in the 

Burger King parking lot. J.H. testified that he asked Llanes, while in the car with Llanes and 

Velasquez, if the money on August 10 was going to Potts, and she said yes. Both Llanes and 

Velasquez were pulled over a short distance away from the meeting, and officers found 24 7 grams 

of methamphetamine and a considerable amount of money in the car. Officers also found a 

pay/owe sheet, or ledger book. 

The testimony at trial was sufficient for the jury to find Potts organized, managed, directed, 

financed, or supervised Velasquez. In closing argument, the State contended that Potts was "O]ust 

about to get away and insulate himself from doing hand-to-hand transactions. . . He had people 

coming in to do that for him. But he got scooped up, and now we're here." liB RP at 2586. The 

evidence described above supports the State's argument. The jury found Potts guilty under each 

alternative means. The jury also found Potts guilty of each predicate offense and the aggravator 
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associated for a major violation of the UCSA. We conclude that, when viewing the evidence in 

the light most favorable to the State, sufficient evidence exists to support the conviction. 

V. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT 

Potts argues that the prosecutor committed misconduct when he equated speculation with 

circumstantial evidence, incorrectly arguing the law. He argues the prosecutor shifted the burden 

of proof. Potts also argues that the trial court improperly overruled his objection to this argument. 

He contends that there is a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the verdict on the 

leading organized crime count, the delivery of a controlled substance on August 10 count, and the 

possession with intent to deliver a controlled substance on August 10 count. Potts asserts the same 

general contention in his SAG. We disagree. 

A. Standard of Review 

The defendant bears the burden of proving that a prosecutor's conduct was both improper 

and prejudicial. State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 442, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). The threshold 

question is whether the prosecutor's arguments were improper. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 442. 

Once a defendant establishes that a prosecutor's statements were improper, we determine 

whether the defendant was prejudiced under one of two standards of review. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 

at 7 60. If the defendant objected at trial, the defendant must show that the prosecutor's misconduct 

resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury's verdict. State v. 

Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 427, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009). We review the prosecutor's comments 

during closing argument in the context of the entire argument, the issues in the case, the evidence 

addressed in the argument, and the jury instructions. State v. Sake/lis, 164 Wn. App. 170, 185, 

269 P.3d 1029 (2011). 
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B. Closing Argument 

During the State's rebuttal closing argument, the prosecutor responded to Potts's argument 

that the connection between Velasquez and himself was "pure speculation." llB RP 2624. The 

prosecutor said, "There's another word for speculation, and the word is circumstantial." 11 B RP 

2627. The statement standing alone is clearly a misstatement of the law. Speculation is not the 

same as circumstantial evidence. Potts objected to the misstatement, and the court told the jury to 

read the instructions. The prosecutor then immediately focused on the evidence and the reasonable 

inferences therefrom. The State said, "And don't take my word for it; there is a jury instruction." 

11B RP at 2627. The prosecutor then read the jury the definition of circumstantial evidence. 

Because the prosecutor misstated the law and Potts objected, Potts must show that the 

improper statement resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury's 

verdict. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. at 427. In the context ofthe entire argument, the issues as a 

whole, the evidence in the trial, and the jury instructions, there is not a substantial likelihood that 

the statement impacted the jury's verdict. 

After Potts objected, the court and the prosecutor referred the jury to the instructions, and 

the prosecutor immediately focused his argument on circumstantial evidence. The prosecutor 

pointed out statements Potts made, which were recorded, and emphasized the language Potts used 

such as "me" rather than "them." 11B RP at 2632. The prosecutor made it clear that his argument 

was that Potts was not retiring entirely but was no going to be participating in the day-to-day sales. 

Potts's argument about speculation was specific to the incidents of August 10. Throughout 

the trial there was overwhelming direct and circumstantial evidence to prove Potts's relationship 

to Llanes, J.H., and Velasquez. We conclude that the improper statement did not prejudice Potts's 

trial, and Potts has failed to establish his prosecutorial misconduct claim. 
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VI. JURY INSTRUCTION 

Potts argues that the trial court improperly instructed the jury on leading organized crime, 

and violated his due process rights. We disagree. 

A. Standard of Review 

We review jury instructions for errors of law de novo and consider the challenged 

instructions in the context of all of the jury instructions. State v. Hayward, 152 Wn. App. 632, 

641-42, 217 P .3d 354 (2009). "Jury instructions, taken in their entirety, must inform the jury that 

the State bears the burden of proving every essential element of a criminal offense beyond a 

reasonable doubt." State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 656, 904 P.2d 245 (1995) (emphasis added). 

"Specifically, the 'to convict Oury] instruction must contain all of the elements of the crime 

because it serves as a yardstick by which the jury measures the evidence to determine guilt or 

innocence."' State v. Johnson, 180 Wn.2d 295,306,325 P.3d 135 (2014) (quoting State v. Sibert, 

168 Wn.2d 306, 311, 230 P.3d 142 (2010) (alteration in original) (internal quotation marks 

omitted)). 

"'Jury instructions are sufficient when they allow counsel to argue their theory of the case, 

are not misleading, and when read as a whole properly inform the trier of fact of the applicable 

law."' Keller v. City of Spokane, 146 Wn.2d 237, 249, 44 P.3d 845 (2002) (emphasis added) 

(quoting Bodin v. City of Stanwood, 130 Wn.2d 726, 732, 927 P.2d 240 (1996)). We will not 

reverse, even if an instruction may be misleading, unless the complaining party shows prejudice. 

State v. Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d 350,364,229 P.3d 669 (2010). Ifajury instruction correctly states 

the law, we will not disturb the trial court's decision to give the instruction absent an abuse of 

discretion. Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d at 364. 
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B. Leading Organized Crime 

Potts argues that the "to convict" instruction for leading organized crime erroneously made 

it seem as though he could be convicted ofleading organized crime as an accomplice. He contends 

the instruction did not make the burden on the State apparent, and that he offered instructions that 

would have clarified the standard. He also asserts that the accomplice liability instruction for the 

possession with intent to deliver count further confused the jury. We disagree. 19 

The "to convict" instruction the trial court gave to the jury stated that the State must have 

proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Potts intentionally organized, managed, directed, financed, 

or supervised, J .H., Llanes and Velasquez, with intent to engage in a pattern of criminal 

profiteering, in the state of Washington. State v. Davis, 93 Wn. App. 648, 970 P.2d 336 (1999). 

It also stated that the State must prove Potts was "the leader of a criminal profiteering organization, 

not just a member." CP at 1397 (Instr. 10). The instruction contained all of the elements of the 

crime and informed the jury of the State's burden of proof. 

Potts's proposed instruction contained the same information but included the following 

sentence as an element of the crime: "[T]he defendant was the leader of a criminal profiteering 

organization, not just a member." CP at 1374. The instruction also included, "A person cannot 

be convicted of the crime of Leading Organized Crime as an accomplice." CP at 1374. 

Additionally, Potts proposed an instruction that stated, "Accomplice liability does not apply to the 

crime of Leading Organized Crime." CP at 1367. 

The court's jury instruction accurately articulated the State's burden of proof and made it 

clear that Potts could not simply be a member of a criminal profiteering organization, but had to 

19 Potts argues that the instruction was constitutional error and therefore, presumed prejudicial. 
Because we do not find error, we do not reach this contention. 
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be the leader. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by determining that Potts's proposed 

additional language was not necessary to properly convey the law to the jury. In addition, the 

court's instruction on accomplice liability specified it applied to "the commission of delivery of a 

controlled substance or possession of a controlled substance with the intent to deliver." CP 1405 

(Instr. 18). The State did not argue that accomplice liability applied to the leading organized crime 

charge. It solely argued that accomplice liability applied to the August 10 delivery of 

methamphetamine count. 20 

. The "to convict" instruction was accurate. It accurately presented the elements. It clearly 

stated the State's burden. Furthermore, Potts does not show prejudice and we presume that a jury 

follows the trial court's instructions. State v. McDaniel, 155 Wn. App. 829, 861, 230 P.3d 245 

(20 1 0). We hold that the jury instruction was not misleading and the trial court did not err. 

VII. PRIVACY ACT, CHAPTER 9.73 RCW 

Potts argues that the trial court erred by denying his request to suppress evidence from the 

intercepted recordings. We disagree. 

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Washington's privacy act generally prohibits intercepting and recording any private 

communications. RCW 9.73.030; State v. Jimenez, 128 Wn.2d 720, 723, 911 P.2d 1337 (1996). 

The privacy act includes an exclusionary rule which provides that "[a]ny information obtained in 

20 In his SAG, Potts also argues that the trial court erred when it declined to include the sentence, 
"Accomplice liability does not apply to the Crime of Leading Organized Crime," in the "to 
convict" jury instruction for leading organized crime. SAG at 43. Potts contends that the court in 
State v. Hayes, 177 Wn. App. 801, 312 P.3d 784 (2013), held that accomplice liability cannot be 
the theory of one of the predicate crimes. Potts is mistaken. In Hayes, we did not vacate the 
conviction for leading organized crime based on accomplice liability, we vacated an enhancement. 
177 Wn. App. at 811. Hayes addresses the application of enhancement statutes to accomplice 
liability, not the application of accomplice liability to the predicate offenses for leading organized 
crime. 177 Wn. App. at 811. We again hold that the instruction was proper. 
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violation ofRCW 9.73.030" is inadmissible. RCW 9.73.050; Jimenez, 128 Wn.2d at 723. Where 

law enforcement officers make a genuine effort to comply with the privacy act and intercept a 

private conversation pursuant to an RCW 9.73.230 authorization, the admissibility of any 

information obtained is governed by the specific provisions ofRCW 9.73.230(8). Jimenez, 128 

Wn.2d at 722. 

Absent compliance with that section, the intercepted or recorded communication is 

inadmissible. RCW 9.73.230(8). However, there is a provision in the statute that precludes the 

suppression of other evidence not tainted by the statutory violation. It states, "Nothing in this 

subsection bars the admission of testimony of a party or eyewitness to the intercepted, transmitted, 

or recorded conversation or communication when that testimony is unaided by information 

obtained solely by violation ofRCW 9.73.030." RCW 9.73.230(8). 

Statutory construction is a question of law we review de novo. State v. Forest, 85 Wn. 

App. 62, 65, 930 P .2d 941 (1997). The primary objective of statutory construction is to carry out 

the intent of the legislature by examining the language of the statute and unless a contrary intent 

appears, we give words their plain meaning. Forest, 85 Wn. App. at 65. We have held that the 

Legislature did not intend to limit agency authorizations to one conversation per authorization. 

Forest, 85 Wn. App. at 69. That "limitation would lead to absurd results, in contravention of a 

cardinal principle of statutory construction." Forest, 85 Wn. App. at 69. Ifwe find that evidence 

was improperly admitted, we then ask whether, within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the 

trial would have been materially affected if the error had not occurred. State v. Braham, 67 Wn. 

App. 930, 939, 841 P.2d 785 (1992). 
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B. Recordings 

Potts argues that the trial court erred by denying his motion to suppress "any and all" 

evidence derived from Captain Huhta's intercept authorizations. Br. of Appellant at 54. He 

contends that the police did not meet the requirements ofRCW 9.73.230. However, the statutory 

language does not support Potts's argument. 

RCW 9.73.230(1) provides that the chief law enforcement officer of a law enforcement 

agency may authorize the interception, transmission, or recording of a conversation or 

communication by officers when at least one party to the conversation has consented, probable 

cause exists to believe it involves a violation under chapter 69.50 RCW, and a written report is 

completed. The written report must be prepared and signed by the chief officer and include, the 

circumstances, the names of the authorizing and consenting parties, the names of the officers 

authorized to intercept, the name of the targeted individual, the details of the alleged offense, and 

whether there was an attempt to authorize under RCW 9.73.090(2). RCW 9.73.230(2). Section 8 

provides that evidence is admissible if the requirements of section 1 have been met and the 

intercept or recording is admitted in a prosecution under chapter 69.50 RCW. RCW 9.73.230(8). 

Section 6 states, 

Within fifteen days after the signing of an authorization that results in any 
interception, transmission, or recording of a conversation or communication 
pursuant to this section, the law enforcement agency which made the interception, 
transmission, or recording shall submit a report including the original authorization 
under subsection (2) of this section to a judge of a court having jurisdiction which 
report shall identify (a) the persons, including the consenting party, who 
participated in the conversation, and (b) the date, location, and approximate time of 
the conversation. 

RCW 9.73.230(6). Section 7 of the statute requires the court to make an ex parte review ofthe 

authorization within two judicial days of receipt. RCW 9.73.230(7). 
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Potts argues that the trial court failed to address whether the recordings exceeded the scope 

of the authorization when it denied his motion to suppress. He contends that the authorizations 

did not specifically permit recording J .H.'s calls. In the authorization, Captain Huhta references 

the use of a wire or digital recording devices but also includes, "I believe that additional 

conversation(s) will occur between CI and POTTS ... in regards to the sale of controlled 

substances." CP at 591, 595. It is not unusual that a drug transaction would involve more than 

one contact. See e.g., State v. Smith, 85 Wn. App. 381,390,932 P.2d 717 (1997) ("The provision 

of the statute permitting proper authorizations to be valid statewide is sufficient to provide the 

police the flexibility to deal with the uncertainties that are inherent in drug transactions."). The 

recordings at issue here, including the initial phone call setting up the transaction, are within the 

scope of the authorization. The authorization reflected the reality that J.H. would set up a meeting 

with Potts and exchange money for drugs, and that the interaction might encompass more than one 

conversation. 21 

Potts also argues that because the State could not provide all the documents relating to the 

August 10 controlled buy, all evidence from that transaction should have been suppressed. He 

argues that if the trial court had excluded the additional information obtained there would be 

insufficient evidence to support the leading organized crime count, the delivery of a controlled 

substance on August 10 count, and the possession with intent to deliver a controlled substance on 

21 In his SAG, Potts also asserts that the holding in Forest, 85 Wn. App. 62, should be overturned 
because it misinterprets the legislature's intent. He contends the legislature intended one intercept 
per authorization. We disagree. Potts also asserts in his SAG that even if we uphold Forest, it 
supports his position. He attempts to distinguish Forest, where the authorization specified two 
intercepts, with his case where he claims the authorizations were only for one intercept. He is 
incorrect. Here, the authorization forms completed by Chief Huhta actually do not specify the 
number of intercepts. The language is, "I believe that additional conversation(s) will occur 
between CI and POTTS." CP at 591, 595. 
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August 10 count. The State could produce the authorization for the August 1 0 controlled-buy 

intercept but not the disposition sheet. The requirements of section (1) were met and therefore, 

the evidence was properly admitted through testimony. 

Potts further contends that the authorizations did not adequately provide descriptive 

information. He states that the police did not provide specific information available at the time of 

the authorization. In Smith, one of two authorizations lacked specificity because the police did not 

state the location where the recording would occur when they had that information. 85 Wn. App. 

at 386, 388. The Smith court reasoned that the police officers had an idea of where the drug 

transaction would occur but did not include this known information in the authorization; therefore, 

the authorizations failed to meet the statutory requirement. Smith, 85 Wn. App. at 388. The court 

held that in the second transaction, where the officers did not have more information about the 

location, a lack of specificity did not violate the statute. Smith, 85 Wn. App. at 389. 

This case is more akin to the second authorization in Smith because here, the authorization 

contained sufficient specificity. For the first two buys, J.H. and Potts were supposed to meet at 

the Dairy Queen. However, the officers did not know where the transaction would take place. The 

controlled buy also involved cars, making it difficult to predict exactly were J.H. and Potts would 

go. Therefore, the officers provided the information available to them and satisfied statutory 

requirements. 

Potts also argues that the authorizations did not comply with RCW 9.73.230(6) because 

the disposition reports did not indicate the time and location of each interception, transmission, or 

recording. However, where there is "substantial compliance" with the reporting requirements, 
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suppression is not required. State v. Knight, 79 Wn. App. 670, 685, 904 P.2d 1159 (1995). The 

plain language of the statute only requires the court to find that the requirements of subsection (1) 

are met before admitting this evidence. RCW 9.73.230(8); State v. Moore, 70 Wn. App. 667,674, 

855 P.2d 306 (1993).22 

Potts argues that Moore and Knight were incorrectly decided because they do not comport 

with the legislature's intent and that we should not follow them. In Knight, the court held that 

before a person's privacy is invaded, strict compliance should be required; without it, privacy 

might be invaded improperly and the intent ofRCW 9.73.230 defeated. 79 Wn. App. at 685. The 

court also reasoned that after one's privacy has been invaded, strict compliance is less important. 

Knight, 79 Wn. App. at 685. The privacy already invaded cannot be restored, and the rights ofthe 

parties can be sorted out in the ordinary course of litigation. Knight, 79 Wn. App. at 685. Based 

on these observations, the court held that noncompliance with a post-invasion statutory 

requirement should warrant reversal only if the State fails to show substantial compliance, or the 

defendant shows prejudice due to the absence of strict compliance. 23 Knight, 79 Wn. App. at 685; 

accord Moore, 70 Wn. App. at 675 (taped recordings in compliance with RCW 9.73.230(1) are 

22 Potts also asserts that the recordings made under RCW 9.73.230 should not have been admitted 
to prove count one because leading organized crime is not one of the delineated offenses for which 
RCW 9.73.230 provides. Potts did not make this argument below. The issue is not of 
constitutional magnitude and therefore cannot be heard for the first time on appeal. We need not 
consider the argument. RAP 2.5(a). We do note that we have found no authority that a recording 
should be suppressed because, in addition to the crime for which it was authorized, the recording 
was also used to support a different crime. 

23 This interpretation is in accord with general search and seizure law. "Absent constitutional 
considerations, the rules for execution and return of a warrant are essentially ministerial in nature." 
State v. Kern, 81 Wn. App. 308, 311, 914 P.2d 114 (1996); see e.g., State v. Parker, 28 Wn. App. 
425, 427, 626 P.2d 508 (1981) ("Absent a showing of prejudice to the defendant, procedural 
noncompliance does not compel invalidation of the warrant or suppression of its fruits."). 
Procedural noncompliance with these rules does not require suppression of evidence or invalidate 
a warrant absent a showing of prejudice to the defendant. Kern, 81 Wn. App. at 311. 

44 



f' • 
45724-5-II I 46300-8-II 

admissible, without proof of compliance with sections (6) and (7)). We follow the precedent set 

in Moore and Knight, and conclude the intercepts did not violate RCW 9.73.230. 

C. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel 

Potts contends that if we cannot review his chapter 9. 73 RCW assertions because they were 

not argued below, he was deprived of effective assistance of counsel. We disagree.24 

To demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must make two showings: 

(1) that defense counsel's representation was deficient, i.e., it fell below an objective standard of 

reasonableness based on consideration of all the circumstances; and (2) that defense counsel's 

deficient representation prejudiced the defendant, i.e., there is a reasonable probability that, except 

for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. State 

v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). 

Potts cannot show that his counsel's representation was deficient, much less show that the 

outcome of his trial would have been different. Potts's counsel made several arguments to suppress 

evidence for chapter 9. 73 RCW violations. Potts must overcome "a strong presumption" that his 

counsel was effective. State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862,215 P.3d 177 (2009). His counsel's 

performance is reviewed in context of the entire record, not whether or not he made every 

conceivable argument under a specific statute. Potts's ineffective assistance of counsel claim fails. 

VIII. VALIDITY OF THE SEARCH WARRANT 

Potts argues that the trial court erroneously denied his motions to suppress evidence seized 

under a search warrant. He contends that the search warrant did not authorize a search of two of 

24 Potts also argues that if any of his arguments under chapter 9. 73 RCW are not preserved, we 
should still consider them because the legislature intended it to be so, and we have discretion to 
review any issue argued for the first time on appeal, including issues that do not implicate a 
constitutional right. We disagree with Potts's legal argument and decline to exercise our discretion 
to review the issues he raises for the first time on appeal. 
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the three locations because they lacked probable cause. He also argues that the search warrant was 

unconstitutionally overbroad because it authorized the seizure of items protected by the First 

Amendment to the United States Constitution. We agree in part and disagree in part. 

A. Standard of Review 

Generally, we review the issuance of a search warrant for abuse of discretion. State v. 

Neth, 165 Wn.2d 177, 182, 196 P .3d 658 (2008). However, we review the denial of a suppression 

motion, to determine whether substantial evidence supports the challenged findings of fact and 

whether the findings support the conclusions oflaw. State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641,644,870 P.2d 

313 (1994). Evidence is substantial when it is enough "to persuade a fair-minded person of the 

truth of the stated premise." State v. Reid, 98 Wn. App. 152, 156, 988 P.2d 1038 (1999). We 

review conclusions of law from an order pertaining to the suppression of evidence de novo. State 

v. Garvin, 166 Wn.2d 242, 249, 207 P.3d 1266 (2009). In reviewing a probable cause 

determination, we review the same evidence presented below. State v. Chamberlin, 161 Wn.2d 

30, 40-41, 162 P.3d 389 (2007). 

Affidavits for search warrants must establish probable cause. State v. Grenning, 142 Wn. 

App. 518, 534, 174 P.3d 706 (2008) aff'd, 169 Wn.2d 47,234 P.3d 169 (2010). Affidavits are to 

be interpreted "'in a commonsense manner, rather than hypertechnically, and any doubts are 

resolved in favor of the warrant."' State v. Lyons, 174 Wn.2d 354, 360, 275 P.3d 314 (2012) 

(quoting State v. Jackson, 150 Wn.2d 251, 265, 76 P.3d 217 (2003)). Even so, we must enforce 

that the magistrate judge serves as more than a '"rubber stamp for the police."' Lyons, 174 Wn.2d 

at 360 (quoting Aguilar v. Texas, 378 U.S. 108, 111, 84 S. Ct. 1509, 12 L. Ed. 2d 723 (1964)). 

We review whether a warrant meets the particularity requirement of the Fourth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution de novo. State v. Reep, 161 Wn.2d 808, 813, 167 
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P.3d 1156 (2007). "The Fourth Amendment mandates that warrants describe with particularity 

the things to be seized." State v. Riley, 121 Wn.2d 22, 28, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993). 

With most search warrants, a description is valid if it is as specific as the circumstances 

and the nature of the activity under investigation permit it to be. State v. Perrone, 119 Wn.2d 538, 

547, 834 P.2d 611 (1992). However, where a search warrant authorizes a search for materials 

protected by the First Amendment, the degree of particularity demanded is greater than in the case 

where the materials sought are not protected by the First Amendment. Perrone, 119 Wn.2d at 547. 

B. Motion to Suppress 

Potts argues that the issuing magistrate only found probable cause to search one out of the 

three properties in the affidavit, and signed only one document, but the police copied the warrant 

and used it to search all three locations.25 This is the same argument Potts made to the trial court 

that was denied. At trial, the State did not introduce any evidence obtained from the search of the 

two locations not named in the search warrants. Additionally, we affirm Potts's convictions on all 

other grounds and do not remand to the trial court. Therefore, Potts cannot establish any prejudice, 

making any error we might find harmless. See State v. Barry, 183 Wn.2d 297, 317, 352 P.3d 161 

(2015) (quoting State v. White, 72 Wn.2d 530, 530-31, 433 P.2d 682 (1967) ("[E]rror without 

prejudice is not reversible, 'specifically' error which does not substantially affect the merits of the 

controversy likewise is not grounds for reversal."). We will therefore limit our review of these 

Issues. 

We conclude that the warrant only authorized a search of Potts Family Motors, not ofthe 

other two locations. We also conclude that the trial court properly denied Potts's motion to 

25 Potts also argues that the warrant did not authorize the police to search for or seize tools but that 
his tools were seized. The State concedes this issue. 
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suppress evidence from Potts Family Motors because there was probable cause. Therefore, 

reviewing the affidavit in a commonsense manner and resolving doubts in favor of the warrant, we 

hold that the trial court erred in part by denying the motion to suppress and the motion to reconsider 

for the two other properties. However, any error was harmless because no evigence from the 

locations was admitted at trial.26 

C. Overbreadth 

The warrant authorized the seizure of specific categories of items related to the possession 

or distribution of controlled substances. The categories were: controlled substances; paraphernalia 

for distribution; personal books or papers; books or records; cash and currency; and identifying 

personal property. These items were specifically tailored to recover evidence related to Potts's 

possession and distribution of methamphetamine. They were not unbridled. 

A heightened standard of particularity exists when the items seized are books, and the basis 

for their seizure involves the ideas the books contain. Perrone, 119 Wn.2d at 547. But here, that 

is not the case. In Potts's case, the personal books, as well as books and records categories 

specified in the warrant all related to possessing, processing, or distributing controlled substances, 

and leading organized crime. Ledgers of illegal activity are not protected by the First Amendment, 

and the list of items to be seized was limited in scope. Hence, the warrant was not overbroad. 

IX. EXCEPTIONAL SENTENCE 

Potts argues that the trial court erred when it imposed an exceptional sentence on his 

leading organized crime conviction. Specifically, he contends that the aggravating factor under 

RCW 9.94A.535 may not be applied to a sentence for leading organized crime. The trial court 

26 Because of our resolution of this issue, we do not address the several other arguments Potts 
makes about probable cause. 

48 



• 
45724-5-II I 46300-8-II 

found that the aggravating factor could be applied to leading organized crime. We agree with the 

trial court. 

Potts argues that because leading organized crime is not a violation of the UCSA, the 

aggravating factors the jury relied on do not apply. Potts does not contest the court's reasoning or 

the excessiveness of the sentence, only that the exceptional sentence was not authorized by the 

statute. We review questions of statutory interpretation de novo, interpreting statutes to give effect 

to the legislature's intent. In re Pers. Restraint of Crow, 187 Wn. App. 414, 422, 349 P.3d 902 

(2015). 

RCW 9.94A.535(3)(e) states, 

The current offense was a major violation of the Uniform Controlled Substances 
Act, chapter 69.50 RCW (VUCSA), related to trafficking in controlled substances, 
which was more onerous than the typical offense of its statutory definition: The 
presence of ANY of the following may identify a current offense as a major 
VUCSA: 

(i) The current offense involved at least three separate transactions in which 
controlled substances were sold, transferred, or possessed with intent to do so; 

(ii) The current offense involved an attempted or actual sale or transfer of 
controlled substances in quantities substantially larger than for personal use; 

(iii) The current offense involved the manufacture of controlled substances 
for use by other parties; 

(iv) The circumstances of the current offense reveal the offender to have 
occupied a high position in the drug distribution hierarchy; 

( v) The current offense involved a high degree of sophistication or planning, 
occurred over a lengthy period of time, or involved a broad geographic area of 
disbursement; or 

(vi) The offender used his or her position or status to facilitate the 
commission of the current offense, including positions of trust, confidence or 
fiduciary responsibility (e.g., pharmacist, physician, or other medical professional). 

The plain language of the statute clearly applies to leading organized crime where the 

predicate offenses are violations of the UCSA. "The Legislature allows for exceptional sentences 

when major violations of the [UCSA] that are more onerous than typical violations are present, as 
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defined by a list of non-exclusive factors." State v. Hrycenko, 85 Wn. App. 543, 547, 933 P.2d 

435 (1997). The predicate offenses for Potts's leading organized crime conviction were delivery 

and possession with intent to deliver methamphetamine, and the facts included at least three 

separate transactions, a very large amount of methamphetamine, and Potts's orchestration of the 

transactions. 

The statute does not require that the current offense was codified under chapter 69.50 

RCW, only that the current offense was a major violation of chapter 69.50 RCW. Potts's leading 

organized crime conviction fits within this category. The trial court did not err when it imposed 

the exceptional sentence. We uphold the exceptional sentence. 

X. STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL GROUNDS 

In addition to the issues already addressed above, Potts filed a SAG in which he asserts the 

following new contentions: that the trial court erred by denying his May 7, 2013 motion for return 

of property; that the trial court erred by not ordering the return of his Red Canoe account; that the 

officers of the court in bad faith, deliberately and collectively, denied him his due process, effective 

assistance of counsel, and fair trial rights; that Judge Warning and the prosecutor had improper ex 

parte communication that violated his right to due process, effective assistance of counsel, and a 

fair trial; that the prosecutor committed misconduct in closing argument; that the trial court did not 

properly respond to a question from the jury; that there was insufficient evidence to prove the 

leading organized crime charge; and, that the prosecution did not properly establish a bus stop for 

the aggravator to apply. 
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A. Motion for Return of Property 

Potts argues that the trial court erroneously denied his motion to return property on May 7, 

2013.27 In the motion, Potts argued that the issuing judge for the search warrants did not find 

probable cause for his home address and that the execution of the search warrants was improper. 

He argues now that the trial court cannot review a finding of probable cause that was never made. 

The trial court did not enter a written order following its oral ruling. However, 

approximately a year later, the trial court entered findings of fact and conclusions oflaw addressing 

the return of Potts's property. The order stated that the property was being held pending the 

outcome of this appeal. The court denied the return of evidence that would still be relevant if Potts 

was retried, and denied the return of other evidence that was not Potts's personal property. Both 

because Potts will not be retried and because we conclude above that the search warrant for Potts's 

home was invalid, we conclude the property seized from Potts's home should be returned to its 

rightful owner(s). 

B. The Red Canoe Account 

Potts argues that the trial court found that his Red Canoe account was illegally seized and 

then erroneously did not order its return. We disagree. 

On May 14,2013, the trial court heard argument on Potts's March 5, 2013 motion to return 

the Red Canoe account. The trial court ruled that, for reasons other than what Potts argued, it was 

granting the motion to suppress and granting return of the account. However, the trial court stated 

it understood there was a parallel forfeiture proceeding and specified that its ruling did not free the 

accounts from this proceeding. The trial court did order return of the account, pending the 

27 May 14 appears to be the day Potts intended to address in this SAG issue because it was on this 
day that he raised his displeasure with his prior counsel and contested the probable cause finding 
on all locations. 
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forfeiture proceeding. Approximately a year later, the trial court entered a written order ordering 

the return of Potts's "personal and business bank accounts which were frozen as a result of the 

charges herein." CP at 1569. The order also stated, "This order does not apply to any specific 

funds which were previously ordered to be forfeited in separate proceedings." CP at 1569. 

The forfeiture proceeding is a separate proceeding from the criminal proceeding. RCW 

69.50.505.28 Additionally, the record does not contain information about the forfeiture proceeding, 

and Potts does not provide information to show the account was not held under RCW 69.50.505. 

Based on the record available to us, the trial court did not err by authorizing the return of Potts's 

property pending the forfeiture proceeding. 

C. No Improper Conduct of the Court, State, and Defense Counsel 

Potts argues that he witnessed "improper interplay between the [S]tate, the court and 

defense counsel." SAG at 22. He asserts that the collective conduct was a violation of the Code 

of Professional Conduct, CrR 4.5(d), and the Code of Judicial Conduct. Potts asks that we enter a 

finding that the officers of the Cowlitz County Superior Court acted in bad faith to deprive him of 

a fair trial. 

First, several instances that Potts cites relate to his displeasure with his assigned counsel at 

the time, who was not his attorney at trial. Consistently throughout the trial, Potts wanted to file 

his own motions and make his own objects. However, "there is no Sixth Amendment right to 

'hybrid representation' through which defendants may serve as cocounsel with their attorneys." 

State v. DeWeese, 117 Wn.2d 369, 379, 816 P.2d 1 (1991) (quoting State v. Bebb, 108 Wn.2d 515, 

524, 7 40 P .2d 829 ( 1987) ). Therefore, to the extent that Potts argues he was deprived of a fair trial 

28 Potts is not wrong to cite Deeter v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 376, 378, 721 P.2d 519 (1986), for the 
principle that the Fourth Amendment Exclusionary Rule applies to forfeiture proceedings; 
however, he misunderstands that although the proceedings are parallel, they are separate. 
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because the court cut him off or deferred to his attorney, we disagree with Potts. Additionally, to 

the extent that Potts believes the conduct was an ethics violation, he must bring this complaint 

before the Washington State Bar Association, not this court. 

Second, to the extent that Potts is making an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, we 

disagree with Potts. To prevail, Potts must show that (1) defense counsel's representation was 

deficient, i.e., it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all 

the circumstances; and (2) that defense counsel's deficient representation prejudiced the him, i.e., 

there is a reasonable probability that, except for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the 

proceeding would have been different. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 334-35. Potts does not satisfy 

either in his argument. 

Competency of counsel is determined based on the entire record below and courts engage 

in a strong presumption that counsel's representation was effective. State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 

198, 892 P .2d 29 (1995). Trial strategy and tactics do not establish deficient performance. Kyllo, 

166 Wn.2d at 863. Potts provides quotes that indicate less than polite communication but he does 

not show the impact on his case. The attorney representing him at the time was not his counsel 

for trial. And, Potts does not provide any examples of how the decisions made by his trial counsel 

negatively impacted his trial. Furthermore, Potts has not shown that his attorney's conduct was 

not trial strategy or tactics. We conclude that Potts did not meet his burden to show ineffective 

assistance of counsel. 

Finally, to the extent that Potts argues that his due process rights have been violated outside 

of the above analysis, we do not consider the issue because his argument is too vague to conduct 

a reasonable review. RAP lO.lO(c). 
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D. Improper Ex Parte Communication 

Potts asserts that a trial court judge and a prosecutor on his case engaged in ex parte 

. communication, violating his right to a fair trial. We disagree 

Potts asserts that the fact that he cannot find evidence of Judge Warning and the 

prosecutor's communication on the record, shows that it was ex parte communication. We have 

previously enforced that '" [i]f a defendant wishes to raise issues on appeal that require evidence 

or facts not in the existing trial record, the appropriate means of doing so is through a personal 

restraint petition, which may be filed concurrently with the direct appeal.'" State v. Burke, 132 

Wn. App. 415, 419, 132 P.3d 1095 (2006) (quoting McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 335). Therefore, 

we decline to consider this issue. 

E. Prosecutorial Misconduct in Closing Argument 

Potts also asserts in his SAG that the prosecutor misstated facts during closing argument. 

Potts asserts that the prosecutor made a misstatement when he said, "Mr. Potts or one of his 

associates took the other two pounds into the auto shop." SAG at 36. 

At the sentencing hearing, Potts made a motion to arrest judgment for the same reason. In 

that motion, he argued that the prosecutor misstated facts during his closing argument. Potts 

asserted that there was no testimony that Potts provided Llanes with the additional two pounds of 

methamphetamine from his dealership. Potts argued that the prosecutor misstated this fact in 

closing and thus, committed prosecutorial misconduct. Potts did not object to the statement during 

the State's closing argument. 

The statements do not appear to be a misstatement of the facts. Llanes testified that when 

she got to Washington she got a hotel room and called Potts. Potts picked her up and took her to 

his car dealership to take the drugs out of the car. She stated that "They put it in a garage, the car. 
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And they took out two pounds." 1 OB RP at 2211. Llanes testified that Potts gave her two pounds 

of methamphetamine, instructed her to cut it into ounces, and to go to the hotel and have the drugs 

ready. The prosecutor did not misrepresent this testimony. 

Potts also asserts that the prosecutor improperly said that Llanes went back to Potts for 

more drugs. However, Potts only provides a partial quote. The full quote is: "And Mr. Potts was 

the one who set her on her way. Mr. Potts was the one who managed the drugs, right? So she 

came in and she brought that four pounds, and Mr. Potts told her, 'You package it like this, package 

it like this.' She told you she had to go back and get the other two pounds after she-she got rid 

of that first two pounds, so she's continuing to go back to Potts for drugs." llB RP at 2596. 

During direct examination, the prosecutor asked Llanes what happened to the other two 

pounds, and she said "One of Sidney's friends took it out." lOB RP at 2217. The prosecutor asked 

ifthat was the last she saw of it and she said, "No, I also made-I also made them into little balls." 

1 OB RP at 2217. Here also, the prosecutor does not appear to have misstated Llanes's testimony. 

Thus, the prosecutor's statements were not improper. 

F. Jury Question 

Potts asserts that the trial court committed reversible err as to the leading organized crime 

count when it responded to a jury question. He reasserts his position that the jury should have 

been instructed that Potts must have "personally" directed the three individuals. SAG at 41. We 

disagree. 

During deliberation, the jury sent out a question: "For Count 1, Element 1 C, does the word 

'direct' require one-on-one interaction or can it be through an intermediary?" llB RP at 2651. 

The prosecutor wanted to direct the jury back to the instructions, whereas the defense wanted to 

tell the jury that direction cannot be done through an intermediary. After hearing both parties' 
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positions, the trial court sent a response saying, "Please review the entirety of jury instructions and 

continue deliberating." liB RP at 2655. The court noted Potts's objection. 

CrR 6.15(f)(l) states that when the jury asks a question, "[t]he court shall notify the parties 

of the contents of the questions and provide them an opportunity to comment upon an appropriate 

response." The court gives additional instruction on any point oflaw in response to jury questions 

during deliberations in writing. CrR 6.15(f)(l ). The trial court abuses its discretion to give 

additional instructions to the jury only when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or exercised 

on untenable grounds or foruntenable reasons. State v. Wilson, 144 Wn. App. 166, 183, 181 P.3d 

887 (2008). It is within the trial court's discretion whether to give supplemental instructions to 

the jury as long as those instructions "do not go beyond matters that had been, or could have been, 

argued to the jury." State v. Calvin, 176 Wn. App. 1, 23, 302 P.3d 509 (2013). 

Potts contends that the response misled the jury because the jury instruction on leading 

organized crime was improper. The adequacy of the jury instruction on leading organized crime 

is addressed above. We conclude the instruction was proper, therefore the response to the jury 

instruction was also proper. The trial court did not alter the instructions, it simply referred the jury 

to the instructions. The trial court did not abuse its discretion. 

G. Insufficient Evidence-Leading Organized Crime 

Potts asserts that he cannot be convicted of leading organized crime when one of the 

individuals he lead, organized, directed, managed, fmanced, or supervised was a state agent, 

namely J.H .. He contends that J.H. could not work for him while he was under contract with the 

state. We disagree. 

To support his position, Potts quotes a statement by the prosecutor in which the prosecutor 

said J .H. was acting as a state agent and therefore could not be an accomplice. This statement does 
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not relieve Potts of his own culpability. See RCW 9A.28.040(2)(f) (it is not a defense to criminal 

conspiracy that the person with whom the accused conspires is a law enforcement agent or other 

government agent). 

Furthermore, the elements of leading organized crime do not place any demands on the 

individuals who are led, organized, directed, managed, financed, or supervised. RCW 9A.82.060. 

The leader must have the intent to rally these individuals together in order to engage in a pattern 

of criminal profiteering. RCW 9A.82.060. J.H.'s title as a state agent is contested in the record; 

however, his status ultimately does not impact Potts's conviction. Therefore, we affirm the trial 

court. 

H. Bus Stop Enhancement 

Finally, Potts argues that the school bus route stop enhancement should not apply because 

the stop was not properly designated a school bus route stop. We disagree. 

The State successfully sought an enhancement on count II, delivering a controlled 

substance within one thousand feet of a school bus route stop. RCW 69.50.435(1)(c).29 During 

discussions over jury instructions and the counts, defense counsel argued that the bus stop, 3165 

Michigan Street, was not properly designated as a school bus stop. Potts argued that the statutory 

language requires the stop be specifically designated by the Office of the Superintendent. 

Rick Lecker, an employee at the Longview School District who is responsible for 

designating bus stops, testified at the trial. He provided that the location became a stop in 2008, 

and that it is not listed on the public website as a stop but anyone who called would be told. He 

also testified that only one child rides from the stop and the child is a special needs student. Ruth 

29 The enhancements for counts III, V, and VI were dismissed either voluntarily by the State or by 
motion through the trial court. 
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Bunch Manwell, from the Longview School District Geographic Information Systems, testified 

about mapping software. The State admitted a map of the area where J.H. met Potts by the Dairy 

Queen, and Manwell indicated on the map where there was a red circle that showed the one 

thousand foot area around the bus stop. 

Based on a plain reading of the statute, Potts's argument is unsupported. It appears that he 

misapplied a modifier to all of the items in the list that grammatically was intended for only one 

item in a list. The list is recurring throughout the statute and it is therefore clear that "local 

governing authority," was not intended to apply to the designation of a bus stop. RCW 69.50.435. 

We conclude that Potts's argument is unsupported by the statute. 

Potts cites two cases that held the school bus stop enhancement was proper. See State v. 

Nunez-Martinez, 90 Wn. App. 250, 951 P.2d 823 (1998); State v. Davis, 93 Wn. App. 648, 970 

P.2d 336 (1999). However, these cases do not prove his point, they simply provide examples 

where a school provided the location of its stops to the local government authority and the court 

found the enhancement was applied properly. Nunez-Martinez, 90 Wn. App.at 256; Davis, 93 Wn. 

App. at 653. Neither court commented on the need to have the Office of the Superintendent of 

Public Institutions specifically designate school bus stops. In fact, in Davis, we held that "[t]he 

location of school bus stops can be learned by 'observing the gathering of schoolchildren waiting 

for their school buses, or contacting local schools or the director of transportation for the school 

district."' 93 Wn. App. at 653 (quoting State v. Coria, 120 Wn.2d 156, 167,839 P.2d 890 (1992)). 

We affirm the sentencing enhancement. 
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We affirm Potts's convictions and sentence. 

A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 2.06.040, 

it is so ordered. 

We concur: 

A.t-.J. 
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